New components of copper homeostasis in Lactococcus lactis and Escherichia coli

Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences University of Bern PhD Thesis

Submitted by

Mélanie Jeanne MERMOD

from Sainte-Croix, VD

Thesis advisor

Prof. Dr. Marc Solioz Institute of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research Medical Faculty of the University of Bern



Copyright Notice

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-No derivative works 2.5 Switzerland. <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/ch/</u>

You are free: to copy, distribute, display, and perform the work

Under the following conditions:



Non-Commercial. You may not use this work for commercial purposes.

No derivative works. You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work..

For any reuse or distribution, you must take clear to others the license terms of this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you get permission from the copyright holder.

Nothing in this license impairs or restricts the author's moral rights according to Swiss law.

The detailed license agreement can be found at: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/ch/legalcode.de Accepted by the Faculty of Medicine, the Faculty of Science and the Vetsuisse Faculty of the University of Bern at the request of the Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences

Bern,Dean of the Faculty of MedicineBern,Dean of the Faculty of ScienceBern,Dean of the Vetsuisse Faculty Bern

Life is not about waiting for the storms to pass... it's about learning how to dance in the rain! (Anonymous)

Table of Contents

Overview of Figures and Tables	. ii
Abbreviations	.iii
Abstract	. v
Chapter I: Introduction	1
The transition metal copper	1
Copper as bioelement	2
Mechanisms of copper toxicity	3
Copper homeostasis in humans	4
Defects in copper homeostasis result in severe diseases	5
Copper homeostasis in prokaryotes	7
Lactococcus lactis	7
Escherichia coli	10
Chapter II: Publications and Manuscripts	13
1) Structure and function of CinD (YtjD) of Lactococcus lactis, a copper-induced	
nitroreductase involved in defense against oxidative stress	13
2) The copper-inducible YcfQ repressor regulates expression of the outer membrane	
protein YcfR and affects copper entry into Escherichia coli	23
3) Response of Gram-positive bacteria to copper stress	43
4) The lactic acid bacteria response to metal stress	56
Chapter III: Discussion and Outlook	88
References	91
Curriculum Vitae with Publication List10	01
Acknowledgements10	03

Overview of Figures and Tables

Fig. 1. Natural copper nugget	1
Fig. 2. Overview of body copper homeostasis	6
Fig. 3. Copper homeostasis in <i>L. lactis</i>	8
Fig. 4. Copper-induced genes in <i>L. lactis</i>	9
Fig. 5. The cue system of E. coli	11
Fig. 6. The cus system of E. coli	12
Table 1. Known bacterial copper-containing proteins	2

Abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
A domain	actuator domain
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
ATP	adenosine-5'-triphosphate
BC	before Christ
BLAST	basic local alignment search tool
bp	base pair
CA	California
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CCD	charge-coupled device
cDNA	complementary DNA
CFU	colony forming unit
CPx	intramembranous CPC or CPH motif in heavy metal ATPases
CRP	cAMP response protein
C-terminus	carboxy terminus
DCPIP	2,6-dichlorophenolindophenol
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	2,2',2",2"'-(ethane-1,2-diyldinitrilo)tetraacetic acid
EMSA	electrophoretic mobility-shift assay
EXAFS	extended X-ray absorption fine structure
FAD	flavin adenine dinucleotide
FMN	flavin mononucleotide
GSNO	S-nitrosoglutathione
GW9662	2-chloro-5-nitro-N-phenylbenzamide
HEPES	2-[4-(2-hydroxyethyl)piperazin-1-yl]ethanesulfonic acid
his	histidine
INRA	Institut national de la recherche agronomique
k _{cat}	unimolecular rate constant, turnover number
k _d	DNA dissociation rate constant
kDa	kilodalton
K _m	Michaelis constant
kΤ	kiloton
LAB	lactic acid bacteria
LA Taq	Long and Accurate Taq

LB	Luria-Bertani	
Mb	mega base pairs	
MBD	heavy metal binding domain	
Ме	metal	
MI	Michigan	
МОСО	molybdenum cofactor	
mRNA	messenger RNA	
NAD(P)H	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (phosphate)	
N domain	nucleotide binding domain	
NONOate	diethylamine NONOate sodium salt	
NaP _i	sodium phosphate	
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance	
NQO	4-nitroquinoline-N-oxide	
Nramp	natural resistance-associated macrophage protein	
NTA	2,2',2"-nitrilotriacetic acid	
N-terminus	amino terminus	
OD	optical density	
PCR	polymerase chain reaction	
PDB	protein database	
P domain	phosphorylation domain	
Pit	inorganic phosphate transport	
qPCR	real-time quantitative PCR	
re	rectus	
RMS	root mean square	
RNA	ribonucleic acid	
RND	resistance/nodulation/cell division	
ROS	reactive oxygen species	
rTEV	recombinant tobacco etch virus	
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate	
si	sinister	
SOD	superoxide dismutase	
ТАТ	twin-arginine translocation	
Tris	2-amino-2-hydroxymethyl-propane-1,3-diol	
tRNA	transfer RNA	
UV	ultraviolet	
V5	part of the sequence of Simian virus 5	
XDS	X-ray detector software	

Abstract

Copper (Cu) is an essential micronutrient for all living organisms. The two oxidation states, Cu⁺ and Cu²⁺, allow its participation as cofactor in many biological processes. However, its high reactivity can also cause damage to the cell and implies a tight regulation of copper import, intracellular chaperoning, detoxication, and removal by special pumps. Two bacterial models, Lactococcus lactis and Escherichia coli, were used in the course of this study to characterize new components of copper homeostasis. In L. lactis, copper stress activates a set of 14 genes, which are under the control of the copper-responsive regulator CopR. The genes encoding copper pumps, the copper chaperone or the copper responsive regulator itself have already been described in detail. The physiological role and relevance of most of the remaining genes are, however, still unknown. One of these genes, *cinD*, was further characterized. CinD is a flavoprotein and exhibits nitroreductase activity towards the oxidative agent 4-nitroguinoline-N-oxide. CinD also showed significant catalase activity and may thus support the copper detoxication machinery by attenuating toxic effects caused by oxidative stress inducers like hydrogen peroxide, nitroaromatic compounds or copper. Copper is not only toxic to the cell, but also an essential component of many copper-containing proteins. Nevertheless, the way copper enters the cell is still unknown. In a second project, a lux-based biosensor was used to monitor intracellular copper levels in situ and to identify components involved in copper entry in E. coli. YcfQ, a TetR-like transcriptional regulator, and its target, ycfR, were found to be involved in this process. Increased levels of YcfR in the outer membrane appear to make the membrane less permeable to copper. Mechanisms of copper homeostasis are highly conserved from bacteria to humans and allow the extrapolation of knowledge from one cellular system to another. Findings in prokaryotic systems may pave the way towards better understanding of the role of copper deficiency or copper toxicity in physiological and pathological conditions in humans.

Chapter I: Introduction

The transition metal copper

Copper (Cu) is the 29th element of the periodic table and forms the first secondary group together with silver and gold. The most important oxidation states of copper are +1 and +2 (2). In aqueous solutions, copper persists in its most stable form as Cu^{2+} , whereas the prevailing form in the reducing cytosolic environment of a cell is Cu^+ (3). Pure copper is ductile and malleable and shows a reddish-orangish luster (Fig. 1) owing to a layer of Cu_2O on its surface. A freshly exposed surface of copper has a pinkish or peachy color.

Due to its lustrous appearance and good malleability copper has been used for jewelry and tool-making soon after its first discovery around 9000 BC (4) and is still used for household products, handcraft and coinage today. Copper is the metal with the highest electrical and thermal conductivity after silver and finds a large application in any aspect of engineering and high technologies (wiring, electronics, computer technologies, automotive industry) (5). Different alloys of copper exist, the most familiar being brass (with zinc) and bronze (with tin),



Fig. 1: Natural copper nugget. Native copper shows a reddish-orangish luster. Taken from (1).

whose discovery established the Bronze age around 3000 BC (4). Copper ions show antimicrobial properties. For this reason, copper salts find different applications in agriculture (fungicides in vineyards), water ecology (algae control in lakes) and medicine (5). Copper therapy is first mentioned 1550 BC in the Middle Empire in Egypt. Today, the antiinflammatory effects (arthritis) of copper salts is not questioned (6), even tough not clearly explained. Copper surfaces in hospital equipments receive growing attention due to the same characteristics: Bacteria are rapidly killed on copper surfaces, but remain viable for days on surfaces made from stainless steal (7).

Copper is mostly found in the form of compounds and very rarely as native copper. Sulphide ores like chalcopyrite (CuFeS₂) chalcosine (Cu₂S), bornite (Cu₅FeS₄), cuprite (Cu₂O), malachite (CuCO₃), azurite (Cu(OH)₂) and others are among the most significant ones. The most important manufacturer of copper is Chile, followed by Peru and the USA (2). Copper is 100 % recyclable without any loss of quality whether in a raw state or contained in a manu-

factured product. It is the third most recycled metal after iron and aluminum, and it is estimated that 80 % of the copper ever mined is still in use today (5).

Copper as bioelement

Biological systems started to use copper only after the advent of oxygen in the atmosphere less than $3x10^9$ years ago. The action of oxygen-producing cyanobacteria transformed the highly insoluble copper sulfides (Cu⁺) to soluble and thus bioavailable Cu²⁺. Many organisms adapted to the new conditions by acquiring an oxidative metabolism and by utilizing this newly available metal, whose redox properties were just ideally suited to exploit the oxidizing power of dioxygen. Concomitant with the arrival of oxygen, multicellular organisms developed which had extracellular cross-linked matrices capable of resisting attacks by free oxygen radicals (6).

The ability of copper to exist in different oxidation states, makes it a central player in cellular biology. Copper acts as a cofactor in over 30 enzymes of higher organisms (3) playing an important role in processes such as mitochondrial respiration (cytochrome *c* oxidase), protection against free radicals (superoxide dismutase) or crosslinking of collagen and elastin (lysyl oxidase) (8, 9). Besides its function as cofactor, copper proteins are also involved in dioxygen transport in some invertebrates (hemocyanin) or can act as electron carriers, such as plastocyanins or azurines (10, 11). In bacteria, eleven cuproenzymes have so far been characterized (Table 1). Copper is transported to the enzymes that require it by passing from one copper protein site to another, exploiting gradients of increasing copper-binding affinity (13).

Enzyme	Function	References
Cytochrome <i>c</i> oxidase	Terminal oxidase	(14)
NADH dehydrogenase 2	Electron transport, Cu reduction	(15, 16)
Nitrosocyanin, cuproredoxin-like	Electron transfer, other?	(17)
Plastocyanins	Electron transfer	(14)
Cu-containing nitrite reductases	Nitrite reduction	(18)
Cu-containing nitrous oxide reductases	Nitrous oxide reduction	(19)
Tyrosinase	Phenol oxidation, melanin synthesis	(20, 21)
Cu amine oxidases	Oxidation of primary amines	(22)
Particulate methane monooxygenase	Methane oxidation	(23)
Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase (cuprein)	Defense during infection?	(24)
Cu-containing laccase	Polyphenol oxidase	(25)

Table 1. Known bacterial copper-containing enzymes. Adapted from (12).

Almost all of the characterized eukaryotic copper proteins are extracellular; exceptions are cytochrome *c* oxidase, which is located in the inner membrane of mitochondria and the copper-zinc superoxide dismutase found in the cytosol (6). It is not clear, if bacteria as well have a requirement of cytosolic copper. All currently documented bacterial copper proteins are either located in the periplasm or embedded in the plasma membrane facing the periplasmic space. Copper loading of these proteins could occur via the periplasmic space (3). The only described system that suggests a need for cytoplasmic copper is the biosynthesis of the molybdenum cofactor, MOCO (26). MOCO forms the active site of molybdenum enzymes found in animals, plants and microorganisms. It consists of molybdenum bound to two sulfur atoms of a unique pterin referred to as molybdopterin. It seems that copper is bound to the sulfur atoms to hold the place for the subsequent insertion of molybdenum. This finding suggests a link between molybdenum and copper metabolism and would require cytoplasmic copper (27).

The homeostasis of copper is closely linked to the homeostasis of other trace metals, especially iron. The human protein ceruloplasmin, the main copper carrying protein in the blood, shows ferroxidase activity and participates in iron homeostasis. It oxidizes Fe²⁺ to Fe³⁺ and promotes thereby the rate of Fe³⁺ incorporation into the iron storage protein transferrin (28). A low copper level and as a result lower amount of functional ceruloplasmin in the blood were shown to provoke iron metabolism disorders leading to anemia and liver iron accumulation (29). In bacteria, investigations on the relationship between iron and copper homeostasis have only recently started with the discovery of a novel pathway of copper toxicity (30).

Mechanisms of copper toxicity

The fact that copper undergoes redox chemistry makes this metal not only essential for biological processes, but also potentially toxic at higher concentrations. Eukaryotic cells treated with high amounts of copper show typical damages which arise from the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cell. ROS include hydroxyl radicals (OH[•]), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and superoxide (O₂⁻) and damage tissue and DNA (31-33). *In vitro* studies showed that copper reacts with endogenous H₂O₂ in a process analogous to the Fenton reaction (a) producing highly reactive hydroxyl radicals (3).

(a)
$$Cu^+ + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + OH^- + OH^-$$

In the analogous reaction *in vivo*, which is driven by ferrous ions, Fe²⁺, the hydroxyl radicals are potent oxidants of DNA and cause both mutagenesis and lethality (34).

As alternative cell damaging mechanism of copper, sulfhydryl-depletion by reactions (b) and (c) has been proposed (3).

- (b) $2 Cu^{2+} + 2 RSH = 2 Cu^{+} + RSSR + 2 H^{+}$
- (c) $2 \operatorname{Cu}^{+} + 2 \operatorname{H}^{+} + \operatorname{O}_{2} = 2 \operatorname{Cu}^{2+} + \operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O}_{2}$

Nevertheless, the discovery that free copper or iron in the cell is extremely low or even non-existent makes Fenton chemistry and sulfhydryl depletion rather unlikely mechanisms (34), and recent findings suggest that primary copper toxicity might occur by alternative mechanisms. *In vivo* studies in *Escherichia coli* showed that copper-loaded cells were less sensitive to killing by H₂O₂ and showed less DNA damage than cells grown without copper. Excessive intracellular copper even eliminated iron-mediated oxidative killing. Based on these observations the authors suggested that copper exerts its toxicity by other mechanisms than oxidative stress (35). The authors could show in further experiments that copper displaces the iron atom in the solvent-exposed iron-sulfur cluster of the enzyme isopropyl-malate dehydratase, thereby blocking the biosynthesis of branched-chain amino acids. Addition of these branched-chain amino acids could restore growth of sensitive strains (29).

Microarray analyses in *Bacillus subtilis* presented a connection between copper stress and the expression of genes coding for iron-sulfur cluster biogenesis and associated pathways, such as cysteine or branched-chain amino acid biosynthesis and genes coding for iron-sulfur cluster proteins (36). Further work will be necessary to obtain more insights into the processes of metal-induced iron-sulfur cluster destabilization and reconstitution and to establish whether this mechanism is a general route of copper toxicity.

Given that copper is both, essential and toxic, a tight regulation of copper uptake, distribution and export is necessary. Cells have evolved homeostatic control mechanisms which include chaperones for proper distribution of copper, transmembranous pumps to remove excess copper from the intracellular space, oxidases to change the oxidation state of copper, and special regulators that control gene expression in response to the intracellular copper concentration.

Copper homeostasis in humans

Copper is the third most abundant essential trace mineral in the body, after iron and zinc. In humans, copper is usually absorbed through the diet rather than water. Copper content of different foods vary considerably. Shellfish, oysters and organ meats (liver) are the richest sources of copper followed by chocolate and cocoa products, nuts (mostly cashew) and seeds. Unpolluted fresh water has very little copper, but leaching from copper piping in houses and buildings might as well have an effect on copper exposure and intake (9, 37, 38). The World Health Organization recommends a dietary allowance of 0.9 mg copper per day for the general population, the upper limit being 10 mg. For pregnant and nursing women the recommended intake is a bit higher, around 1.3 mg (39). Due to the lack of good copper bio-markers the setting of dietary recommendations remains difficult and recommendations vary from source to source.

The way copper usually enters mammals is through the alimentary tract (Fig. 2). The site of maximal copper absorption in humans is not known, but is assumed to be the stomach and upper intestine (40). After absorption of copper across the brush border membrane into the cells of the intestinal mucosa, it is subsequently transferred across the basolateral membrane into interstitial fluid and blood. In the portal blood, copper is bound to albumin or transcuprin; a small amount may be chelated by peptides and amino acids, especially histidine (38, 41). Via the blood, copper is routed directly to the liver where it is incorporated into copper-requiring proteins. These are thereafter secreted back into the blood and transported to extrahepatic tissues (42, 43). Ceruloplasmin is the primary copper transport protein in systemic circulation and contains around 75 % of the plasma copper (44). Besides the liver and body fluids, copper is not stored in the body, but eliminated over the bile. Only a tiny fraction leaves the body over the urine. Normal physiological levels of copper in mammals are regulated by both duodenal absorptions and endogenous excretion of copper into the gastro-intestinal tract (45).

Defects in copper homeostasis result in severe diseases

The importance of maintaining mechanisms for proper copper homeostasis in the liver is underscored by the existence of two well characterized human genetic diseases in copper transport, Menkes and Wilson diseases (46-48). Patients with <u>Wilson disease</u> have an in-ability to secrete copper into the bile. The genetic defect is caused by either a mutation or a deletion of a gene encoding a P-type ATPase, ATP7B, making it impossible for the copper to enter the bile. As a result, these patients accumulate copper in the liver and the brain and suffer from hepatic abnormalities (cirrhosis and chronic hepatitis, culminating in progressive liver failure), neurological defects (parkinsonian features, seizures) and psychiatric symptoms (personality changes, depression, psychosis) (49). Wilson disease is treated by reducing copper absorption through the diet and removing excess copper from the body by copper chelation (50, 51). But nevertheless, if treatment is ineffective, a liver transplant is occasion-ally required.

Patients suffering from <u>Menkes syndrome</u>, an X-chromosome linked disorder, fail to transfer copper from the cells of the intestinal mucosa into the blood. The syndrome is caused, like in Wilson disease, through the lack of a P-type ATPase (46). Without this transporter, called ATP7A, copper cannot travel to the liver and its subsequent destinations and most enzymes that depend on copper for their function will be inactive or have a reduced activity. The symptoms apparent for Menkes syndrome are versatile and include profound mental retardation, and connective tissue (collagen) abnormalities that result in soft bones and cartilage and weakened artery walls. Baby boys with the disease show characteristic steely or kinky hair (38) and very few of them survive beyond the age of three. Treatment with daily copper injections to bypass its lack of absorption by the intestine may improve the outcome in Menkes disease (52), however, the negative effects already occurred during gestation cannot be prevented.



Cu ~ 0.5-2.5 mg/day

Fig. 2. Overview of body copper homeostasis. Dietary copper is absorbed in the duodenum and small intestine. It is transported to the portal venous circulation where it binds to serum proteins and is directly routed to the liver. Patients with Menkes disease have a block in copper uptake, caused by mutations in ATP7A, and suffer from copper deficiency. In the liver, copper is incorporated in cuproproteins and subsequently excreted back into the blood. Excessive copper in the hepatocyte is excreted by the liver into the bile via the copper ATPase ATP7B, and this copper is discarded from the body via defecation. Patients with Wilson disease suffer from copper toxicosis in the liver due to mutations in ATP7B. Adapted from (53).

Wilson and Menkes ATPases share high sequence homology with copper pumps in the Gram-positive bacterium *Enterococcus hirae* (54). Investigations on the copper regulation machinery in *E. hirae* started in 1992 with the discovery of two copper ATPases (55), and today this organism is regarded as one of the best studied bacterial models for copper homeostasis. *Lactococcus lactis* is a close relative of *E. hirae* and bioinformatical studies suggest a very similar mechanism for the regulation of intracellular copper levels (56). The availability of the genomic sequence of *L. lactis* makes this organism the perfect choice to study new components involved in copper homeostasis (57).

Copper homeostasis in prokaryotes

Lactococcus lactis

L. lactis is a Gram-positive, aerotolerant bacterium that grows in pairs or short chains. In nature, *L. lactis* is found on plant surfaces and in the gastrointestinal tract of humans and animals. The cells are non-sporulating and non-motile and have a homo-fermentative metabolism. The production of lactic acid during carbohydrate fermentation is one of the reasons why *L. lactis* belongs to the most important microorganisms involved in dairy industry. The generation of a very acidic environment during growth, often accompanied by the secretion of bacteriocins, such as nisin, efficiently inhibits growth of competing bacteria and explains the wide use of *Lactococci* in food production (buttermilk, yoghurt, cheese) and preservation (58). However, the acidic ambient conditions can lead to the solubilization of complexed metal ions, thereby generating unfavorably high metal ion concentrations. In traditional cheese making, for example, the cells are challenged by copper released from the copper kettles (59). While this process is important for flavor development (60), it also puts stress on the bacteria.

There is currently no prove of a copper-containing protein in the species *Lactococci* (12). Nevertheless, defense mechanisms to avoid copper intoxication have evolved. Copper homeostasis in *L. lactis* appears to resemble the well studied copper homeostatic system of *E. hirae* (61). Details regarding copper homeostasis of *E. hirae* as well as additional information about the structural properties of the single copper homeostasis components can be found in the review article in chapter II, section 3 or in the book chapter in section 4.

Similar to *E. hirae*, *L. lactis* possesses a *cop* operon encoding a putative P-type copper export ATPase, CopA, a copper chaperone, CopZ, and the repressor CopR (56, 62). CopR regulates the expression of the *copRZA* operon dependent on the copper content of the cell. A second putative copper ATPase is encoded by the unlinked, monocistronic *copB* gene, which is also under the control of CopR (Fig. 3) (56).

CopR is a zinc-containing regulator which binds to the *cop*-box, a conserved TA-CAnnTGTA motif in the promotor region of the operon (63). If cytoplasmic copper is in excess, the CopZ copper chaperone delivers Cu⁺ to CopR. This results in the exchange of the Zn²⁺ in CopR by two Cu⁺ and the concomitant release of the repressor from the promoter, allowing transcription of the *cop*-genes to proceed (3, 61). CopA and CopB are transmembranous ATPases which transport Cu⁺ ions across the cytoplasmic membrane (64, 65). CopA was shown to complement a copper-sensitive phenotype of an *E. coli* strain deficient in cytoplasmic copper export and thus clearly serves in copper extrusion (56). The monocistronic *copB* gene shows 55 % sequence identity to the copper export pump CopB of *E. hirae* (65). Cu⁺ and Ag⁺ transport by the enterococcal enzyme has been directly demonstrated with radioisotopes in membrane vesicle and from whole cells loaded with silver (65, 66). However, a function of *L. lactis* CopB in copper export has not yet been directly demonstrated.



Fig. 3. Copper homeostasis in *L. lactis.* Copper enters the cell by unknown ways. In the cell, copper binds to the chaperone CopZ, which can then donate Cu^+ to either the copper ATPases for export or the CopR repressor to induce transcription. In low-copper conditions, a CopR dimer in the zinc form is bound to the *cop* box in front of the *copRZA* operon and the *copB* gene. When CopZ donates Cu^+ to CopR, one Zn²⁺ per CopR monomer is replaced by two Cu⁺, with concomitant release of CopR from the promoters and induction of transcription of the downstream genes. CopA and CopB then accomplish copper export from the cytoplasm.

It must be noted that *E. hirae* CopB is encoded by the *copYZAB* operon (CopY is the repressor in *E. hirae*), while CopB of *L. lactis* is encoded by a monocistronic gene. Whether these different gene organizations in *L. lactis* and *E. hirae* are a consequence of functional

differences remains an open question. Copper secretion by copper ATPases for the rapid export of excess copper out of the cytosol is common, if not ubiquitous, and is the basic mechanism of bacterial copper resistance. The process has been documented in many eukaryotic and bacterial systems.

A genome wide search for *cop*-boxes, the binding site of the CopR repressor, revealed the existence of another ten genes, which together with *copRZA* and *copB* encompass the CopR regulon of *L. lactis* (Fig. 4) (56). These genes were shown to be induced by copper *in vivo* and direct interaction between consensus sequences and the repressor could be verified *in vitro*. These new genes include *lctO*, encoding a lactate oxidase, and the *ydiDE*, *yahCD-yaiAB*, and *ytjDBA* operons of unknown functions. Of all the genes and operons constituting the CopR regulon, the *ytjDBA* operon was most strongly induced by copper (56). Based on sequence comparison, the first gene of this operon, *ytjD*, encodes an oxygen-insensitive nitroreductase, which was renamed *cinD* for <u>copper-induced nitroreductase</u>. The biochemical characterization of CinD and a possible role in the copper homeostasis machinery of *L. lactis* are discussed in chapter II, section 1.



Fig. 4. Copper-induced genes in *L. lactis.* The genes in black (red) are regulated by CopR. Vertical lines indicate the location of *cop*-boxes and the *lariats* those of p-independent transcriptional terminators. The predicted functions of the genes are indicated on the right.

Escherichia coli

E. coli is a Gram-negative, rod-shaped bacterium with peritrichously arranged flagella. The cells do not form spores and are usually found in the lower intestine of humans and other warm-blooded organisms. *E. coli* is a facultative anaerobe and survives when released to the natural environment, allowing widespread dissemination to new hosts. Most *E. coli* strains are harmless, but some can cause serious food poisoning while others are responsible for infections of the enteric, urinary, pulmonary and nervous system (67, 68). *E. coli* is the historical workhorse of bacterial genetics and has proven to be an excellent model to study copper homeostasis in Gram-negative bacteria.

In *E. coli*, different systems are involved in avoiding the accumulation of too high copper concentrations which may be generated through proteolytic and acidic degradation of food in the animal gut: a P-type ATPase, CopA, a multicopper oxidase, CueO, and the *cus* determinant (69).

Excess copper in the cytoplasm of the cell is sensed by CueR, a MerR-like transcriptional activator. These proteins bind to the promoters of their target genes in the presence and absence of their effector metals (70). In the presence of elevated metal ions, they allosterically activate transcription initiation by RNA polymerase by realigning abnormally spaced consensus RNA polymerase recognition sequences, while in the absence of metal ions these proteins may cause slight repression (71-73). CueR controls the expression of the ATPase CopA which pumps Cu⁺ out of the cytoplasm to the periplasmic space (Fig. 5) (74, 75). At the same time, CueR also activates the expression of the multi-copper oxidase CueO which is exported to the periplasm via the TAT pathway for prefolded proteins (74). Multicopper oxidases are copper containing enzymes (usually four copper ions) that couple the oxidation of a substrate to the reduction of dioxygen to water. CueO has a broad substrate specificity and oxidizes numerous compounds in vitro, including ferrous iron, catechols, and iron-chelating siderophores (76). Oxidized siderophores sequester copper and contribute to the detoxification of the periplasm (77). CueO also shows cuprous oxidase activity and can oxidize Cu⁺ to Cu²⁺, thus rendering the metal less toxic (78, 79). Unlike other multicopper oxidases, CueO requires a fifth copper adjacent to the substrate binding site for activity. The crystal structure displays a methionine rich helix that lies over the active site and it was hypothesized that this helix may function in copper sensing and may activate the enzyme under excess copper (80, 81).



Fig. 5. The *cue* system of *E. coli.* The CopA ATPase and the multi copper oxidase CueO are both regulated by the CueR transcription activator in response to increasing intracellular copper concentrations. CueR activates transcription initiation by realigning abnormally spaced consensus RNA polymerase recognition sequences. CopA is an ATP-driven copper pump that pumps Cu⁺ from the cytoplasm into the periplasm. Periplasmic Cu⁺ is oxidized by the CueO multi-copper oxidase to less toxic Cu²⁺. Adapted from (3).

Multicopper oxidases only work under aerobic conditions and *E. coli* has to rely on another copper homeostatic system to safeguard the periplasm under anaerobic conditions: The *cus* determinant is formed by two operons, *cusRS* and *cusCFBA*, which are transcribed in opposite directions (Fig. 6). The *cusRS* operon encodes a histidine kinase, CusS, and a response regulator, CusR. This so called two component regulatory system initiates the transcription of *cusCFBA* in a copper dependent manner (82, 83). The components of *cusCFBA* form a proton-cation antiporter complex spanning both membranes and the periplasmic space. CusA is an inner membrane protein belonging to the resistance nodulation cell division family of proteins. It functions as a proton-substrate antiporter and is responsible for substrate specificity. CusB is a membrane fusion protein and serves as an adaptor to link CusA to the outer membrane factor CusC (3). CusF is a 10-kDa periplasmic protein. Yeast two hybrid experiments suggested that CusF interacts with CusB and CusC and may function as a periplasmic copper chaperone (83). The CusCFBA system works under aerobic as well as under anaerobic conditions (84).



Fig. 6. The *cus* system of *E. coli*. The two component regulatory system CusRS senses periplasmic copper and activates the transcription of the *cusCFBA* and *cusRS* operons. The CusCBA complex forms a channel bridging the periplasmic space. The chaperone CusF delivers copper ions to this complex via the periplasmic space. Copper is expelled to the extracellular space in exchange for a proton. Adapted from (3).

Some *E. coli* strains possess additional plasmid encoded genes to prevent intoxication by copper. The *pco* determinant encodes genes that detoxify copper in the periplasm and support the chromosomally encoded homeostatic mechanisms (85).

E. coli possesses several copper containing proteins. Copper-zinc superoxide dismutase and amine oxidase in the periplasm and NADH dehydrogenase 2 and bo_3 -type cytochrome oxidase located in the cytoplasmic membrane (86). Nevertheless, it is still unknown by which pathways copper enters the cells. This question was experimentally addressed by using a plasmid borne biosensor which responds to cytoplasmic copper levels. The biosensor consisted of the *lux* gene cluster of *Vibrio fischeri* and was placed under the control of the *E. coli copA* promoter (87). An increase in luminescence therefore directly reflected a higher level of intracellular copper. An *E. coli* mutant showing decreased luminescence under copper stress was further analyzed. The mutant strain contained a transposon insertion in the *ycfQ* gene which encodes a regulator for the *ycfR* gene. The interaction of YcfQ with *ycfR* and a possible role for the predicted outer membrane protein YcfR in the process of copper entry are discussed in chapter II, section 2.

Chapter II: Publications and Manuscripts

1) Structure and Function of CinD (YtjD) of *Lactococcus lactis*, a Copper-Induced Nitroreductase Involved in Defense Against Oxidative Stress

Mélanie Mermod^{1,2}, *Frédéric Mourlane*^{1,2}, *Sandro Waltersperger*^{1,3}, *Anselm E. Oberholzer*^{1,3}, *Ulrich Baumann*³, and Marc Solioz¹

¹These authors contributed equally ²Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, University of Berne, 3010 Berne, Switzerland ³Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Berne, 3010 Berne, Switzerland

Published in Journal of Bacteriology, 2010, 192 (16), 4172-80

Abstract

In *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403, 14 genes are under the control of the copper-inducible CopR repressor. This so-called CopR regulon encompasses the CopR regulator, two putative P-type copper ATPases, a copper chaperone, and 10 additional genes of unknown function. We addressed here the function of one of these genes, *ytjD*, which we renamed *cinD* (copper-induced nitroreductase). Copper, cadmium, and silver induced *cinD in vivo*, as shown by real-time quantitative PCR. A knockout mutant of *cinD* was more sensitive to oxidative stress exerted by 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide and copper. Purified CinD is a flavoprotein and reduced 2,6-dichlorophenolindophenol and 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide with k_{cat} values of 27 and 11 s⁻¹, respectively, using NADH as a reductant. CinD also exhibited significant catalase activity *in vitro*. The X-ray structure of CinD was resolved at 1.35 Å and resembles those of other nitroreductases. CinD is thus a nitroreductase which can protect *L. lactis* against oxidative stress that could be exerted by nitroaromatic compounds and copper.

Structure and Function of CinD (YtjD) of *Lactococcus lactis*, a Copper-Induced Nitroreductase Involved in Defense against Oxidative Stress[⊽]

Mélanie Mermod,¹† Frédéric Mourlane,¹† Sandro Waltersperger,²† Anselm E. Oberholzer,²† Ulrich Baumann,² and Marc Solioz¹*

Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research¹ and Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry,² University of Berne, 3010 Berne, Switzerland

Received 2 April 2010/Accepted 5 June 2010

In *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403, 14 genes are under the control of the copper-inducible CopR repressor. This so-called CopR regulon encompasses the CopR regulator, two putative CPx-type copper ATPases, a copper chaperone, and 10 additional genes of unknown function. We addressed here the function of one of these genes, *ytjD*, which we renamed *cinD* (copper-induced nitroreductase). Copper, cadmium, and silver induced *cinD in vivo*, as shown by real-time quantitative PCR. A knockout mutant of *cinD* was more sensitive to oxidative stress exerted by 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide and copper. Purified CinD is a flavoprotein and reduced 2,6-dichlorophenolindophenol and 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide with k_{cat} values of 27 and 11 s⁻¹, respectively, using NADH as a reductant. CinD also exhibited significant catalase activity *in vitro*. The X-ray structure of CinD was resolved at 1.35 Å and resembles those of other nitroreductases. CinD is thus a nitroreductase which can protect *L. lactis* against oxidative stress that could be exerted by nitroaromatic compounds and copper.

Lactococcus lactis IL1403 is a Gram-positive lactic acid bacterium which is used for the manufacture of food and dairy products but also for an increasing number of biotechnological applications. Given the economical importance of this microorganism, it is often used as a model for molecular studies. Its genome has been sequenced (4), and its proteome has been extensively characterized (11). When applied to industrial processes, this bacterium has to face various stress conditions, such as low pH, high temperature, osmotic shock, and metal stress (44). For instance, in traditional cheese making in Switzerland, *L. lactis* is exposed to copper released from the copper vats.

Copper is an essential micronutrient for both prokaryotes and eukaryotes. The two oxidation states of copper, Cu^+ and Cu^{2+} , allow its participation in many important biological functions. More than 30 enzymes are known to use copper as a cofactor, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), cytochrome *c* oxidase, or lysyl oxidase (20). The redox activity of copper can also lead to the generation of free radicals, which cause cellular damage (42, 43). Recently, alternative copper toxicity mechanisms have been demonstrated in bacteria in which copper interferes with the formation of catalytic iron-sulfur clusters (6, 22). Whatever the mechanism of copper toxicity, maintenance of copper homeostasis by controlling the uptake, accumulation, detoxification, and removal of copper is critical for living organisms.

Copper homeostasis in *L. lactis* has not yet been investigated in great detail but appears to resemble the well-characterized

* Corresponding author. Mailing address: Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, Murtenstrasse 35, 3010 Berne, Switzerland. Phone: 41 31 632 3268. Fax: 41 31 632 4997. E-mail: marc.solioz@ikp.unibe.ch. copper homeostatic system of *Enterococcus hirae* (34). *L. lactis* possesses a *copRZA* operon, which provides copper resistance. It encodes the CopA copper export ATPase, the CopR copper-inducible repressor, and the CopZ copper chaperone (23). CopR regulates not only the *copRZA* operon but also an additional 11 genes. This so-called CopR regulon also includes *copB*, encoding a second putative copper ATPase; *lctO*, encoding lactate oxidase; and the *ydiDE*, *yahCD-yaiAB*, and *ytjDBA* operons of unknown function. Of all the genes and operons constituting the CopR regulon, the *ytjDBA* operon was most strongly induced by copper (23). Based on sequence comparison, the first gene of this operon, *ytjD*, encodes an oxygen-insensitive nitroreductase, which we renamed *cinD* for copper-induced <u>n</u>itroreductase.

Nitroreductases are called oxygen insensitive when they can catalyze the two-electron reduction of nitro compounds in the presence of oxygen. Such enzymes are widespread in nature and are able to reduce a wide range of substrates, such as furazones, nitroaromatic compounds, flavins, and ferricyanide, using NADH or NADPH as the reductant. They are flavoproteins of 22 to 24 kDa and form homodimers with one flavin mononucleotide cofactor per monomer. Although oxygen-insensitive nitroreductases have been extensively studied, their in vivo function remains largely unknown. The closest relative of CinD, which has functionally been studied, is FRP of Vibrio harveyi, with 29% sequence identity to CinD. FRP is not a typical nitroreductase but appears to function as an NADH flavin oxidoreductase which provides reduced flavin to luciferase (19). The next closest relative of CinD, NfsA of Escherichia coli, with 23% sequence identity, exhibits the broad substrate specificity typical of most nitroreductases (48). The structure of this enzyme has been solved at a resolution of 1.7 Å (17). It closely resembles the structures of other enzymes which belong to the oxygen-insensitive nitroreductase family. NfsA has re-

[†] These authors contributed equally.

 $^{^{\}vee}$ Published ahead of print on 18 June 2010.

cently been shown to participate in the degradation of 2,4,6trinitrotoluene (10). This suggests that an important function of nitroreductases could be the metabolism of xenobiotics.

We investigated here the structure and function of CinD of *L. lactis*. CinD was induced by copper, cadmium, and silver and protected *L. lactis* from oxidative stress exerted by 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide (NQO). The purified enzyme is a flavoprotein and exhibited nitroreductase activity on NQO and a variety of other substrates, using NADH as the reductant. CinD also possesses catalase activity and is thus able to defend cells against oxidative stress exerted by hydrogen peroxide, xenobiotics, or copper. The three-dimensional structure of CinD was resolved at a 1.35-Å resolution and exhibits a typical nitroreductase structure.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals. Medium components were obtained from Axon Lab AG, Dättwil, Switzerland. Chemicals for protein extractions and enzymatic assays were supplied by Merck (Darmstadt, Germany), DNA nucleases were supplied by Roche Biochemicals (Switzerland), the plasmid pProExHTa and recombinant tobacco etch virus (rTEV) protease were supplied by Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, and the Ni-nitrilotriacetic acid-agarose (Ni-NTA-agarose) chromatographic matrix was supplied by Qiagen. Oligonucleotides were synthesized by Microsynth (Balgach, Switzerland). Proofreading DNA polymerases were obtained from Takara Bio Inc. (Otsu, Japan), Roche Biochemicals (Switzerland), and Stratagene (La Jolla, CA). NQO (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at 100 mM and stored at -20° C. Working solutions were diluted from this stock in DMSO on the day of use.

Bacterial strains and culture conditions. L. lactis IL1403 was obtained from Emmanuelle Maguin (INRA, Jouy-en-Josas, France) and was grown semianaerobically (air-saturated media in sealed bottles), in M17 media (39) at 30°C or on plates containing M17 media with 1.5% agar (AppliChem, Darmstadt, Germany). Milk for growth of L. lactis was prepared by autoclaving a 10% solution of milk powder (Difco) at 121°C for 15 min. Growth in milk was followed either by plating and assessing the number of CFU or by clarifying samples by the addition of 4 volumes of 15 mM Na-EDTA, pH 12, and measuring the absorption at 600 nm. E. coli Top10 (Invitrogen) or DH5α (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) cells used for cloning were transformed according to manufacturer's instructions. E. coli strains were cultivated aerobically at 37°C in LB media (32) with appropriate antibiotics. To determine growth inhibition zones, 200 µl of stationary-phase cultures was spread on M17 plates, and 1.5-cm-diameter cellulose filter disks with the required chemicals were applied to the plates. Plates were incubated at 30°C, and the growth inhibition zones were measured after 16 h. To determine the growth rates of L. lactis in liquid cultures, 1 ml of M17 media in capped, disposable spectrophotometric cuvettes was inoculated with a 1/50 volume of cells which had been frozen in the logarithmic growth phase in 17% glycerol at -70°C. After growth for 1 h at 30°C, growth inhibitors were added, and growth was monitored at 600 nm with a Lambda 16 spectrophotometer (PerkinElmer Life Sciences). For competition assays between L. lactis strains, 25-ml cultures in M17 media were grown for 26 generations by four successive 100-fold dilutions into fresh media every 24 h. After four transfers, the numbers of CFU of wild-type and $\Delta cinD$ cells were determined by plating serial dilutions on M17 plates with and without erythromycin and counting the numbers of CFU.

Real-time quantitative PCR. For RNA isolation, fresh mid-log cultures of *L. lactis* IL1403 in M17 medium were induced as indicated below in Results for 45 min at 30°C. Cells from 1 ml of culture were harvested by centrifugation, and the pellet was used immediately for RNA isolation with the RNeasy kit from Qiagen, according to the manufacturer's instructions. The optional treatment with DNase I (RNase free) for 30 min at room temperature was included. RNA concentrations were measured with a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. RNA quality was assessed on 1.2% agarose-formaldehyde gels stained with ethidium bromide. RNA was stored at -70° C. cDNA was reverse transcribed from 1 µg of total RNA per reaction using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Real-time quantitative PCR was performed on the LightCycler (Roche), using SYBR Premix Ex *Taq* (Takara Bio Inc., Otsu, Japan), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Quantitative PCR conditions used were as follows: 1 cycle at 95°C for 10 s plus 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 6 s, annealing at 60°C for 20 s, and extension at 72°C for 45 s. After the LightCycler PCRs, the products were analyzed for specificity and homogeneity by a melting curve analysis and additionally by electrophoresis on 1.2% agarose gels. For quantitative PCR, primers ytjD3 (5'-GCACAAGGTGTTCC TGAATC) and ytjD4 (5'-TCAGCAAGAGCAGTCCATAC) were used to measure *cinD* gene expression. 16S RNA was determined with primers dm7 (5'-GT GGCTCAACCATTGTATGC) and dm8 (5'-AGCCTCAGTGTCAGTTAC AG). Real-time quantitative PCR results were expressed relative to 16S RNA.

Construction of the CinD expression vector pHYDSA1. All plasmids were purified from *E. coli* DH5 α using the large-scale NucleoBond AX plasmid isolation kit (Macherey-Nagel, Oensingen, Switzerland). The *cinD* gene of *L. lactis* IL1403 was cloned by PCR amplification of genomic *L. lactis* IL1403 DNA with the primers fm1 (5'-ATATGGCGCCATGTCATTCATTAAATCATTAG) and fm2 (5'-GCATGCAGCTTTTAAGAGCTCAATCTATCA). The resultant PCR product was cut with NarI and SacI and ligated into the histidine tag expression vector pProExHTa, resulting in pHYD2. This construct contained an A69S mutation in the *cinD* gene, which was mutated back to the wild-type sequence with the Chameleon mutagenesis kit (Invitrogen), as detailed by the manufacturer, resulting in pHYDSA2. The vector expressed a CinD fusion protein with an N-terminal six-histidine tag and a cleavage site for rTEV protease to remove the His tag. Cleaved CinD had the N-terminal methionine replaced by the sequence Gly-Ala-Arg.

CinD expression and purification. E. coli DH5 α (Invitrogen) transformed with expression plasmid pHYDSA2 was grown at 37°C in Luria-Bertani broth containing 100 µg/ml ampicillin to mid-log phase, cooled to 30°C, and induced with 1 mM isopropyl-B-D-thiogalactoside. Growth was continued for 4 h before the cells were harvested by centrifugation at 5,000 $\times\,g$ for 10 min at 4°C. Cell pellets were suspended and washed twice with 140 mM NaCl and 20 mM NaP_i, pH 7. All buffers used in subsequent steps were supplemented with 10 μM flavin mononucleotide (FMN) to prevent loss of the cofactor. The final pellet was resuspended in buffer A (50 mM Na-HEPES, 50 mM K₂SO₄ at pH 7.5, 1 mM β -mercaptoethanol), and a 1/100 volume of a protease inhibitor cocktail (100 mM N-a-p-tosyl-L-lysine-chloromethyl ketone, 100 mM N-p-tosyl-L-phenylalanine-chloromethyl ketone, 100 mM p-aminobenzamidine, 100 mM phenyl-methylsulfonyl-fluoride dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide) was added. Cells were broken by three passages through a French press at 40 MPa. Debris was removed by centrifugation for 10 min at 3,000 \times g in the cold. The supernatant was centrifuged at 90,000 \times g for 30 min at 4°C, filtered, and loaded onto a 2- by 8-cm Ni-nitrilotriacetic acid (Ni-NTA)-agarose column, preequilibrated with buffer A. The column was washed with 5 column volumes of buffer A containing 20 mM imidazole, and CinD was eluted with 10 column volumes of a linear 0- to 200-mM imidazole gradient in buffer A. The fractions were analyzed by electrophoresis on 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)-polyacrylamide gels and stained with Coomassie blue as described previously (18). The CinD-containing fractions were pooled, dialyzed against 50 mM Na-HEPES and 50 mM K₂SO₄, pH 7.4, concentrated 10-fold with a Centricon concentrator, and frozen at -70°C. For removal of the histidine tag, 600 µg of purified CinD was incubated with 100 U of rTEV protease for 4 h at 30°C. The proteolysis reaction mixture was passed through an Ni-NTA-agarose column in 50 mM Na-HEPES and 50 mM K₂SO₄, pH 7.0, and the flowthrough containing cleaved CinD was collected. For crystallization, CinD was further purified by gel filtration on a Superdex S75 column (GE Healthcare, Switzerland) in 300 mM NaCl, 25 mM Tris-Cl at pH 7.5, and 5 mM dithiothreitol. The purified protein was concentrated to 20 mg/ml and stored at -70°C. Samples for crystallization trials were supplemented with 1 mM FMN. Protein concentrations were determined with the Bio-Rad protein assay, using bovine serum albumin as a standard, except for that of pure CinD, which was estimated spectrophotometrically at 280 nm, using the extinction coefficient ε of $1.66 \text{ mg}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$.

Construction of the $\Delta ytjD$ **mutant strain.** An internal fragment of the *cinD* gene was PCR amplified from plasmid pHYD2 using primers fm33 (5'-GGCG GAAGCTTCACCAACAGCTTTCAATTC) and fm34 (5'-CGCGACTAGTTA GCAACAGCTTCGTCAATC). The resultant 399-bp product was digested with HindIII-SpeI and ligated into plasmid pTE1 (3), digested with the same enzymes. The resulting plasmid, pTEYD1, was propagated in *E. coli* DH5 α in LB media with 40 µg/ml of kanamycin or 500 µg/ml of erythromycin. Plasmid integrity was checked by restriction analysis. For gene knockout, *L. lactis* IL1403 was transformed with pTEYD1 by electroporation as described previously (9). Transformants were selected at 30°C on agar plates with brain heart infusion media (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI), containing 5 µg/ml of erythromycin. Clones were screened for $\Delta cinD$ mutants by PCR amplification of genomic DNA, using primer fm18 (5'-GCTGCACCAGAAGGAGTGAAAGC), located upstream of the *cinD* gene, and primer fm23 (5'-AAGCTAAGGGCAATTCCAGCAC), located on the pTEYD1 plasmid. The correctness of the junction between plas-

mid and genomic DNA was verified by restriction analysis of the resultant PCR fragments.

Western blot analysis of CinD expression. Antibodies to CinD were raised by injecting rats with an initial subcutaneous injection of 60 µg of gel-purified, cleaved CinD, followed by two intravenous booster injections of 60 µg CinD each. Serum samples were coagulated overnight at 4°C, and the clear supernatant was used for Western blotting. Cultures in 10 ml of M17 media were grown to an optical density at 546 nm (OD₅₄₆) of 0.6 to 0.8, followed by induction with 1 mM CuSO4 for 90 min when required. Cell lysates were prepared by centrifuging the cultures and treating the cell pellets with 200 µl of 10 mg/ml lysozyme, 1 mM EDTA, and 10 mM Tris-Cl at pH 8 on ice for 15 min. The lysates were treated with 40 µg of DNase I in 15 mM MgCl2 for 10 min at 0°C and centrifuged. The supernatants were denatured in SDS sample buffer, and 10 µg of each extract was resolved by electrophoresis on a 15% Tricine-SDS-polyacrylamide gel (33). Western blots were prepared as previously described (41), using a horseradish peroxidase-coupled goat anti-rat IgG secondary antibody (Santa Cruz). Bands were visualized by chemiluminescence using homemade reagents. Chemiluminescence signals were captured with a Fuji LAS-1000 imaging system (Fuji Photo Film, Tokyo, Japan).

Nitroreductase assay. The reductase activity of purified CinD was measured spectrophotometrically at 25°C. The reaction mixture contained in 1 ml of 50 mM Tris-Cl at pH 7.5, 0.05 mM NADH, and 0.05 mM substrate. The reaction was started by the addition of enzyme, and the change in absorption of either NADH or substrate was monitored over time. The following molar absorption coefficients were used: $6,220 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ for NADH at 340 nm, $20,600 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ for 2,6-dichlorophenolindophenol (DCPIP) at 600 nm, and 1,000 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹ for K₃[Fe(CN)₆]^{3–} at 420 nm. Self-absorption at 340 nm of substrates was corrected as follows: $\epsilon_{NADH}/[\epsilon_{NADH} + (\epsilon_{Sox} - \epsilon_{Sred})]$, where ϵ_{Sox} and ϵ_{Sred} are the extinction coefficients of the oxidized and reduced substrates, respectively.

Oxygen measurements. The catalase activity of CinD was measured by recording the production of oxygen from hydrogen peroxide with a Clark electrode. The reactions were performed at 25°C in a 1-ml chamber containing 50 mM Tris-Cl at pH 7.5 and various amounts of H_2O_2 . Reactions were started by adding 3 µg of purified CinD.

Crystallization and structure determination. Crystals were grown at 20°C by vapor diffusion with hanging drops, mixing 2 volumes of protein to 1 volume of crystallization buffer (100 mM Tris-Cl at pH 8, 200 mM MgCl₂, 20% [wt/vol] polyethylene glycol 3350, 2% 2-methyl-2,4-pentanediol). Crystals were cryoprotected using the crystallization buffer supplemented with 20% 2-methyl-2,4-pentanediol and flash cooled in liquid nitrogen. Diffraction data were collected at 100 K at the Swiss Light Source (Paul Scherer Institute, Villigen, Switzerland) at beamline X06DA to a 1.35-Å resolution and processed using XDS (15). The structure was solved by molecular replacement using the program PHASER (25) and the nitroreductase structure from *Streptococcus mutans* as the search model (Protein Data Bank [PDB] accession number 2IFA) (Northeast Structural Genomics Consortium, unpublished data). Data collection and refinement statistics are given in Table 1.

Protein structure accession number. The CinD structure was deposited in the PDB under accession number 2WQF.

RESULTS

Regulation of CinD expression by metal ions. A global proteomics and bioinformatics analysis of the response of L. lactis IL1403 to copper exposure led to the identification of a copper-inducible nitroreductase, encoded by the ytjD gene (GenBank accession number NP_268070), which we here rename cinD (23). To learn more about the function of CinD in copper homeostasis and stress response, we analyzed the induction of the *cinD* gene in more detail. By real-time quantitative PCR, dose-dependent upregulation of *cinD* expression by copper was observed. Maximal induction was measured in cells induced with 1 mM Cu^{2+} (Fig. 1A). Among other metals tested, 200 μ M Cd²⁺ induced *cinD* to an extent similar to that of copper, while Ag⁺ at the same concentration induced *cinD* to about 60% of these levels (Fig. 1B). Zn²⁺, Fe²⁺, Ni²⁺, Mn²⁺, and Ca²⁺ failed to stimulate *cinD* expression. The *cinD* gene is under the control of CopR (23), a repressor homologous to CopY of E. hirae. Induction of genes under the control

TABLE 1. Data collection and refinement statistics

Parameter	Value(s) ^a
Space group properties	
Space group	C222 ₁
a, b, c (Å)	54.10, 122.22, 69.05
α, β, γ (Å)	90.0, 90.0, 90.0
No. of molecules/ASU ^b	1
Data collection statistics	
Beamline	X06DA
Wavelength (Å)	1.000
Resolution range (Å)	50.0–1.35
No. of observations	433,802
No. of unique reflections	
Completeness (%)	99.2 (97.3)
$R_{\text{merge}} (\%)^c$	9.4 (58.4)
$I/\sigma(I)$	12.36 (1.9)
Refinement statistics	
Resolution range (Å)	32.13-1.35
No. of reflections, working set	47,384
No. of reflections, test set	1,466
$R/R_{\rm free}$ (%)	13.15/15.55
No. of atoms	
Protein	3,253
Ligand	51
Water	300
RMS deviations	
Bond length (A)	0.007
Bond angle (°)	0.863
Ramachandran plot (%)	
Most favored	
Allowed	1.67
Disallowed	0.00
B-tactors (A)	10.1
Main chain	19.1
Side chain and water	

^{*a*} The values in parentheses for the resolution range, completeness, R_{merge} , and $I/\sigma(I)$ correspond to the outermost-resolution shell. Data collection and refinement statistics values were measured using XDS and Phenix, respectively. ^{*b*} ASU, asymmetric units.

 ${}^{c}R_{merge} = \Sigma_{hkl}\Sigma_{j} [I(hkl; j) - {I(hkl)}]/[\Sigma_{hkl}\Sigma_{j} {I(hkl)}], where I(hkl; j) is the jth measurement of the intensity of the unique reflection (hkl) and {I(hkl)} is the mean overall symmetry-related measurement.$

of CopR proceeds via formation of a binuclear Cu(I)-thiolate cluster which displaces the bound Zn^{2+} and releases the repressor from the DNA. Other soft metals with a preponderance to form thiolates, like Ag⁺ and Cd²⁺, were also found to induce the closely related CopY repressor of *Enterococcus hirae* (30). Induction of *cinD* by copper, silver, and cadmium is thus in line with the expectations for a gene under the control of the CopY-like repressor CopR. No significant or marginal induction of *cinD* by nitrosative (*S*-nitrosoglutathione [GSNO]) or oxidative stress (paraquat, H₂O₂) was observed, suggesting that oxidative or nitrosative stress does not directly induce *cinD*.

Overexpression and purification of CinD. To determine the catalytic activity of CinD, an *E. coli* expression system was set up by constructing the plasmid pHYDSA2. It contained an isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactoside-inducible fusion of CinD with a cleavable N-terminal $6\times$ His tag. This allowed for the expression of $6\times$ His-CinD in copious amounts. It was purified by Ni-NTA-agarose affinity chromatography, followed by cleavage of the $6\times$ His tag with rTEV protease. CinD could be purified to better than 95% purity in a single affinity purifica-



FIG. 1. Real-time quantitative PCR analysis of *cinD* mRNA expression. (A) The induction of *cinD* mRNA was measured as a function of the copper concentration in media. Cells were grown semianaerobically and induced for 45 min with copper at the concentrations indicated on the abscissas. The error bars show standard deviations based on three independent experiments. (B) Induction of *cinD* mRNA was measured in response to different stress conditions. Cells were grown semianaerobically and induced for 45 min with the chemicals indicated on the abscissas. The following metal salts were used at 200 μ M: CuSO₄, AgNO₃, CdSO₄, ZnSO₄, FeCl₂, NiSO₄, MnCl₂, and CaSO₄. GNSO, paraquat, and H₂O₂ were used at concentrations of 4 mM, 20 mM, and 1 mM, respectively. The error bars show standard deviations based on three independent experiments. All values are statistically different (P < 0.01) from each other (Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on ranks).

tion step, with an average yield of 10 mg of recombinant protein per liter of culture (Fig. 2). Purified CinD was highly soluble and had the expected molecular mass of 22.6 kDa. CinD solutions were yellow and exhibited a typical FMN absorption spectrum (Fig. 3). Based on an extinction coefficient of 12,500 M^{-1} cm⁻¹ for FMN, purified CinD contained 0.91 FMN molecules per monomer. This is reasonably close to the expected stoichiometry of one FMN per monomer.

Characterization of the activity of CinD. The sequence similarity between CinD and bacterial flavoproteins of the nitroreductase family suggested that CinD could have a similar function. A range of substrates typical for this class of enzymes was tested, using NADH as the reductant. The highest k_{cat} value, 27 s⁻¹, was measured with DCPIP. The K_m value for this



FIG. 2. Affinity purification of CinD and His tag cleavage. Proteins were resolved on 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate gels and stained with Coomassie blue. Lane 1, 10 μ g of crude bacterial lysate; lane 2, 10 μ g of protein from the pellet obtained by ultracentrifugation of the lysate; lane 3, 10 μ g of protein from the supernatant from ultracentrifugation; lane 4, 6 μ g of protein eluted from a Ni-NTA-agarose column with 200 mM imidazole; lane 5, 6 μ g of uncleaved 6×His-CinD; lane 6, 6 μ g of rTEV-cleaved CinD after dialysis. The sizes of molecular mass markers are indicated in kDa on the left.

reaction was 79 μ M, and the $V_{\rm max}$ value was 383 μ mol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ (Fig. 4). A substantial $k_{\rm cat}$ value of 11 s⁻¹ was also measured with NQO, while activities below 10% of the maximal activity for a range of other substrates were recorded, including methylene blue (2.6 s⁻¹), 4-chloro-7-nitrobenzo-furazan (0.83 s⁻¹), and K_3 [Fe(CN)₆] (0.69 s⁻¹). No substrate reduction in the presence of 50 µM FMN but without enzyme was observed. CinD failed to reduce many known substrates of nitroreductases, like nitrofurazone, 4-nitroanisol, 4-nitrophenol, chloramphenicol, GW9662, nitroprusside, methyl-3-nitro-1-nitrosoguanidin, 2,4,6-trinitrophenol, a range of differently halogenated nitrobenzenes, nitroaniline, 3-nitro-L-tyrosine, sulfafurazol, nitrosocysteine, nitrosoglutathione, nitrophenylphosphate, flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), and FMN. Both NADH and NADPH could serve as electron donors, but NADH resulted in four times higher specific activities. Thus, CinD is an oxygen-insensitive nitroreductase and exhibits rather narrow substrate specificity. CinD was also found to possess significant catalase activity (Fig. 5). This reaction was NAD(P)H independent, was not catalyzed by FMN alone, and exhibited a K_m of 31 mM and a V_{max} of 68 μ mol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹.



FIG. 3. Absorption spectrum of CinD. The spectrum was recorded with 23 μ M of purified CinD in 50 mM Tris-Cl, pH 8, at 25°C.



FIG. 4. Kinetic analysis of DCPIP reduction by CinD. DCPIP reduction by 3 µg of CinD was monitored by following the oxidation at 340 nm of NADH. Reduction rates were fitted with Michaelis-Menten kinetics using SigmaPlot. (Inset) Lineweaver-Burk plot of the same data.

While the K_m for this reaction is relatively low, the activity may still be biologically relevant; L. lactis and some related organisms do not possess catalase and accumulate hydrogen peroxide in millimolar concentrations (4, 45).

Effect of cinD gene inactivation. To obtain information about the function of CinD in vivo, a $\Delta cinD$ strain was constructed by homologous, Campbell-like recombination with plasmid pTEYD1, carrying a fragment of the cinD gene. Insertion of pTEYD1 into the genome at the correct site was confirmed by PCR, and the absence of the CinD protein in the knockout mutant was demonstrated by Western blotting with an antibody against CinD (Fig. 6). The $\Delta cinD$ strain exhibited increased sensitivity toward NQO (Fig. 7). There was complete growth inhibition of the $\Delta cinD$ mutant by 300 μ M NQO, while wild-type cells still grew at a growth rate of 35% of that observed in the absence of NQO. The increased sensitivity of the $\Delta cinD$ strain to NQO was even more apparent on solid growth media by the large zone of growth inhibition around an NQOsoaked filter disk (Fig. 7, inset). NQO causes oxidative stress and is a good substrate of CinD in vitro; NQO reduction apparently diminishes the oxidative stress exerted by this agent.



FIG. 5. Catalase activity of CinD. Purified CinD (3 µg) was incubated with 10 mM H₂O₂, and oxygen evolution was measured with a Clark electrode. The arrows indicate the additions of H₂O₂ and CinD.



FIG. 6. CinD expression in the wild type and the $\Delta cinD$ strain and induction by copper. CinD expression was assessed by Western blotting, developed with a CinD antibody. Lane 1, uninduced wild type; lane 2, wild type induced with 1 mM CuSO₄; lane 3, uninduced $\Delta cinD$; lane 4, $\Delta cinD$ induced with 1 mM CuSO₄; lanes 5 to 7, 60, 6, and 0.6 ng of purified CinD, respectively. Induction in all cases was for 90 min. The arrow points to the position of CinD.

DCPIP, which was the best substrate of CinD in vitro, was essentially nontoxic to both the wild type and the $\Delta cinD$ mutant. NQO, like paraquat and hydrogen peroxide, did not induce expression of CinD (not shown).

Although NQO primarily causes oxidative stress, we also investigated a possible role of CinD in defense against nitrosative stress. Protein nitrosylation was indistinguishable in the wild type and the $\Delta cinD$ mutant, as assessed with an antinitrosocysteine antibody and the biotin switch detection method for nitrosylated proteins (8). There was also no phenotypic difference between the wild type and the *cinD* mutant strain when grown in the presence of agents that cause nitrosative stress, such as nitrosoglutathione, nitrosocysteine, ni-



FIG. 7. Effect of cinD inactivation on the sensitivity toward 4-nitroquinoline-N-oxide. L. lactis wild-type (•) and $\Delta cinD$ (O) cells were grown in 1-ml cuvettes containing M17 medium supplemented with 0 to 300 µM NQO. Standard deviations calculated from three independent experiments are depicted with error bars. (Inset) Phenotype of $\Delta cinD$ under oxidative stress. Filter disks soaked with 25 mM NQO were applied to bacterial lawns of L. lactis wild-type and $\Delta cinD$ cells. The plates were incubated overnight at 30°C.

trosocysteinyl-glycine, diethylamine, NONOate, and nitrite (not shown). So, a role of CinD in the defense against nitrosative stress appears unlikely.

Since CinD expression is regulated by copper, we examined the copper sensitivity of the $\Delta cinD$ strain. In standard growth experiments, growth inhibition of the wild type and the $\Delta cinD$ mutant by copper appeared to be the same. A greater sensitivity of the $\Delta cinD$ mutant toward copper could, however, be observed in growth competition experiments. Cultures in M17 media were inoculated with a 100-fold excess of the $\Delta cinD$ mutant over the wild type $(1.5 \times 10^9 \text{ and } 1.5 \times 10^7 \text{ CFU})$, respectively) and grown in the presence or absence of 0.5 mM copper for 26 generations by serial transfers. In the final cultures, the ratio of the wild type to $\Delta cinD$ was (5.82 \pm 0.06) \times 10^{6} CFU when grown with copper and $(1.8 \pm 1.4) \times 10^{3}$ CFU when grown without copper. This clearly shows a growth advantage of the wild type over the $\Delta cinD$ mutant, which is strongly accentuated by copper. We also performed a series of growth experiments in milk to mimic a natural environment of L. lactis. In growth media prepared from milk powder, wildtype cells invariably exhibited a growth advantage and better survival over the $\Delta cinD$ mutant in the presence of copper. Unfortunately, these experiments were difficult to quantify and are thus not shown. The main problem was the different cell morphologies observed in milk. While the wild type preferentially grew as cell pairs, the $\Delta cinD$ mutant grew in chains of 8 to 12 cells. Copper shifted these morphologies to more single cells for the wild type and spherical clumps of many cells for the $\Delta cinD$ mutant. This made it difficult to enumerate living cells reliably, either by optical density or by plating and counting of the number of CFU. Yet, it appears clear that expression of CinD provides wild-type cells with a growth advantage under stress conditions exerted by copper and oxidative stressinducing chemicals.

Crystal structure of CinD. The crystal structure of the CinD-FMN complex was refined at a 1.35-Å resolution, with good statistics (Table 1). The structure is very well defined; only residues 75 to 86, forming a flexible loop, have very weak electron densities. A DALI search (13) revealed a hypothetical protein, SMU.260, with *S. mutans* (50% sequence identity, root mean square [RMS] deviation of 1.2 Å for 200 residues; PDB accession number 2IFA) and *Bacillus cereus* ATCC 14579 (41% sequence identity, RMS deviation of 1.3 Å; PDB accession number 1YWQ) having the most similar entries in the PDB. Other database entries classified as similar have sequence identities of 23% and less.

Like other nitroreductases, CinD forms a homodimeric structure in which the monomer possesses an $\alpha + \beta$ fold and the FMN is positioned at the dimer interface (Fig. 8A), i.e., the active site is built by residues of both subunits. A total of 2,521 Å² of solvent-accessible surface per monomer becomes buried upon dimer formation, with a total monomer surface of 10,891 Å². Both termini of the CinD monomers extend into the direction of the dimer partner. The central β -sheet is formed by four antiparallel strands together with the parallel β 5 strand from the C terminus of the other subunit. The five-stranded β -sheet is shielded by two and three α -helices, respectively.

The dimer interface is built up by hydrophobic interactions formed by the short α 1-helices (Phe3-Glu8) and the α 6-helices (Ala119-Ala141) from both subunits. Residues from the N-



FIG. 8. Structure of CinD. (A) Cartoon representation with one subunit shown in light blue and purple and the other in green and lime. FMN molecules are depicted as stick models, and key residues discussed in the text are indicated. (B) Molecular surface representation with mapped electrostatic potential. The potential is drawn from -15 kT (red) to +15 kT (blue). Adaptive Poisson-Boltzmann Solver was used for the electrostatics calculation, assuming an ion concentration of 0.15 M (2). (C) Stereo view of the FMN binding site. Hydrogen bonds are indicated as black dashed lines, nitrogen atoms are colored in dark blue, oxygen atoms are in red, hydrogen atoms are in gray, and carbon atoms are in yellow.

terminal-extending α 1-helix (Phe3, Ser6, Leu7, and Glu8) are buried in a hydrophobic cleft of the neighboring subunit (formed by residues Phe3, Ser6, Phe36, Asn136, Thr139, Ala140, and Glu143), and the α 6-helix from each subunit is placed in a hydrophobic cleft of the other subunit. As mentioned above, the C-terminal part (Glu188-Ala202) composed of the short α 8-helix (Asp194-Arg197) and the β 5 strand (Phe198-Ala201) extends over the surface to the neighboring monomer, where the β 5 strand contributes to the central pleated β -sheet of the other monomer. Seven hydrogen bonds and two salt bridges (between Arg35 and Asp194 of the other subunit) contribute to the stability as well.

The cofactor FMN is bound in a deep cleft that is positively charged (Fig. 8B). The local electrostatic potential originates mainly from Arg10, Arg11, and Lys189, which coordinate the phosphate group (Fig. 8C). The si face of the isoalloxazine ring is backed by strand β 1. From this side, the carboxylamide of Gln151 forms hydrogen bonds to O2 and HN3 of the pyrimidine moiety of FMN. A further hydrogen bond is donated by the side chain of His152. All residues mentioned belong to the same subunit. The re face of the isoalloxazine ring is covered by Phe41' and Trp125' of the other subunit. They are further apart and form part of the substrate binding site. The heterocycle of FMN is nonplanar, with a dihedral angle of about 18.5 degrees between the planes of the dimethylbenzoide and pyrimidine ring. This bend has been implied in favoring the reduction of FMN, owing to the fact that reduced FMN possesses a dihedral angle of about 25 degrees (12). Bent cofactors have been observed in many nitroreductases, but exceptions have also been described, namely, for E. coli YdjA (7) and Streptococcus mutans SMU.260 (PDB accession number 2IFA). The latter was the initial search model and shares 40% amino acid identity with CinD. Closer inspection of SMU.260 revealed a clear indication of a bent cofactor in this nitroreductase as well, but the bending was less pronounced than that in CinD. While the overall crystal structure of CinD resembles a typical nitroreductase, there is one profound difference between CinD and the majority of the reported nitroreductases. Two prominent α -helices that usually shield the active site on the re face of FMN are substantially shortened in CinD and Streptococcus mutans SMU.260 and are even completely missing in E. coli YdjA. These helices are believed to have an influence on substrate specificity and recognition (7).

Taken together, the present work shows the structure and the function of CinD nitroreductase of *L. lactis*. We showed that this enzyme can protect cells against oxidative stress by NQO but also function as a catalase. In a natural setting, CinD probably protects *L. lactis* against a range of xenobiotics and oxidative stress conditions.

DISCUSSION

CinD had been identified previously by proteomics as the most strongly copper-induced protein of the CopR regulon of *L. lactis* IL1403 (23). In the present study, we characterized CinD (YtjD) as a copper-induced oxygen-insensitive nitrore-ductase with a role in defense against oxidative stress. Purified CinD was most active in the reduction of DCPIP and NQO, a strong inducer of oxidative stress. The enzyme also exhibited significant catalase activity.

By quantitative PCR as well as by Western blotting, it was shown that copper induced *cinD* in the order of 20- to 50-fold, in line with the 35-fold induction determined by proteomics (23). *CinD* was also induced by silver and cadmium, as would be expected for a gene under the control of CopR, which is homologous to CopY of *E. hirae* (30). Oxidative stress by NQO, paraquat, or hydrogen peroxide did not induce *cinD* expression, which contrasts with the oxidative stress-dependent activation of some other nitroreductases. nfsA of E. coli and nfrA of Staphylococcus aureus are nitroreductases that are under the control of SoxR (21) and PerR (37), respectively, which are regulators that respond to oxidative stress. The NfrA nitroreductase of Bacillus subtilis, on the other hand, is induced by paraquat and hydrogen peroxide (28). Oxidative stress and nitrosative stress are apparently interconnected, since overlapping sets of genes are induced by transcription factors sensing oxidative stress, like OxyR and SoxR, and by those sensing nitrosative stress, like NorR and Fur (29). In contrast, cinD induction in L. lactis was observed only with heavy metal ions. Chemicals which induce nitrosative stress, such as nitrosoglutathione, nitrosocysteine, or L-arginine, did not induce genes under the control of CopR. This provides support to the notion that cinD expression is governed solely by the copper-responsive CopR repressor. Further support for this comes from the promoter structure of CinD, which features two copies of the so-called "cop box" of consensus TACANNTGTA, which is a universal DNA binding site for CopR-like repressors (31). The cop box is present in one or two copies in all seven promoters of copper-regulated genes and operons we have studied so far (23, 36), and copper, silver, and cadmium are the only inducers of these genes/promoters which could be identified.

Oxygen-insensitive nitroreductases have been studied in microorganisms as different as Enterococcus cloacae (5), E. coli, and Vibrio harveyi (48), Vibrio fischeri (49), Bacillus subtilis (27), Staphylococcus aureus (37), and Synechocystis spp. (38). Nitroreductases catalyze the reduction of a large range of nitroaromatic compounds; therefore, they are generally assumed to be involved in detoxification processes. Indeed, the first enzyme described was isolated from bacteria growing in a weapons storage dump and could reduce the explosive trinitrotoluene (5). Because of their broad substrate specificity, nitroreductases have also received attention for biotechnological applications (26, 47). However, the biological function of this class of enzymes remains unclear. It has been proposed for Bacillus subtilis that nitroreductases are responsible for the maintenance of the cellular redox state, thereby protecting from oxidative stress. Indeed, we showed here that CinD can protect L. lactis from oxidative stress exerted by NQO. This chemical is quite toxic to L. lactis and is a good substrate for CinD, second only to DCPIP, which does not appear to be toxic to L. lactis. Detoxification of NQO by CinD is supported by the observations that it is reduced by CinD in vitro and that the $\Delta cinD$ strain is more sensitive to NQO than the wild type. In its natural environment, L. lactis may not encounter NQO but may encounter similar compounds with oxidative stress potential. If copper elicits or acerbates the oxidative stress potential of such chemicals, it would make sense that copper induces the CinD defense system.

Alternatively, or in addition, the catalase activity of CinD could offer an important protection against oxidative stress by decomposing hydrogen peroxide to oxygen and water. Fast-growing *L. lactis* produces considerable quantities of H_2O_2 . This can occur by at least two mechanisms, namely, by NADH oxidase (45) and by the LctO lactate dehydrogenase. LctO converts lactate to pyruvate, under production of hydrogen peroxide. It has been argued that these two activities serve in

the scavenging of molecular oxygen to reduce oxidative stress (3, 24). Since L. lactis is devoid of a "normal" catalase and of SOD, alternative mechanism dealing with hydrogen peroxide and oxidative stress must be present. NADH peroxidase can convert hydrogen peroxide to water, but this activity is apparently very low (45). Interestingly, LctO belongs to the CopR regulon, is upregulated by copper, but does not contribute to increased copper tolerance (3). The induction of LctO by copper appears counterproductive since this would lead to the production of H_2O_2 , which in turn, could undergo a Fenton reaction with copper, leading to the generation of toxic OH' radicals. However, pyruvate (generated by LctO) can nonenzymatically react with hydrogen peroxide according to the following reaction: pyruvate + $H_2O_2 \rightarrow acetate + CO_2 + H_2O$. Such a mechanism is supported by the accumulation of up to 4 mM pyruvate by L. lactis strain NZ2007, which is deficient in lactate dehydrogenase and does not produce detectable hydrogen peroxide during logarithmic growth (45). The induction of LctO under copper stress may thus serve in the elimination of hydrogen peroxide by nonenzymatic reaction with pyruvate. Pyruvate was also shown to exert a protective effect against copper-induced cysteine autoxidation in astrocytes (46) and to protect motor neurons expressing mutant forms of SOD1 (which cause amyotrophic lateral sclerosis) against copper toxicity (16).

CinD (YtjD) is the first gene of an operon originally designated ytjDBA. ytjB is predicted to encode a manganese transporter, and ytjA is predicted to encode a ribonucleotide-2(3)phosphate reductase. Copper-induced manganese uptake by YtjB could provide an additional level of protection against oxidative stress. Although L. lactis IL1403 is devoid of a Mncontaining SOD, Mn2+ has also been claimed to dismutate hydrogen peroxide nonenzymatically (35). The reaction has been studied in detail in vitro (40), but recent evidence suggests that it does not play a role in vivo. Instead, manganese apparently can metallate mononuclear enzymes in lieu of iron, thereby precluding a Fenton reaction between iron and hydrogen peroxide (1). Induction of manganese uptake by hydrogen peroxide has been reported for many bacteria, and uptake can be accomplished by P-type ATPases, ABC-type permeases, or Nramp-type manganese uptake systems (for a review, see reference 14). YtjB of L. lactis resembles an Nramp-type transporter; whether it plays a role in manganese uptake and protection against oxidative stress is currently under investigation in our laboratory.

Clearly, the defense against copper toxicity and copper-associated oxidative stress takes place at several levels. Depending on the bacterial species, it involves copper export by ATPases, detoxification of superoxide by SOD, and scavenging of hydrogen peroxide enzymatically by catalase or maybe nonenzymatically by manganese, pyruvate, and other α -ketoacids. In addition, cytoplasmic manganese may metallate some enzymes in lieu of iron to curb the Fenton reaction. Intracellular glutathione can complex copper and protect against oxidative damage, and cytoplasmic zinc can also protect enzymes from copper toxicity. Finally, a number of regulatory systems respond to oxidative stress and prevent DNA and cell damage by other mechanisms. CinD with its nitroreductase and catalase activities adds yet another protective element to this network. Several more uncharacterized, copper-induced genes of the CopR regulon are likely to contribute to this complex network, and considerably more work is required to fully understand the defense of *L. lactis* against copper and oxidative stress.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants 3100A0-122551 and A3100-120174 from the Swiss National Foundation, by a grant from the International Copper Association, and by a grant from the Swiss State Secretary for Education and Research.

REFERENCES

- Anjem, A., S. Varghese, and J. A. Imlay. 2009. Manganese import is a key element of the OxyR response to hydrogen peroxide in *Escherichia coli*. Mol. Microbiol. 72:844–858.
- Baker, N. A., D. Sept, S. Joseph, M. J. Holst, and J. A. McCammon. 2001. Electrostatics of nanosystems: application to microtubules and the ribosome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98:10037–10041.
- Barré, O., F. Mourlane, and M. Solioz. 2007. Copper induction of lactate oxidase of *Lactococcus lactis*: a novel metal stress response. J. Bacteriol. 189:5947–5954.
- Bolotin, A., P. Wincker, S. Mauger, O. Jaillon, K. Malarme, J. Weissenbach, S. D. Ehrlich, and A. Sorokin. 2001. The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. Genome Res. 11:731–753.
- Bryant, C., and M. DeLuca. 1991. Purification and characterization of an oxygen-insensitive NAD(P)H nitroreductase from *Enterobacter cloacae*. J. Biol. Chem. 266:4119–4125.
- Chillappagari, S., A. Seubert, H. Trip, O. P. Kuipers, M. A. Marahiel, and M. Miethke. 2010. Copper stress affects iron homeostasis by destabilizing iron-sulfur cluster formation in *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. 192:2512–2524.
- Choi, J. W., J. Lee, K. Nishi, Y. S. Kim, C. H. Jung, and J. S. Kim. 2008. Crystal structure of a minimal nitroreductase, ydjA, from *Escherichia coli* K12 with and without FMN cofactor. J. Mol. Biol. 377:258–267.
- Forrester, M. T., M. W. Foster, M. Benhar, and J. S. Stamler. 2009. Detection of protein S-nitrosylation with the biotin-switch technique. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 46:119–126.
- Gerber, S. D., and M. Solioz. 2007. Efficient transformation of *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403 and generation of knock-out mutants by homologous recombination. J. Basic Microbiol. 47:281–286.
- Gonzalez-Perez, M. M., P. van Dillewijn, R. M. Wittich, and J. L. Ramos. 2007. *Escherichia coli* has multiple enzymes that attack TNT and release nitrogen for growth. Environ. Microbiol. 9:1535–1540.
- Guillot, A., C. Gitton, P. Anglade, and M. Y. Mistou. 2003. Proteomic analysis of *Lactococcus lactis*, a lactic acid bacterium. Proteomics 3:337–354.
- Haynes, C. A., R. L. Koder, A. F. Miller, and D. W. Rodgers. 2002. Structures of nitroreductase in three states: effects of inhibitor binding and reduction. J. Biol. Chem. 277:11513–11520.
- Holm, L., and C. Sander. 1998. Touring protein fold space with Dali/FSSP. Nucleic Acids Res. 26:316–319.
- Horsburgh, M. J., S. J. Wharton, A. G. Cox, E. Ingham, S. Peacock, and S. J. Foster. 2002. MntR modulates expression of the PerR regulon and superoxide resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* through control of manganese uptake. Mol. Microbiol. 44:1269–1286.
- 15. Kabsch, W. 2010. XDS. Acta Crystallogr. D Biol. Crystallogr. 66:125-132.
- Kim, H. J., J. M. Kim, J. H. Park, J. J. Sung, M. Kim, and K. W. Lee. 2005. Pyruvate protects motor neurons expressing mutant superoxide dismutase 1 against copper toxicity. Neuroreport 16:585–589.
- Kobori, T., H. Sasaki, W. C. Lee, S. Zenno, K. Saigo, M. E. Murphy, and M. Tanokura. 2001. Structure and site-directed mutagenesis of a flavoprotein from *Escherichia coli* that reduces nitrocompounds: alteration of pyridine nucleotide binding by a single amino acid substitution. J. Biol. Chem. 276: 2816–2823.
- Laemmli, U. K., and M. Favre. 1973. Maturation of the head of bacteriophage T4. J. Biol. Chem. 80:575–599.
- Lei, B., and S. C. Tu. 1998. Mechanism of reduced flavin transfer from Vibrio harveyi NADPH-FMN oxidoreductase to luciferase. Biochemistry 37:14623– 14629.
- Linder, M. C., and M. Hazegh Azam. 1996. Copper biochemistry and molecular biology. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 63:797S–811S.
- Liochev, S. I., A. Hausladen, and I. Fridovich. 1999. Nitroreductase A is regulated as a member of the soxRS regulon of *Escherichia coli*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96:3537–3539.
- Macomber, L., and J. A. Imlay. 2009. The iron-sulfur clusters of dehydratases are primary intracellular targets of copper toxicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106:8344–8349.
- Magnani, D., O. Barré, S. D. Gerber, and M. Solioz. 2008. Characterization of the CopR regulon of *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. J. Bacteriol. 190:536–545.
- Marty-Teysset, C., F. de la Torre, and J. Garel. 2000. Increased production of hydrogen peroxide by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* upon

aeration: involvement of an NADH oxidase in oxidative stress. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:262-267.

- McCoy, A. J., R. W. Grosse-Kunstleve, P. D. Adams, M. D. Winn, L. C. Storoni, and R. J. Read. 2007. Phaser crystallographic software. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 40:658–674.
- McNeish, I. A., N. K. Green, M. G. Gilligan, M. J. Ford, V. Mautner, L. S. Young, D. J. Kerr, and P. F. Searle. 1998. Virus directed enzyme prodrug therapy for ovarian and pancreatic cancer using retrovirally delivered *E. coli* nitroreductase and CB1954. Gene Ther. 5:1061–1069.
- Morokutti, A., A. Lyskowski, S. Sollner, E. Pointner, T. B. Fitzpatrick, C. Kratky, K. Gruber, and P. Macheroux. 2005. Structure and function of YcnD from *Bacillus subtilis*, a flavin-containing oxidoreductase. Biochemistry 44: 13724–13733.
- Mostertz, J., C. Scharf, M. Hecker, and G. Homuth. 2004. Transcriptome and proteome analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* gene expression in response to superoxide and peroxide stress. Microbiology 150:497–512.
- Mukhopadhyay, P., M. Zheng, L. A. Bedzyk, R. A. LaRossa, and G. Storz. 2004. Prominent roles of the NorR and Fur regulators in the Escherichia coli transcriptional response to reactive nitrogen species. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101:745–750.
- Odermatt, A., and M. Solioz. 1995. Two *trans*-acting metalloregulatory proteins controlling expression of the copper-ATPases of *Enterococcus hirae*. J. Biol. Chem. 270:4349–4354.
- Portmann, R., D. Magnani, J. V. Stoyanov, A. Schmechel, G. Multhaup, and M. Solioz. 2004. Interaction kinetics of the copper-responsive CopY repressor with the *cop* promoter of *Enterococcus hirae*. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 9:396–402.
- Sambrook, J., E. F. Fritsch, and T. Maniatis. 1989. Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual, 2nd ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- Schagger, H., and G. von Jagow. 1987. Tricine-sodium dodecyl sulfatepolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis for the separation of proteins in the range from 1 to 100 kDa. Anal. Biochem. 166:368–379.
- Solioz, M., and J. V. Stoyanov. 2003. Copper homeostasis in *Enterococcus hirae*. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27:183–195.
- Stadtman, E. R., B. S. Berlett, and P. B. Chock. 1990. Manganese-dependent disproportionation of hydrogen peroxide in bicarbonate buffer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87:384–388.
- Strausak, D., and M. Solioz. 1997. CopY is a copper-inducible repressor of the *Enterococcus hirae* copper ATPases. J. Biol. Chem. 272:8932–8936.
- Streker, K., C. Freiberg, H. Labischinski, J. Hacker, and K. Ohlsen. 2005. Staphylococcus aureus NfrA (SA0367) is a flavin mononucleotide-dependent

NADPH oxidase involved in oxidative stress response. J. Bacteriol. 187: 2249-2256.

- Takeda, K., M. Iizuka, T. Watanabe, J. Nakagawa, S. Kawasaki, and Y. Niimura. 2007. *Synechocystis* DrgA protein functioning as nitroreductase and ferric reductase is capable of catalyzing the Fenton reaction. FEBS J. 274: 1318–1327.
- Terzaghi, B. E., and W. E. Sandine. 1975. Improved medium for lactic streptococci and their bacteriophages. Appl. Microbiol. 29:807–813.
- Tikhonov, K. G., O. M. Zastrizhnaya, Y. N. Kozlov, and V. V. Klimov. 2006. Composition and catalase-like activity of Mn(II)-bicarbonate complexes. Biochemistry (Mosc.) 71:1270–1277.
- Towbin, H., T. Staehelin, and J. Gordon. 1979. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 76:4350–4354.
- Urbanski, N. K., and A. Beresewicz. 2000. Generation of *OH initiated by interaction of Fe²⁺ and Cu⁺ with dioxygen; comparison with the Fenton chemistry. Acta Biochim. Pol. 47:951–962.
- Uriu-Adams, J. Y., and C. L. Keen. 2005. Copper, oxidative stress, and human health. Mol. Aspects Med. 26:268–298.
- 44. van de Guchte, M., P. Serror, C. Chervaux, T. Smokvina, S. D. Ehrlich, and E. Maguin. 2002. Stress responses in lactic acid bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 82:187–216.
- van Niel, E. W., K. Hofvendahl, and B. Hahn-Hagerdal. 2002. Formation and conversion of oxygen metabolites by *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* ATCC 19435 under different growth conditions. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68:4350– 4356.
- Wang, X. F., and M. S. Cynader. 2001. Pyruvate released by astrocytes protects neurons from copper-catalyzed cysteine neurotoxicity. J. Neurosci. 21:3322–3331.
- Xiao, Y., J. F. Wu, H. Liu, S. J. Wang, S. J. Liu, and N. Y. Zhou. 2006. Characterization of genes involved in the initial reactions of 4-chloronitrobenzene degradation in *Pseudomonas putida* ZWL73. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 73:166–171.
- 48. Zenno, S., H. Koike, A. N. Kumar, R. Jayaraman, M. Tanokura, and K. Saigo. 1996. Biochemical characterization of NfsA, the *Escherichia coli* major nitroreductase exhibiting a high amino acid sequence homology to Frp, a *Vibrio harveyi* flavin oxidoreductase. J. Bacteriol. 178:4508–4514.
- 49. Zenno, S., and K. Saigo. 1994. Identification of the genes encoding NAD(P)H-flavin oxidoreductases that are similar in sequence to *Escherichia coli* Fre in four species of luminous bacteria: *Photorhabdus luminescens*, *Vibrio fischeri*, *Vibrio harveyi*, and *Vibrio orientalis*. J. Bacteriol. 176:3544– 3551.

2) The Copper-Inducible YcfQ Repressor Regulates Expression of the Outer Membrane Protein YcfR and Affects Copper Entry into *Escherichia coli*

Mélanie Mermod^{1,2}, Jivko V. Stoyanov^{1,2}, David Magnani^{1,2} and Marc Solioz²

¹These authors contributed equally ²Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, University of Berne, 3010 Berne, Switzerland

Manuscript for Journal of Biological Chemistry

Abstract

The mechanism of copper entry into *Escherichia coli* is still unknown. In an attempt to identify components involved in this process, a *lux*-based biosensor was utilized to monitor intracellular copper levels *in situ*. From a transposon-mutagenesis library, strains were selected in which copper entry into the cell was reduced, apparent as clones with reduced luminescence (low-glowers) when grown in the presence of copper. One low-glower strain had a transposon insertion in the *ycfQ* gene, which encodes a TetR-like transcriptional regulator. The mutant strain could be complemented by the *ycfQ* gene on a plasmid, restoring luminescence to wild-type levels. YcfQ did not regulate its own expression, but was required for copper-induction of the neighboring, inversely transcribed *ycfR* gene, as shown by real-time quantitative PCR and with a promoter-*lux* fusion. Purified YcfQ bound to the promoter region of the *ycfR* gene *in vitro* and was released by copper and gold, but not by other metals tested. The binding site was mapped to an 80 basepair region upstream of *ycfR*. By membrane fractionation, YcfR with a C-terminal his-tag was shown to be localized in the outer membrane. These findings suggest that YcfQ controls the expression of YcfR, which lowers the permeability of the cytoplasmic membrane for copper.

The Copper-Inducible YcfQ Repressor Regulates Expression of the Outer Membrane Protein YcfR and Affects Copper Entry into *Escherichia coli** Mélanie Mermod¹, Jivko V. Stoyanov¹, David Magnani¹ and Marc Solioz²

From the Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, University of

Berne, 3010 Berne, Switzerland

Running Title: Copper Entry into E. coli

The mechanism of copper entry into Escherichia coli is still unknown. In an attempt to identify components involved in this process, a *lux*-based biosensor was utilized to monitor intracellular copper levels in situ. From a transposonmutagenesis library, strains were selected in which copper entry into the cell was reduced, apparent as clones with reduced luminescence (low-glowers) when grown in the presence of copper. One low-glower strain had a transposon insertion in the *vcfQ* gene, which encodes a TetR-like transcriptional regulator. The mutant strain could be complemented by the *ycfQ* gene on a plasmid, restoring luminescence to wild-type levels. YcfQ did not regulate its own expression, but was required for copper-induction of the neighboring, inversely transcribed *ycfR* gene, as shown by real-time quantitative PCR and with a promoter-lux fusion. Purified YcfQ bound to the promoter region of the *ycfR* gene *in* vitro and was released by copper and gold, but not by other metals tested. The binding site was mapped to an 80 basepair region upstream of ycfR. By membrane fractionation, YcfR with a C-terminal histag was shown to be localized in the outer membrane. These findings suggest that YcfQ controls the expression of YcfR,

which lowers the permeability of the cytoplasmic membrane for copper.

Copper is an essential micronutrient for all living cells. Its chemical reactivity is based on the high redox potential and cells harness this property by incorporating copper as a cofactor into the active site of several enzymes involved in fundamental processes such as energy generation, iron uptake and protection against oxidative stress. Due to its ability to accept and donate electrons. copper can also catalyze unwanted, deleterious reactions and damage cellular components such as DNA, proteins and membranes. In a Fenton type reaction highly reactive hydroxyl radicals are generated and oxidize proteins and lipids (1). Copper may also catalyze the production of hydrogen peroxide. Therefore, protective mechanisms against copper toxicity are a necessity ...

Cells developed various copper resistance including mechanisms, extracellular sequestration, intracellular routing, and efficient export. All these components of copper homeostasis have to be tightly regulated. In prokaryotic organisms, copper mainly homeostasis is effected by intracellular complexation of copper by metallochaperones specialized and metallothionein-like proteins, and by copper efflux ATPases (2, 3).

Copper homeostasis in Escherichia coli consists of several systems (4). A key component is the Cu(I) transporting ATPase, CopA. It detoxifies the cytoplasm by extruding excess intracellular copper (5, 6). This important pump is induced by copper via the action of CueR, a MerR-like transcription activator, which senses copper in the zeptomolar range (7-11). CopA pumps copper from the cytoplasm to the periplasmic space. There, a multi-copper oxidase, CueO, and a copper transport system, CusCFBA, safeguard the periplasm against copper toxicity by exporting periplasmic copper (4, 12). CueO, which is also under the control of the CueR regulator, has cuprous oxidase activity and can oxidize Cu^+ to Cu^{2+} , thus rendering it less toxic (13). Enterobactin, a catechol siderophore of E. coli, is very toxic to the cell in the presence of copper. CueO can oxidize enterobactin which, in its oxidized form, sequesters copper and contributes to the detoxification of the periplasm (14).

The CusCFBA system is essential in providing copper resistance under anaerobic presumably conditions, because the accessory CueO copper resistance mechanism cannot operate in the absence of oxygen (15, 16). The cusCFBA operon is induced by copper via the CusRS twocomponent regulatory system. The combined operation of CopA, CueO, CusCBA, and their respective regulators, provide efficient copper homeostasis in E. coli (2).

Currently, there is no information about the copper entry mechanisms of *E. coli*. We addressed this question by using a plasmidborne biosensor which responds to cytoplasmic copper levels. It consisted of the lux gene cluster of Vibrio fischeri, placed under the control of the E. coli copA promoter (17). The biosensor responds to an increase in extracellular copper by an luminescence. increase in It was hypothesized that E. coli mutants with reduced copper influx would contain reduced levels of cytoplasmic copper, which would result in reduced luminescence of such clones. A transposon mutant library of E. coli was screened for clones with decreased luminescence. One such 'low glower' contained a transposon insertion in the ycfQ gene, which encodes a regulator for the vcfRgene. YcfR is a 85 amino acid outer membrane protein which appears to control the permeability to copper.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Generation of Transposon Library—E. coli Top10 electrocompetent cells (Invitrogen) were electroporated with a GenePulser (BioRad) at 1.8 kV and a 200 Ω serial resistor with 1 µl of EZ:TN<DHFR-1> transposon (Epicentre Technologies), suspended in 1 ml of SOC medium (2 % trypticase peptone (BBL), 0.5 % yeast extract (BBL), 10 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl; 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM MgSO₄, 0.2 % glucose (added after autoclaving), and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C with shaking, followed by plating on LB agar plates (18), supplemented with 10 µg/ml of trimethoprim. Following incubated at 37 °C for 36 hours, 8.3×10^3 colonies containing a transposon insert were obtained. The colonies were washed off the plates and

aliquots of this transposon library were frozen in 25 % glycerol at -80 °C.

Mutant Selection—Of the transposon library, electrocompetent cells were prepared and electroporated with the biosensor pUA615 (17) as described (18). Cells were plated on LB plates containing 50 μ g/ml of kanamycin and 3 mM of CuSO₄. After overnight incubation at 37 °C, luminescence of the colonies was recorded with a cooled CCD camera (LAS1000, Fuji). Images were inspected for strongly glowing colonies (high-glowers) and faintly glowing colonies (low-glowers). Clones of interest were subcloned for further use.

Identification of Transposon Insertion Wizard Sites—The Genomic DNA Purification kit (Promega) was used to isolate genomic DNA from 1 ml overnight cultures according to the manufacturer's instructions. Single primer PCR was used to generate PCR products spanning the junction bv transposon-genome PCR amplification with a single primer, DHFR RP (5'-GACACTCTGTTATTACAAATCG) (5'-DHFR FP or GGCGGAAACATTGGATGCGG),

complementary to the transposon. PCR amplifications were conducted with 5 U of LA Taq polymerase (Takara) according to manufacturers instructions and the following thermal cycling: 95 °C for 5 min, 60 cycles of 95 °C for 30 s, 55 °C for 30 s, and 72 °C for 3 min, followed by 72°C for 5 min. The PCR products were separated on 0.7 % agarose gels and the DNA extracted from the gels, using the Qiagen gel purification kit as described by the manufacturer. The DNA fragments were submitted to a commercial sequencing service (Microsynth, Balgach, Switzerland), using the primers DHFR RP-1 (5'-ATCGTGCATGCCGTCTATCC) and DHFR FP-1 (5'-CTGCAGGCATGCAAGCTTCA), which were nested relative to the PCR amplification primers.

Cloning of ycfQ—A YcfQ expression vector was constructed by PCR amplification of the ycfQ open reading frame from genomic DNA, using the primers ycfQHisF (5'-

TAGGCGCCGCAACTGACTCAACACAA TGTG) **ycfQHisR** (5'and TATTCTAGATTATTTCACCAGTTCGGG CCA). The resultant PCR product was cut with XbaI and NarI and ligated into the histidine-tag expression vector pProExHTa (Invitrogen) to yield an N-terminal 6x histidine-*ycfQ* fusion gene containing a cleavage site for rTEV protease for tag removal. The resultant expression vector pProExYcfQ was verified by sequencing. Cleaved YcfQ had the N-terminal methionine replace by gly-ala.

Luminescence Assays—Cultures of 5 ml LB media were grown aerobically at 37 °C to an OD_{595} of 0.5, and induced for 1 h with CuSO₄ as indicated in the experiments. Luminescence was measure in 0.3 ml aliquots of culture in 96-well microtiter plates, using a cooled CCD camera (LAS1000, Fuji) and quantified with the AIDA image analyses software (Raytest).

Purification of YcfQ—Histidine-tagged YcfQ was overexpressed in *E. coli* by growing cells aerobically to mid-log phase in LB at 7 °C, followed by induction with 5 mM isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactoside for 2 h. Cells were collected by centrifugation, disrupted with a French press, and the cleared cell lysate applied to a Ni-NTA agarose column (Qiagen). The column was washed with 50 ml 20 mM imidazole, 50 mM Na-HEPES, pH 7.4, followed by elution of his₆-YcfQ in 5 ml of 200 mM imidazole in the same buffer. The protein was desalted by dialysis against 50 mM Na-HEPES, pH 7.4. The histidine tag of 1 mg of protein in 1 ml was cleaved with 100 U of rTEV protease (Invitrogen) by incubation for 2 h at 30 °C and overnight at 4 °C and the cleaved tag was removed by ultrafiltration on an Amicon ultrafiltration device, using a membrane with a cut-off of 10 kDa. One hundredth volume of a protease inhibitor cocktail (100 mM N- α -p-tosyl-L-lysine-chloromethyl ketone, 100 mМ N-p-tosyl-L-phenylalaninechloromethylketone, 100 mM paminobenzamidine, 100 mM phenyl-methyldissolved sulfonyl-fluoride in dimethylsulfoxide) was added to the final preparation to prevent degradation.

RNA Isolation and cDNA Synthesis— Mid-log aerobic cultures in LB media were induced as indicated under Results for 1 h at 37 °C and RNA was isolated from 1 ml aliquots, using the Qiagen RNeasy miniprep column kit according to the manufacturer's procedure, including treatment with DNase I (RNase-free) for 1 h at 37 °C. RNasin (100 U/sample, Promega) was added and the RNA stored at -80 °C. The quality of the RNA was checked on 1.2 % agaroseformaldehyde gels. cDNA was transcribed from 1 μ g of RNA using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (BioRad) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Real-Time Quantitative PCR ${}^{3}(qPCR)$ qPCR was performed with the SYBR Premix Ex Taq (Takara) in a LightCycler 1.5 (Roche). The PCR products were analyzed for specificity and homogeneity by melting curve analysis and electrophoresis on 1% agarose gels. The primers used were ycfQFq (5'-CGCCCAAAAGTGTTCGACAG) and (5'vcfQRq CTTTGTTGGTAAATTCCGCG) and ycfRF (5'-AGTTCAGTCAACGCCAGAAG) and (5'vcfRR ATTCGGACCGGTTACAGAAG). То normalize the qPCR results, the E. coli 16 S cDNA was amplified with primers 16SF (5'-TGAAGAGTTTGATCATGGCT) and 16SR 5'-CGTTTCCAGTAGTTATCCCC).

Reaction conditions were as follows: 95 °C for 10 s, followed by 40 cycles of 61 °C for 20 s, 72 °C for 45 s, and 95 °C for 6 s.

Construction of a ycfR promoter-lux Fusion—A 241 bp fragment of the ycfR promoter region was amplified by PCR with the primers PycfQF (5'-TAATAGTGGCCTTATGCAGA) and PycfQR (5'-

GATGCCGTTGTACCTGGTGA),

phosphorylated with polynucleotide kinase, and ligated into pUCD615 (19), which had been cut with *Eco*RI and *Bam*HI, made blunt-ended with Klenow DNA polymerase (Roche) and dephosphorylated with alkaline phosphatase (New England Biolab). The resulting plasmid, pPycfR-lux, had the *ycfR* promoter region cloned in front of the *lux* gene cluster of *Alivibrio fischeri*.

Electrophoretic mobility-shift assays (*EMSA*)—PCR product of the *ycfQ-ycfR* intergenic region were amplified from *E. coli* genomic DNA using LA Taq polymerase (Takara) and the primers F1 (5'-TAATAGTGGCCTTATGCAGA), F2 (5'-TCGCAAGCAATTACTTAACG-3'), F3
(5'-GTGATCTGGATCACATACAA-3'),

F4 (5'-ATGGGATCTGGACTGGTGAA-3'), R1 (5'-GATGCCGTTGTACCTGGTGA), R2 (5'-ATCACCTCCGTTCACCAGTC-3'), R3 (5'-ACCAGTCCAGATCCCATAAA), and R4 (5'-GTGATCCAGATCACATCTAT-3').

EMSA were performed according to Parkhill *et al.* (1993). Briefly, DNA and purified YcfQ were incubated in 10 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 100 mM K-glutamate, 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM CaCl₂, 5% glycerol, 1 mM DTT, 100 μ g/ml BSA for 15 min at 20 °C and then applied to 8% vertical polyacrylamide gels in 40 mM Tris-acetate, pH 8, 1 mM EDTA, pre-run at 150 V for 30 min at 25°C. Gels were stained with SYBR Green I (Invitrogen) according to manufacturers protocol and images recorded with a CCD camera under UV light.

Disruption of ycfR—The ycfR gene was inactivated by using the commercial Targetron gene knockout system (Sigma Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Targeted disruption was verified by PCR amplification and sequencing of the corresponding genomic region.

Localization of YcfR—A C-terminal vcfR-V5-6xhis fusion was generated by PCR amplification of genomic E. coli DNA with primer ms100 (5'-CACCATGAAAAACGTAAAAACCCTCA TC) ms101 (5'and TTTATAAATTACTGCTGTTCCATGGAG). The PCR product was ligated into pET101 with the D-Topo kit from Invitrogen according to the manufacturer's instructions, resulting in pETR103. which verified by sequencing and transformed into E. coli BL21(DE3)RIL (Invitrogen) as described before. Cells were grown aerobically at 37 °C in 400 ml of LB media to mid-log phase and induced with 1 mM isopropyl- β -Dthiogalactoside for 2 h. Cells were collected, washed once with 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaPi, pH 7,4, and disrupted with a French press. Debris was collected by centrifugation for 10 min at 8,000 x g and the membranes were pelleted from the supernatant by centrifugation for 1 h at 100,000 x g. Membranes were suspended in 1 ml of 50 Na-HEPES. pH 7. and 5 mg mМ fractionated on a 30 to 60% sucrose gradient as described (20). Inner membrane NADH oxidase was assayed by measuring NADH oxidation at 340 nm and outer membrane phospholipase A was assay with a kit from Shizuoka (Japan). YcfR-V5-6xhis was determined by Western blotting as described (21), using histidine-antibody (Qiagen).

RESULTS

To identify genes involved in copper influx into E. coli, we randomly mutagenized cells with a transposon to obtain a random knock-out library. This library was transformed with the biosensor pUA615, which consists of the *lux* operon of *Alivibrio* fischeri under the control of the E. coli copA promoter (17). This allowed in situ intracellular monitoring of copper concentrations by luminescence. Colonies of a transposon library exposed to 1 mM copper were screened for colonies with reduced luminescence (low-glowers, Fig. 1). Several low-glowers were analyzed for the gene defect. Most of them had transposon insertions in genes which control plasmid

copy number, thus reducing the gene-dosage of the biosensor, or were in genetic regions of undefined function. One low-glower of particular interest had a transposon insertion in the *ycfQ* gene, which encodes a TetR-like transcription regulator. We also isolated two high-glowers which both had a transposon insertion in the *copA* gene, which encodes the CopA copper export ATPase. The $\Delta ycfQ$ low-glower was studied in more detail here.

The low-glowing phenotype of the $\Delta ycfQ$ mutant was confirmed in liquid media at different copper concentrations (Fig. 2). Luminescence of the $\Delta ycfQ$ strain was maximal at 2 mM copper and was 3-fold lower than in the wild-type. The reduced luminescence of the $\Delta ycfQ$ strain suggests that this mutant has lower cytoplasmic copper levels than the wild-type when exposed to copper.

Inspection of the genomic region around gene revealed that it is vcfO the monocistronic, but is juxtaposed to the divergently transcribed *vcfR* gene. The function of the 85 amino acid protein encoded by *vcfR* is unknown. There is a 241 bp putative promoter region located between *ycfR* and *ycfQ*. The expression levels of *ycfQ* and y_{cfR} in response to copper were as assessed by qPCR. Expression of ycfQ was not significantly stimulated by copper (Fig. induced 3). In contrast. vcfR was approximately 30-fold by 3 mM copper. No significant induction by copper of the other nearby up- and downstream genes ndh, ycfJ, ycfM, ycfO, ycfP, ycfS, and ycfT was observed (not shown).

To confirm the copper-induction of the ycfR promoter, the 241 bp intergenic region upstream of the ycfR gene was cloned into a

lux reporter plasmid and luminescence was recorded as a function of added copper. Copper induced luminescence maximally 30fold at 2 mM copper (Fig. 4). Induction of luminescence by copper thus qualitatively agrees with copper-induction of the *ycfR* mRNA as measured by qPCR.

To test the interaction of the putative YcfQ repressor with the ycfR promoter, YcfQ was expressed in E. coli as a histagged protein and purified to homogeneity (Fig. 5). YcfQ with the his-tag cleaved with rTEV was used for EMSA with the 241 bp intergenic region. Increasing amounts of YcfQ resulted in an increasing fraction of the DNA forming a YcfQ-DNA complex of low electrophoretic mobility (Fig. 6A, band near the top of the gel). At a molar YcfQ/DNA ratio of 64, the DNA was quantitatively shifted to lower mobility. Copper, silver, and gold released YcfQ from DNA, but also formed some protein aggregates of intermediate mobility, apparent as dark of intermediate smears electrophoretic mobility (Fig. 6B). Cobalt, cadmium, and nickel did not dissociate YcfQ from the DNA. Thus, copper appears to be the physiological inducer of YcfQ.

The binding region of YcfQ on the 241 bp fragment used in Fig. 6 was narrowed down by testing a set of PCR fragments for the interaction with YcfQ (Fig. 7A). This delineated an approximately 40 bp YcfQ binding region extending from -70 to -30 relative to the *ycfR* gene; copper dissociated YcfQ from this binding region (Fig. 7B), corroborating that ycfR is under the control of YcfQ and copper.

Taken together, our findings so far suggest that ycfR is under the control of the

copper-inducible repressor YcfQ. Knock-out of *ycfQ* results in constitutive expression of YcfR, which is accompanied by reduced copper entry into cells and the low-glower phenotype of the $\Delta ycfQ$ mutant. To demonstrate a direct effect of YcfR on copper entry into the cytoplasm, a $\Delta ycfR$ strain was constructed. As expected, growth of the $\Delta ycfR$ mutant was more sensitive to copper, compared to the wild type (Fig. 8). This supports that YcfR expression directly affects copper entry into cells.

bioinformatics Bv tools. YcfR is predicted to be an outer membrane protein with a 21 or 22 amino acid N-terminal signal sequence. The membrane localization of YcfR was determined by expressing a fusion protein with a C-terminal V5-6xhis tag from a plasmid. Outer and inner membranes were separated by sucrose gradient centrifugation and YcfR was localized by Western blotting, using an anti-histidine antibody. The band corresponding YcfR-V5-6his to predominantly co-localized with the highest activity of phospholipase A, a marker for outer membranes, at a density of 1.23 to 1.26 g/ml (Fig. 9). However, there was also some phospholipase A activity co-migrating with the NADH oxidase marker for inner membranes at a density of 1.14 to 1.17 g/ml, as there was some NADH oxidase activity co-migrating with phospholipase A. This cross-over of activities indicates incomplete membrane separation; however, better separation could not be achieved in several attempts, possibly due to the formation of mosaic membrane vesicles in the cell disruption process. The presence of small amounts of YcfR in most gradient fractions would support this notion. Also, using F_1F_0 - ATPase activity as an alternative inner membrane marker vielded essentially identical results (not shown). Nevertheless, support an outer these data strongly localization of membrane YcfR. An approximately 2 kDa smaller degradation product of unknown nature was also present the fractions. This could represent cleavage of an N-terminal YcfR signal sequence, which was only partial under the highconditions expression used in this experiment.

Taken together, we here identify YcfR as an outer membrane protein under the control of the novel copper-responsive repressor YcfQ. The YcfRQ system appears to control copper influx into the cytoplasm in response to copper. Future studies will have to address the mechanism of copper-induction of YcfQ. It will also be of interest to investigate if YcfQ only controls *ycfR*, or also other genes, and to what extent the YcfRQ system is involved in other stress phenomena.

DISCUSSION

Since it is still unknown how copper enters E. coli cells, we here used transposon mutagenesis in combination with a biosensor to identify mutants with altered copper properties. This led to uptake the identification of a low-glower with a transposon insertion in the vcfO transcriptional regulator. YcfQ is predicted to encode a 210 amino acid protein resembling TetR transcriptional regulator. TetR represses transcription by the binding of a homodimer to the promoter. Upon binding of the inducer, Mg^{2+} -tetracyclin, the protein undergoes a conformational change which

lowers its DNA binding affinity and allows transcription to proceed (23).

An obvious candidate gene for regulation by YcfQ was, *ycfR*, a divergently transcribed gene 241 bp upstream of ycfQ. YcfR mRNA was strongly induced by copper in vivo, while *ycfQ* transcription was not significantly affected by copper. Transcription levels of the other nearby upand downstream genes *ndh*, *ycfJ*, *ycfM*, *ycfO*, ycfP, ycfS, and ycfT were not notably influenced by copper. Direct regulation of ycfR by YcfQ was substantiated by the binding of YcfQ to an approximately 40 bp region of the *ycfR* promoter *in vitro*. Copper released YcfQ from the DNA, in line with a function of YcfQ as a copper-inducible repressor of the *ycfR* gene. In line with this, copper induced luminescence of a reporter plasmid with a *ycfR* promoter-*lux* fusion. Taken together, these findings provide evidence that YcfQ is a novel, copperinducible repressor which regulates expression of ycfR. Induction of the YcfQ repressor by copper of course suggests that the repressor binds copper. Modeling of the structure of YcfQ with SWISS-MODEL yielded a TetR-like structure with a potential copper binding site formed by Cys-117, Met-119, Cys-123, and Gln-179. Future studies will address the structure and copper binding of YcfQ.

The copper-induction of ycfR of course raised the question of what the function of this small, 9 kDa protein is. A C-terminal 6xhis-V5-fusion of YcfR was shown to be primarily localized in the outer membrane, as assessed with an anti-histidine antibody and corresponding inner and outer membrane markers in density gradientfractionated membranes. Increased levels of YcfR in the outer membrane appear to make the membrane less permeable to copper, as apparent by the low-glower phenotype of the *ycfQ* mutant (constitutive YcfR expression) and the increased copper sensitivity of a $\Delta ycfR$ knock-out strain.

In various microarray studies, ycfR was found to be induced 25-fold by 25 µM cadmium [(24), copper was not found to induce *vcfR*, although the report relied on a single dataset], during a pH-shift from 8.7 to 5 (25), a heat-shock of 50 °C for 7 min (26), treatment with 5 mM sodium salicylate (27), mM hydrogen peroxide (28). More 1 recently, YcfR was also reported to be involved in biofilm formation (29). It was found that *ycfR*-deletion rendered cell more hydrophobic, increased cell aggregation, and sensitivity to acid, heat, hydrogen peroxide, and cadmium. Deleting ycfR also decreased the expression of a range of membrane proteins and made cells to more readily form biofilms in glucose-containing media. It remains unclear to what extent YcfR was involved in these phenotypic changes, as the expression levels of other outer membrane proteins were also affected by the ycfRdeletion.

Based on bioinformatics, the promoter region of ycfR had been predicted to contain a binding site for the cAMP response protein (CRP), which is a global regulator involved in catabolite repression (30). CRP-binding to a 259 bp DNA fragment upstream of ycfR was also shown experimentally (29). In addition, ycfR induction by cadmium was shown to be lower in an *rpoE* mutant (24). RpoE of *E. coli* functions in general stress response and controls the extracytoplasmic

function protein family (proteins involved in maintaining the integrity of periplasmic and outer membrane components (24). These findings suggested that ycfR expression is modulated by the global regulators RpoE and CRP, in addition to the copper-dependent regulation by YcfQ shown here. However, induction of ycfR by copper via YcfQ is much more pronounced than the effects described for RpoE and CRP and we assume that copper-induction of ycfR is the principal regulation of this gene.

It has been proposed by Zhang et al. to rename ycfR to *bhsA*, for influencing <u>b</u>iofilm through <u>h</u>ydrophobicity and <u>s</u>tress response (29). We consider this renaming premature as YcfR influenced the sensitivity of cells to copper in the present study. Conceivably, YcfR functions as a scaffolding or tethering protein in the outer membrane.

In line with a periplasmic function of YcfR, related proteins could not be found in Gram-positive bacteria by a BLAST search, while the genomes of most, if not all, Gram-negative bacteria encode proteins with 50 to 90% sequence identity to YcfR. Thus, YcfR-like proteins may be a typical feature of outer membranes and thus a universal feature of Gram-negative organisms. The wide-spread occurrence of YcfR-like proteins contrasts with the lack of information on the localization, structure, and function of this family of proteins and further work on YcfR-like proteins is required.

REFERENCES

- 1. Yoshida, Y., Furuta, S., and Niki, E. (1993) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1210, 81-88
- 2. Nies, D. H. (2003) FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27, 313-339
- Harrison, M. D., Jones, C. E., Solioz, M., and Dameron, C. T. (2000) *Trends Biochem.* Sci. 25, 29-32
- 4. Rensing, C., and Grass, G. (2003) FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27, 197-213
- 5. Rensing, C., Fan, B., Sharma, R., Mitra, B., and Rosen, B. P. (2000) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **97**, 652-656
- 6. Rosen, J., and Hellenas, K. E. (2002) Analyst 127, 880-882
- 7. Rae, T. D., Schmidt, P. J., Pufahl, R. A., Culotta, V. C., and O'Halloran, T. V. (1999) *Science* **284**, 805-808
- 8. Stoyanov, J. V., Hobman, J. L., and Brown, N. L. (2001) Mol. Microbiol. 39, 502-512
- Outten, F. W., Outten, C. E., Hale, J., and O'Halloran, T. V. (2000) J. Biol. Chem. 275, 31024-31029
- 10. Petersen, C., and Moller, L. B. (2000) Gene 261, 289-298
- Changela, A., Chen, K., Xue, Y., Holschen, J., Outten, C. E., O'Halloran, T. V., and Mondragon, A. (2003) *Science* **301**, 1383-1387
- 12. Franke, S., Grass, G., Rensing, C., and Nies, D. H. (2003) J. Bacteriol. 185, 3804-3812
- Singh, S. K., Grass, G., Rensing, C., and Montfort, W. R. (2004) J. Bacteriol. 186, 7815-7817
- Grass, G., Thakali, K., Klebba, P. E., Thieme, D., Muller, A., Wildner, G. F., and Rensing, C. (2004) J. Bacteriol. 186, 5826-5833
- Munson, G. P., Lam, D. L., Outten, F. W., and O'Halloran, T. V. (2000) J. Bacteriol. 182, 5864-5871
- Outten, F. W., Huffman, D. L., Hale, J. A., and O'Halloran, T. V. (2001) J. Biol. Chem. 276, 30670-30677
- 17. Stoyanov, J. V., and Brown, N. L. (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278, 1407-1410
- 18. Ausubel, R. M., Brent, R., Kingston, R. E., Moore, D. D., Smith, J. A., and Struhl, K. (1995)

- 19. Rogowsky, P. M., Close, T. J., Chimera, J. A., Shaw, J. J., and Kado, C. I. (1987) *J. Bacteriol.* **169**, 5101-5112
- 20. Bishop, R. E., Gibbons, H. S., Guina, T., Trent, M. S., Miller, S. I., and Raetz, C. R. (2000) *EMBO J.* **19**, 5071-5080
- 21. Towbin, H., Staehelin, T., and Gordon, J. (1979) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **76**, 4350-4354
- 22. Andersson, H., and Von Heijne, G. (1994) EMBO J. 13, 2267-2272
- 23. Orth, P., Schnappinger, D., Hillen, W., Saenger, W., and Hinrichs, W. (2000) Nat. Struct. Biol. 7, 215-219
- 24. Egler, M., Grosse, C., Grass, G., and Nies, D. H. (2005) J. Bacteriol. 187, 2297-2307
- 25. Maurer, L. M., Yohannes, E., Bondurant, S. S., Radmacher, M., and Slonczewski, J. L. (2005) J. Bacteriol. 187, 304-319
- 26. Richmond, C. S., Glasner, J. D., Mau, R., Jin, H., and Blattner, F. R. (1999) *Nucleic Acids Res.* 27, 3821-3835
- 27. Pomposiello, P. J., Bennik, M. H., and Demple, B. (2001) J. Bacteriol. 183, 3890-3902
- 28. Zheng, M., Wang, X., Templeton, L. J., Smulski, D. R., LaRossa, R. A., and Storz, G. (2001) J. Bacteriol. 183, 4562-4570
- 29. Zhang, X. S., Garcia-Contreras, R., and Wood, T. K. (2007) J. Bacteriol. 189, 3051-3062
- 30. Brown, C. T., and Callan, C. G., Jr. (2004) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 101, 2404-2409

FOOTNOTES

*We thank Thomas Weber for expert technical assistance. This work was supported by grant 3100A0_122551 from the Swiss National Foundation and grants from the International Copper Association and the Swiss State Secretary for Education & Research.

¹These authors contributed equally

²Address correspondence to: Marc Solioz, Dept. of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, Murtenstrasse 35, 3010 Berne, Switzerland, Tel. 0041 31 632 3268; Fax 0041 31 632 4997; E-Mail: marc.solioz@ikp.unibe.ch

³The abbreviations use are: qPCR, real-time quantitative PCR; EMSA, electrophoretic mobility-shift assay.

FIGURE LEGENDS

FIGURE 1. Luminescence of colonies. Transposon-mutagenized cells containing the *lux* biosensor were plated on LB agar plates with 1 mM CuSO₄ and grown for 14 h at 37 °C. The luminescence of colonies was recorded with a cooled CCD camera. The left *arrow* points to a high-glower, the right *arrow* to a low-glower colony.

FIGURE 2. Quantitative luminescence assays. Luminescence was recorded in liquid media for the $\Delta ycfQ$ strain (\circ) and the wild-type (\bullet) at different CuSO₄ concentrations. The error bars indicate the standard deviations of three independent experiments.

FIGURE 3. Induction of *ycfQ* and *ycfR* by copper. The expression of *ycfQ* (\circ) and the *ycfR* (\bullet) gene was determined by qPCR at a range of CuSO₄ concentrations. The error bars indicate the standard deviations of three independent experiments.

FIGURE 4. Luminescence assay with a *ycfR* promoter-*lux* reporter plasmid. *E. coli* DH5 α containing the reporter plasmid pPycfR-lux was exposed to different CuSO₄ concentrations in LB media and the luminescence was measured with a cooled CCD camera. The error bars indicate the standard deviation of three independent experiments.

FIGURE 5. **Purification of YcfQ. Overexpression of the YcfQ protein.** Coomassie bluestained SDS gel of the various fractions of the purification of YcfQ. *Lane 1*, marker with the molecular weights indicated in kDa; *lane 2*, cleared lysate of uninduced culture; *lane 3*, cleared lysate of culture induced for 2 h with 1 mM isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactoside; *lane 4*, flow-through of Ni-NTA column; *lanes 5 and 6*, column washes with wash buffer; *lane 7*, column eluate with 200 mM imidazole. The *arrow* indicates the migration of recombinant his-YcfQ.

FIGURE 6. **EMSA of ycfR promoter region with purified YcfQ.** *A*. A 241 bp *ycfR* promoter fragment (0.4 pmol) was incubated with purified YcfQ at the molar YcfQ/promoter ratios indicated in the Figure, separated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, stained with SYBR green and the gel photographed under UV light. *B*. EMSA with the *ycfR* promoter fragment without YcfQ (-*Q*), or with a 24-fold molar excess of YcfQ, but no metal (-Me), or with YcfQ and 50 μ M of the metal ions indicated below the lanes. The following salts were used: CuSO₄, AgNO₃, AuCl₃, CoCl₂, CdSO₄, and NiSO₄. Other conditions were as in *A*.

FIGURE 7. **Mapping of the YcfQ binding region.** *A*. Intergenic region between ycfQ and ycfR, with the starts of these genes indicated by *arrows*. The PCR fragments depicted by bold horizontal lines were generated with the primers listed on the left. Interaction with YcfQ is indicated by + and - signs on the right. *B*. EMSA with the PCR fragment shown in *A*. DNA fragments (0.4 pmol) were incubated either without YcfQ (-), a 24-fold molar excess of YcfQ (+), and without (-) or with (+) 50 μ M CuSO₄. Other details of the experiment were as in Fig. 6.

FIGURE 8. Growth inhibition by copper of wild-type and $\Delta ycfR$ cells. Wild-type E. coli (A) or the $\Delta ycfR$ mutant (B) was grown in LB media, supplemented with no copper (\bullet), 0.5 mM (\circ), 1 mM (∇), 1.5 mM (∇), 2 mM (\blacksquare)or 2.5 mM (\square) CuSO₄. The error bars show the standard deviations of three independent experiments.

FIGURE 9. Membrane localization of YcfR. A. E. coli membranes were separated on a 30 to 60% (w/v) sucrose gradient and fractionated from the top. Fractions were assayed for the inner membrane marker NADH oxidase (\circ), the outer membrane marker phospholipase A (\bullet), and the density (Δ). B. Western blot showing the presence of YcfR in the fractions of A. The *arrow* indicates the position of the YcfR-V5-6xhis fusion protein and the scale on the right indicates the migration of molecular weight standards in kDa.

Figure 1



Figure 2





Figure 4



Figure 5



Figure 6





F1-R1 F1-R2 F1-R3 F1-R4 F2-R1 F3-R1 F4-R1 F3-R2 F3-R3



41



3) Response of Gram-positive bacteria to copper stress

Marc Solioz¹, Helge K. Abicht¹, Mélanie Mermod¹, and Stefano Mancini¹

¹Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, University of Berne, 3010 Berne, Switzerland

Minireview, published in Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry, 2010, 15, 3-14

Abstract

The Gram-positive bacteria *Enterococcus hirae*, *Lactococcus lactis*, and *Bacillus subtilis* have received wide attention in the study of copper homeostasis. Consequently, copper extrusion by ATPases, gene regulation by copper, and intracellular copper chaperoning are understood in some detail. This has provided profound insight into basic principles of how organisms handle copper. It also emerged that many bacterial species may not require copper for life, making copper homeostatic systems pure defense mechanisms. Structural work on copper homeostatic proteins has given insight into copper coordination and bonding and has started to give molecular insight into copper handling in biological systems. Finally, recent biochemical work has shed new light on the mechanism of copper toxicity, which may not primarily be mediated by reactive oxygen radicals.

MINIREVIEW

Response of Gram-positive bacteria to copper stress

Marc Solioz · Helge K. Abicht · Mélanie Mermod · Stefano Mancini

Received: 12 August 2009/Accepted: 1 September 2009/Published online: 23 September 2009 © SBIC 2009

Abstract The Gram-positive bacteria Enterococcus hirae, Lactococcus lactis, and Bacillus subtilis have received wide attention in the study of copper homeostasis. Consequently, copper extrusion by ATPases, gene regulation by copper, and intracellular copper chaperoning are understood in some detail. This has provided profound insight into basic principles of how organisms handle copper. It also emerged that many bacterial species may not require copper for life, making copper homeostatic systems pure defense mechanisms. Structural work on copper homeostatic proteins has given insight into copper coordination and bonding and has started to give molecular insight into copper handling in biological systems. Finally, recent biochemical work has shed new light on the mechanism of copper toxicity, which may not primarily be mediated by reactive oxygen radicals.

Keywords Copper homeostasis · Toxicity · Copper ATPases · Gene regulation · Copper chaperones

Introduction

The differentiation of bacteria into Gram-positive and Gram-negative organisms by Gram staining, a method developed by the Danish scientist Hans Christian Gram in

1884, has remained alive to this day. This is due to the fact that Gram staining conveniently differentiates between organisms with an inner and an outer cell membrane and a cell wall between (Gram-negative) and those with only a single cell membrane surrounded by the cell wall (Grampositive). Traditionally, Gram-positive organisms are of the phyla Actinobacteria and Firmicutes; the latter includes the genera Bacillales, Clostridia, Lactobacillales, and Mollicutes. Some Mollicutes (e.g. Mycoplasma) lack a cell walls and thus cannot be Gram-stained, but phylogenetically belong to the Gram-positive bacteria. Since very little is known about their copper metabolism, they will not be further discussed here. Actinobacteria is the other major group of Gram-positive bacteria. In contrast to the members of Firmicutes, members of Actinobacteria have a high guanosine plus cytosine content in their genomes. Members of Firmicutes are acid-tolerant, mostly nonsporulating, and generally facultative anaerobic bacteria. Gram-positive organisms in general occupy a variety of habitats, ranging from soil and water to decomposing plants and mammalian gut or oral flora, thereby also being potentially pathogenic [1].

Of the Gram-positive bacteria, lactic acid bacteria have received the widest attention owing to their extensive use in food production and preservation. The eponymous trait of these organisms, namely, the production of acid during carbohydrate fermentation, generates a very acidic environment [2]. This is often accompanied by the secretion of bacteriocins, such as nisin. Bacteriocins are proteinaceous toxins which inhibit the growth of similar or closely related bacterial strains. The combined action of low pH and bacteriocins efficiently inhibits the growth of competing bacteria, a property which is made use of in food preservation [3]. However, the acidic ambient condition can lead to the solubilization of complexed metal ions, thus

This article will be printed in the upcoming Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry special issue CELL BIOLOGY OF COPPER.

<sup>M. Solioz (⊠) · H. K. Abicht · M. Mermod · S. Mancini
Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research,</sup> University of Berne,
Murtenstrasse 35,
3010 Berne, Switzerland
e-mail: marc.solioz@ikp.unibe.ch

generating unfavorably high metal ion concentrations. For example, in traditional cheese making, mostly involving members of the genus Lactococcus, the cells are challenged by copper released from the copper vats [4]. Copper is one of the metal ions known to exert toxic effects on bacteria and other organisms. Excess copper avidly binds to many biomolecules such as proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids, regardless of its valence state [5]. But in contrast to other toxic metals such as silver and lead, copper is also an essential trace nutrient. Bacteria therefore evolved tight copper homeostatic control mechanisms, involving copper binding and transport and the regulation of gene expression by copper. Work chiefly on Enterococcus hirae, Lactococcus lactis, and Bacillus subtilis has provided profound insight into basic principles of how Gram-positive organisms handle copper. Key aspects of copper handling by Gram-positive organisms will be discussed in this review.

Copper as a bioelement

Because of copper's ability to cycle between Cu^{2+} and Cu⁺ at biologically relevant redox potentials, it has become a cofactor for over 30 known enzymes in higher organisms [6]. Prominent examples are lysyl oxidase, involved in the cross-linking of collagen, tyrosinase, required for melanin synthesis, dopamine β -hydroxylase of the catecholamine pathway, cytochrome c oxidase as a terminal electron acceptor of the respiratory chain, and superoxide dismutase, required for defense against oxidative damage. Members of another class of copper proteins, such as plastocyanins and azurins, act as electron carriers. Depending on the type of coordination of the copper to the protein, the redox potential can vary over the range from 200 to 800 mV. Concomitant with the lower complexity of bacteria, only ten cuproenzymes have so far been characterized in microbes (Table 1). However, it is likely that many cuproenzymes have not yet been identified in eukaryotes as well as in prokaryotes.

Engumo

In the primordial, anaerobic world, copper was in the Cu(I) state in the form of water-insoluble sulfides under neutral pH conditions and was only bioavailable in the acidic waters near hydrothermal vents. The emergence of an oxygen-containing atmosphere by the action of oxygenevolving microorganisms, probably cyanobacteria, less than 3×10^9 years ago was a dramatic event for most living organisms [17]. It could be considered as an early, irreversible pollution of the earth. Most living organisms adapted to the new conditions by acquiring an oxidative metabolism. Enzymes involved in anaerobic metabolism were designed to operate in the lower portion of the redox spectrum. The arrival of dioxygen created the need for a new redox-active metal that could attain higher redox potentials. The oxidation of insoluble Cu(I) led to soluble and thus widely bioavailable Cu(II), which was ideally suited to exploit the oxidizing power of dioxygen [18]. Copper therefore is a modern bioelement [19]. Concomitant with the arrival of oxygen, multicellular organisms developed.

Interestingly, not all bacteria appear to have acquired cuproenzymes and at the current state of knowledge a distinction can be made between copper "users" and "nonusers" (Table 2). This information has been derived from a bioinformatics analysis of sequenced microorganisms [20]. Strikingly, only about half of the members of Firmicutes analyzed appear to be copper users. The definition of "users" here is based on the currently known bacterial cuproenzymes as outlined in Table 1. It cannot be precluded that new functions of copper will emerge that are also found in the nonusers. But this will not change the basic observation that some bacteria make extensive use of copper as a bioelement, whereas others appear to avoid it. Interestingly, members of Firmicutes, which are users, have an average genome size of 3 Mb, whereas the average genome size of nonusers is only 2.3 Mb [20]. The reason for this is not known.

Recently, an unexpected link between copper and molybdenum cofactor (MOCO) synthesis was discovered.

Table	1	Known	t	acterial
copper	-c(ontaining	g	enzymes

Enzyme	Function	Kelefences	
Cytochrome c oxidase	Terminal oxidase	[7]	
NADH dehydrogenase-2	Electron transport, copper reduction	[8, 9]	
Nitrosocyanin, cuproredoxin-like	Electron transfer, other?	[10]	
Plastocyanins	Electron transfer	[7]	
Cu-containing nitrite reductases	Nitrous oxide reduction	[11]	
Tyrosinase	Phenol oxidation, melanin synthesis	[12, 13]	
Copper amine oxidases	Oxidation of primary amines	[14]	
Particulate methane monooxygenase	Methane oxidation	[15]	
Copper-containing laccase	Polyphenol oxidase	[16]	

Eurotion

Deference

 Table 2 Occurrence of cuproenzymes in Gram-positive bacteria (from [20])

Organisms	Number of genomes	Number of "users"	MOCO synthesis
Actinobacteria	38	34	31
Firmicutes			
Bacillales	19	17	18
Clostridia	17	0	16
Lactobacillales	22	0	4
Mollicutes	17	0	0

MOCO molybdenum cofactor

Plant Cnx1G, a domain of the Cnx1GE protein, catalyzes the adenvlation of molybdopterin. Cnx1G-bound molybdopterin was found to have copper bound to the molybdopterin dithiolate sulfurs [21]. The function of this bound copper is presently unknown, but copper might play a role in protecting the molybdopterin dithiolate from oxidation, and/or in presenting a suitable leaving group for molybdenum insertion [22]. It remains currently unclear if the binding of copper to molybdopterin is an essential step in MOCO synthesis, but if so, this pathway generates a copper requirement in addition to those considered in Table 1 [23]. Approximately 70% of the Gram-positive organisms are capable of synthesizing MOCO; of these, 85% are also copper users (Table 2). Only members of Clostridia and a few of the members of Lactobacillales appear to be copper nonusers and still capable of MOCO synthesis. The cooccurrence of copper use and MOCO synthesis can be observed across most bacterial phyla. Whether this has a biological significance remains open.

In line with the abundance of apparent copper nonusers, very few bacterial copper importers have been described. All sequenced microorganisms do, however, possess one or several defense systems against copper toxicity. An explanation for this could lie in the evolution of the first life forms in volcanic environments, such as deep-sea volcanic vents, 3.5 billion years ago [24, 25]. Owing to the high temperature and acidity, such environments are rich in dissolved heavy-metal ions [26], making defense mechanisms against these potentially toxic elements an evolutionary priority. Systems for copper defense and copper utilization may thus have evolved independently of each other.

In eukaryotic organisms, there is a clear requirement for copper import into the cytoplasm for the synthesis of cytoplasmic cuproenzymes, but also for enzymes synthesized in organelles, such as cytochrome c oxidase in mitochondria, and tyrosinase and ceruloplasmin in the endoplasmatic reticulum [27]. Eukaryotes therefore have copper importers, such as Ctr1, in the plasma membrane. In contrast, bacteria may not have a general requirement for

cytoplasmic copper. Cyanobacteria (e.g., Synechocystis) are the one bacterial group that has a known demand for cytoplasmic copper for the synthesis of copper-containing, thylakoid-localized plastocyanin and cytochrome oxidase [28]. In other organisms, the cuproenzymes are localized to the cytoplasmic membrane or the periplasm and copper loading of these proteins could take place at the cytoplasmic membrane or in the periplasm. Thus, many bacteria, particular Gram-positive ones, do not appear to have a requirement for intracellular copper, and the copper homeostatic machinery in these organisms may have the sole purpose of keeping copper out. This concept is supported by the complete absence of copper chaperones in many bacteria, whereas copper chaperones are essential in eukaryotes for delivering copper to enzymes such as cytochrome c oxidase and superoxide dismutase [29].

Novel copper toxicity mechanisms

The major toxic effect of copper has frequently been claimed to be due to the generation of toxic reactive oxygen species in a Fenton-type reaction [30], leading to the generation of hydroxyl radicals (OH·), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and superoxide (O₂⁻). Alternatively, sulfhydryl depletion by reactions 1 and 2 has been put forth as a cell-damaging mechanism.

$$2Cu^{2+} + 2RSH = 2Cu^{+} + RSSR + 2H^{+}$$
(1)

$$2Cu^{+} + 2H^{+} + O_2 = 2Cu^{2+} + H_2O_2$$
⁽²⁾

Although lipid, protein, and nucleic acid damage by these mechanisms has been demonstrated in vitro in many studies, recent findings suggest an alternative mechanism to be responsible for the primary toxic effects of copper in vivo. First, the discovery that free copper in the cell is at extremely low levels or even nonexistent makes Fenton chemistry and sulfhydryl depletion very unlikely mechanisms [31]. Second, many Gram-positive organisms are rather tolerant to H₂O₂. For example, L. lactis IL1403, described in some detail below, generates H₂O₂ by NADH dehydrogenation, but does not possess catalase for H2O2 removal [32-34]. Third, Macomber et al. [35] recently showed that copper-loaded Escherichia coli was less sensitive to killing by H₂O₂ than E. coli cells grown without copper. Also, copper decreased the rate of H₂O₂-induced DNA damage. High intracellular copper levels even impaired iron-mediated oxidative killing by H_2O_2 . The authors suggested that copper exerts its toxicity by mechanisms other than oxidative stress.

A novel mechanism of copper toxicity was indeed recently demonstrated. It could be shown in vivo as well as in vitro that copper specifically damaged the iron–sulfur clusters of isopropylmalate dehydratase of *E. coli* [36]. This enzyme of the branched-chain amino acid biosynthesis pathway contains an iron-sulfur cluster from which the iron can be displaced by copper in the absence of oxygen. Copper efflux systems, chelation by glutathione, and cluster repair by assembly systems all enhance resistance of cells to this type of copper toxicity. To establish whether this mechanism is a general route of copper toxicity in bacteria, including Gram-positive organisms, will require further investigation.

Copper homeostasis in Gram-positive organisms

The copper homeostatic system of *E. hirae* is the best understood of those in Gram-positive bacteria and has served as a model for metal homeostasis in general [37]. The core element is an operon which consists of the four genes *copY*, *copZ*, *copA*, and *copB*. The genes *copA* and *copB* encode copper-transporting ATPases (Fig. 1). These ATPases mark the discovery of ATP-driven transmembranous copper transport in 1992 [38]. The gene product of *copY* encodes a copper-responsive repressor which derepresses transcription of the *cop* operon under conditions of copper excess (see below). The *copZ* gene, finally, encodes a copper chaperone which serves in the intracellular routing of copper. The *cop* operon enables *E. hirae* to grow in up to 8 mM copper and under copper-limiting conditions.

It is assumed that CopA acquires copper under lowcopper conditions, whereas CopB extrudes excess copper,



Fig. 1 Copper homeostasis in *Enterococcus hirae*. Copper enters the cell via CopA or by nonspecific leakage. Excess cytoplasmic copper binds to CopZ, which can then donate Cu^+ to CopB for export and to the CopY repressor to induce the *cop* operon. In low copper conditions, two CopY dimers in the zinc form are bound to the two *cop* boxes in front of the *cop* operon. When CopZ donates Cu^+ to CopY, one Zn²⁺ per CopY monomer is replaced by two Cu⁺, with concomitant release of CopY from the promoter and induction of transcription of the downstream genes

and also silver [39, 40], when these ions are in excess. In Gram-positive bacteria, cytoplasmic enzymes that require copper are unknown. Nevertheless, specific copper importers that are expressed under copper-limiting conditions have been described in *E. hirae*, *Listeria monocytogenes*, and *B. subtilis* [41–43]. Energy-dependent copper uptake has not yet been directly demonstrated in any of these organisms and copper uptake in other ways such as copper-complexed to copper chalkophores [44, 45] or as copper–substrate complexes through substrate transporters remain open possibilities [30].

YcnJ has recently been shown to be a candidate for a copper uptake pump in *B. subtilis*. The *ycnJ* gene showed a strong upregulation under copper-limiting conditions and a $\Delta ycnJ$ strain grew poorly under copper deprivation. On native gels, the periplasmic N-terminal domain (135 amino acids) of YcnJ oligomerized in the presence of Cu(II), but not Cu(I). Hence, in contrast to CopA of *E. hirae*, YcnJ was suggested to import copper in its divalent state [43]. Further characterization of this import system is, however, still required.

Current evidence that CopA of *E. hirae* is involved in copper import is based on the following observations: (1) $\Delta copA$ strains grow poorly in media where copper is limited by complexation with copper chelators and (2) $\Delta copA$ strains are more resistant to Ag⁺ than the wild type, presumably because CopA can be a route for entry of silver into the cell [40]. Purified CopA was shown to catalyze ATP hydrolysis and to form an acylphosphate intermediate, which was inhibited by vanadate, a characteristic inhibitor of P-type ATPases. Inhibition was also detected in the presence of Cu(I) chelators, but not with Cu(II) chelators, supporting a role of CopA in the transport of Cu⁺ ions [42]. However, the postulate that CopA of *E. hirae* serves in copper import still awaits rigorous experimental confirmation.

Copper secretion by copper ATPases for the rapid export of excess copper out of the cytosol is common, if not ubiquitous, and is the basic mechanism of bacterial copper resistance. The process has been documented in many eukaryotic and bacterial systems. In E. hirae, CopB is responsible for copper export. Cu⁺ transport and Ag⁺ transport by this enzyme have been directly demonstrated with radioisotopes in membrane vesicles and in whole cells loaded with silver [39, 40]. CopB features, unlike other copper ATPases, a histidine-rich N-terminus instead of a CxxC motif. Similar histidine repeat structures were found in two Pseudomonas syringae proteins which were demonstrated to be periplasmic copper-binding proteins [46]. In B. subtilis, the copper export pump CopA features two N-terminal domains, each containing a Cu⁺-binding motif, CxxC. It was shown that these motifs play a role in dimerization of CopA under high copper concentrations (more than one copper ion per protein; [47, 48]).



Fig. 2 Copper homeostasis in *Lactococcus lactis*. How copper enters the cell is unknown. Excess cytoplasmic copper binds to CopZ, which can then donate Cu^+ to either the copper ATPases for export or the CopR repressor to induce transcription. In low-copper conditions, a CopR dimer in the zinc form is bound to the *cop* box in front of the *copRZA* operon and the *copB* gene. When CopZ donates Cu^+ to CopR, one Zn^{2+} per CopR monomer is replaced by two Cu^+ , with concomitant release of CopR from the promoters and induction of transcription of the downstream genes. CopA then accomplishes copper export from the cytoplasm. The function of CopB is unknown

In *L. lactis* IL1403, the copper-inducible *copRZA* operon encodes the CopR repressor, a CopY-type repressor, the CopZ copper chaperone, and the CopA copper ATPase (Fig. 2). The latter exhibits 45% sequence identity to CopA of *E. hirae*. This enzyme has been proposed to serve as a copper importer [37, 40, 49] under copper-limiting conditions. The nomenclature of CopA ATPases is thus confusing: with the exception of CopA of *E. hirae*, CopA copper ATPases export copper and have a role in copper resistance in all other organisms. Also in *L. lactis*, CopA clearly serves in copper extrusion [50]. The CopR repressor of *L. lactis* regulates the CopR regulon in a fashion analogous to CopY in *E. hirae*. The CopZ-like copper chaperone can be assumed to function in intracellular copper routing like CopZ of *E. hirae* [51, 52].

A second putative copper ATPase in *L. lactis* is encoded by the unlinked, monocistronic *copB* gene, which is also under the control of CopR. CopB features a histidine-rich N-terminus and shares 55% sequence identity with *E. hirae* CopB. However, a function of *L. lactis* CopB in copper export has not yet been demonstrated. It is notable that *E. hirae* CopB is encoded by the *copYZAB* operon, whereas CopB of *L. lactis* is encoded by a monocistronic gene. Whether these different gene organizations in *L. lactis* and *E. hirae* are a consequence of functional differences remains an open question.

Copper-responsive repressors

Copper-responsive transcriptional regulators detect excessive copper ions in the cell and modulate the transcription of genes and operons with roles in copper homeostasis,

 Table 3 Distribution of copper-responsive regulators in Gram-positive bacteria and proteobacteria

Organisms	CopY-type	CsoR-type	CueR-type
Actinobacteria	0	43	0
Firmicutes			
Bacillales	3	30	7
Clostridia	0	25	0
Lactobacillales	39	3	0
Proteobacteria	0	54	215

thereby ensuring a proper balance of copper ions in the cell. In Gram-positive bacteria, two families of copperresponsive transcriptional regulators appear to regulate copper homeostasis (Table 3). These are, named by their founding members, the CopY- and the CsoR-type regulators [53]. CopY-type regulators have experimentally been associated with gene regulation by copper in *E. hirae* [54], *Enterococcus faecium* [55], *L. lactis* IL1403 [50], *Streptococcus mutans* [56, 57], and *Streptococcus gordonii* [58].

CsoR-type regulators have only recently been described, although their occurrence is more widespread, and they are abundant not only in Gram-positive organisms, but also in members of Proteobacteria [53]. CsoR-related proteins may in fact be the primary copper sensors in prokaryotes which lack CueR-type regulators. In over 70% of the identified CsoR-type repressors, all three copper binding ligands were conserved. Also, many of the repressor genes were adjacent to either putative copper ATPase or copper chaperons. In more distantly related CsoR homologous, not all three copper ligands were conserved and some of these genes are adjacent to permease genes, homologous to the major facilitator superfamily. These efflux proteins may mediate multidrug resistance, thereby raising the intriguing hypothesis that some CsoR-encoding genes may have evolved to sense organic molecules [53].

CueR-type regulators, which regulate copper homeostatic genes in *E. coli* [59], occur in a few species of *Bacillales*. However, the initial claim that CueR of *B. subtilis* regulates the expression of the *copZA* operon in this organism [60] was later refuted and it was shown that a CsoR-type regulator controls *copZA* expression [61]. It thus remains unclear if CueR-type regulators have a role in copper homeostasis by Gram-positive organisms. CueRtype regulators appear to be a typical feature of the Gramnegative proteobacteria and will not be discussed further.

CopZ-type copper chaperones

Since excess copper can produce cellular damage, cells need to keep the intracellular concentration of free copper ions very low. On this account, specific copper chaperones have evolved that tightly bind copper ions and escort them from the point of entry to target enzymes. There is a range of copper chaperones in all eukaryotes to deliver copper to copper ATPases, cytochrome c oxidase, or superoxide dismutase [29]. The 8-kDa Atx1-like chaperones, first described in yeast [62], have been found in all organisms, including mammals, plants, insects, fungi, and bacteria [63]. In bacteria, these copper chaperones are usually called CopZ, based on the founding member, CopZ of E. hirae [64]. However, many bacterial species, including E. coli, do not appear to possess a copZ gene. Among the Gram-positive bacteria, Actinobacteria are devoid of CopZ, whereas most, if not all other Gram-positive bacteria possess CopZ. Since the gene is small and does not always start with methionine, it may not have been discovered in all sequenced genomes.

Bacteria may be devoid of copper chaperones, or may feature only a CopZ-like or a Sco-like chaperone [65]. Sco-like proteins can be found in Gram-positive organisms [66, 67] and exhibit a thioredoxin-like fold [68]. *B. subtilis* possesses a Sco-like chaperone, YpmQ or BSco, with a proposed function in delivering copper to cytochrome *c* oxidase [69]. In contrast, a new periplasmic protein, PCu_AC, was recently shown to selectively insert Cu(I) into the Cu_A site of the *ba*₃ oxidase of *Thermus thermophilus* [70]. Sco1 was unable to deliver copper to the oxidase, but worked as a thiol disulfide reductase to maintain the correct oxidation state of the Cu_A cysteine ligands. This finding and the fact that some organisms possess Sco-like proteins but no cytochrome *c* oxidase [71] suggests diverse roles for Sco-like proteins in the assembly of cuproenzymes.

Many structures for Atx1- or CopZ-like metallochaperones have been solved (see [72] for a review). They all share the same $\beta \alpha \beta \beta \alpha \beta$ ferredoxin-like structure, with two cysteines of a CxxC motif located in a loop between $\beta 1$ and $\alpha 1$ (Fig. 3). There is still uncertainty as to how Cu^+ is complexed by the chaperone in vivo. Cu⁺ can in principle bind to the two solvent-exposed cysteines, located at one end of the molecule, in a near-linear S-Cu-S bonding. However, X-ray structures of Hah1, the human CopZ-like copper chaperone, have revealed structures where a single Hg^{2+} or Cu⁺ ion is complexed by the four cysteines of two chaperones in a dimeric arrangement [73]. Cu⁺-CopZ of E. hirae, on the other hand, appeared to be dimeric in solution, with trigonally bound copper the most likely structure (Fig. 4) [74]. The prevalence of homodimeric Cu⁺-CopZ was also demonstrated by biochemical and light-spectroscopic techniques [75, 76]. A three-coordinate metal center is also supported by extended X-ray absorption fine structure measurements of Cu⁺-thiol bonds [74, 77]. Glutathione was shown to inhibit dimer formation in vitro and could, in principle, be a ligand to monomeric Cu^+ -CopZ inside the cell, where glutathione concentrations are



Fig. 3 Structure of CopZ of *E. hirae*. The protein is folded in a $\beta \alpha \beta \beta \alpha \beta$ structure. Note the exposed cysteines (*yellow*) which serve to bind Cu⁺



Fig. 4 Model of Cu^+ -CopZ dimer formation. Each Cu^+ ion is coordinated by three sulfur atoms of the cysteine ligands of two CopZ molecules

high. It is also conceivable that there is an equilibrium between monomeric, dimeric, and even trimeric CopZ in the cell, but this will be very difficult to assess. How CopZ interacts with CopY-type repressors and copper ATPases will be discussed in detail in the following sections.

At high intracellular copper levels CopZ appears to be degraded through a proteolytic pathway [78]. This observation led to the proposal that high levels of CopZ may be toxic to the cell; however, the mechanisms of toxicity and degradation are still unclear.

Function of CopY-type repressors

CopY and related repressors modulate the expression of genes in response to copper in most, if not all, species of *Lactobacillales*. Like many bacterial regulators, CopY-type repressors have a bipartite structure. The N-terminal domain is responsible for the interaction with DNA, and the C-terminus interacts with zinc or copper. The N-terminus of CopY of *E. hirae* shows extensive sequence similarity to BlaI, MecI, and PenI, which are repressors involved in the regulation of β -lactamase in Gram-positive



Fig. 5 a Alignment of the protein sequence of CopY of *E. hirae* with those of β -lactamase regulators in the N-terminal region and fungal transcriptional regulators and metallothionein in the C-terminal region. **b** Overlay of the N-terminal DNA binding domain of *L. lactis* CopR (*blue*) and the BlaI β -lactamase regulator of *Bacillus licheniformis* (gold)

bacteria (Fig. 5a) [79–82]. The structure of the N-terminus of CopR of *L. lactis*, a CopY homologue, has been solved by solution NMR [83] and in fact is nearly superimposable on the structure of BlaI of *Bacillus licheniformis* (Fig. 5b). The C-termini of the latter type of repressors and their mode of induction by proteolysis are entirely different from those of CopY-type repressors [84]. The C-terminus of CopR exhibits sequence similarity to the yeast copperinducible repressors AMT1, ACE1, and Mac, and to the β -domain of metallothioneins [85]. All these proteins feature the consensus motif CxCx_{4–5}CxC. In the newly synthesized CopY-type repressors, this site is occupied by a single Zn^{2+} , which is coordinated by four sulfur atoms in a tetrahedral fashion.

At low ambient copper concentrations, CopY is present as a Zn(II)-containing homodimer and is bound to the operator-promoter region of the operon [54]. The CopY dimer binding sites feature the so-called cop box of consensus TACAnnTGTA, a motif which is widely conserved in members of Lactobacillales. The DNA-CopY interaction has been assessed in quantitative terms by surface plasmon resonance analysis [57]. It was found that the CopY-type repressors of L. lactis, E. hirae, and S. mutans had very similar affinities for either their native promoters or heterologous promoters, as long as they contained the cop-box. It could also be shown that the induction of the CopY repressor by copper resulted in a relatively moderate change of the DNA dissociation rate constant, $k_{\rm d}$, from 1×10^{-7} to 5×10^{-7} s⁻¹ [86]. Interestingly, the β -lactamase regulators which feature an N-terminal DNA binding domain essentially identical to CopY-like repressors also recognize a "cop box" [87]; the possible consequences of this have not been investigated.

For unknown reasons, there are two *cop* boxes upstream of the *E. hirae cop* operon, but the majority of CopYcontrolled genes or operons feature only a single *cop* box. Under low-copper conditions, a CopY dimer is bound to each *cop* box and prevents transcription. When the level of medium copper is raised, Cu^+ –CopZ donates Cu(I) to CopY. This displaces the bound Zn(II) and CopY is released from the DNA, allowing transcription to proceed (Fig. 6) [51, 88]. Cu⁺ in CopY is trigonally bound by cysteines and solvent-shielded. This makes the protein luminescent, a typical property of solvent-shielded copper thiolates. The induction mechanism of CopY is



Fig. 6 Model of Cu⁺ transfer from Cu⁺–CopZ to Zn²⁺–CopY. *I* Cu⁺ bound to the sulfur atoms of the cysteines of C11 and C14 (S11, S14) of CopZ and probably a third ligand (e.g., glutathione) approaches CopY. 2 S141 of CopY interacts with the Cu⁺, thereby destabilizing the corresponding S–Zn bond in CopY. *3*, *4* a second

Cu–S bond with CopY is made, further destabilizing the zinc binding. 5 Zn^{2+} is released from CopY and one Cu⁺ is now bound to CopY in a triagonal Cu–S₃ coordination, thermodynamically aided by a second, incoming Cu⁺. 6 CopY in the final (Cu⁺)₂-CopY form



Fig. 7 Gain-of-function engineering of MNKr2. **a** Positions of lysine residues and the two copper-binding cysteines along the polypeptide chain of CopZ, compared with the positions of the corresponding residues in MNKr2. The four residues which were mutated to lysine in MNKr2* are *underlined*. **b** Arrangement of the lysine residues of CopZ which is critical for interaction with CopY and these lysine residues modeled into the MNKr2 structure. The native lysines of MNKr2 which were not mutated are shown in *red*

experimentally well supported [51, 89, 90] and protein– protein interaction between CopZ and CopY was measured by surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy [91]. This interaction appeared to involve mainly R29, R30, R36, and R37 on one face of CopZ.

The second metal binding domain of the human Menkes ATPase, MNKr2, exhibits essentially the same structure as CopZ, but cannot donate copper to CopY, presumably because it lacks the four prominent surface lysines; insertion of four corresponding lysine residues into MNKr2 resulted in a gain-of-function mutant protein which could donate copper to CopY (Fig. 7) [51]. This further supports the CopZ–CopY interactions and it will be interesting to see if the structure of CopY features the expected negative surface patch which could interact with CopZ.

Function of CsoR-type copper sensors

CsoR from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* represents the founding member of a new and large class of prokaryotic Cu(I) regulators and its structure has recently been solved [53]. CsoR is tetrameric, with two monomers each forming a stable homodimer that adopts an antiparallel four-helix-bundle architecture (Fig. 8). This represents a novel DNA-binding fold because it lacks the obvious candidate DNA binding domains present in winged-helix-type metalloregulators. Each CsoR homodimer binds two Cu⁺ such that they bridge the two subunits. By X-ray absorption spectroscopy, it was shown that Cu⁺ adopts a planar trigonal coordination involving two cysteines and a histidine residue [53].

CsoR has been shown to regulate the *copZA* operon of *B. subtilis* by copper-dependent derepression [92]. The



Fig. 8 Structure of a CsoR dimer from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. The *two dark spheres* represent bound Cu^+ (Protein Data Bank accession code 2hh7)

operon encodes a CopZ-type copper chaperone and a copper-efflux ATPase. Two tetramers of apo-CsoR were shown to bind to a 30-bp DNA region overlapping the promoter of the *copAZ* operon. The CsoR–DNA binding was weakened upon Cu⁺ binding, thereby acting as a copper-inducible repressor [53]. Clearly, CopY-type and CsoR-type repressors have very different structures and activation mechanisms to fulfill essential the same role. From an evolutionary point of view, it is interesting why and how such diverse mechanisms for copper regulation of gene expression evolved.

Global responses to metal stress by *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403

The CopY-type repressors of three Gram-positive bacterial species have been shown to recognize the TACAnnTGTA consensus motif, the cop box [57]. By performing a genomewide search for this conserved motif in L. lactis IL1403, Barré et al. found 28 genes whose operator regions harbor the cop box. Seven of these cop boxes were shown to interact with CopR, the CopY-type repressor of L. lactis, in a copper-responsive manner in vitro. The genes and operons associated with these cop boxes were termed "CopR regulon," which encompasses a total of 14 genes, organized into four operons and two monocistronic genes [50]. Three proteins of the CopR regulon, namely, YaiA, a glyoxylase, YtjD, a nitroreductase, and LctO, a lactate oxidase, were independently identified by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry as copperinduced proteins [4]. For other genes of the CopR regulon, induction by copper was verified by real-time quantitative PCR.

What is the function of these genes in copper homeostasis? As described above, the *copRZA* operon functions in the defense against copper toxicity. The function of the other genes, with the exception of *lctO*, remains unclear. The *lctO* gene encodes an NAD-independent, flavin-containing lactate oxidase which converts lactate to pyruvate, using molecular oxygen. Induction of LctO was observed when *L. lactis* cells were challenged with copper under microaerobic growth conditions, whereas copper exposure under anaerobic growth conditions failed to induce *lctO*. Since LctO requires oxygen for function, this makes biological sense, but suggests that another regulatory mechanism is also involved. Barré et al. [4] proposed that induction of lactate oxidase serves in the elimination of molecular oxygen, thereby attenuating formation of reactive oxygen radicals that could form under copper stress. Similarly, an oxygen-consuming NADH oxidase has been proposed to be involved in the defense against oxidative stress in *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* by removing oxygen and thereby preventing the generation of H₂O₂ and its reaction products [33].

Copper ATPases

All bacterial cells appear to feature copper-exporting ATPases to remove excess cytoplasmic copper. This function is accomplished by CopB in *E. hirae* and by CopA in *L. lactis* and other bacteria. Copper-importing ATPases, on the other hand, have only been described in *E. hirae* (CopA) and *Synechocystis* (CtaA). Whereas the role of *E. hirae* CopA in cell physiological function is still unclear, CtaA of *Synechocystis* has been shown to import copper for plastocyanin, a copper-containing thylakoid protein which functions in the photosynthetic electron transport chain [93].

Copper ATPases belong to the superfamily of P-type ATPases, a group of ATP-driven transport proteins characterized by unique signature motifs. The most prominent feature of this family of pumps is the formation of an a-cylphosphate intermediate (hence the name P-type ATP-ases), whereby the γ -phosphate of ATP phosphorylates the aspartic acid residue in the conserved motif DKTGT during the reaction cycle [94]. Other conserved features include consensus domains for ATP binding and energy transduction and a conserved, intramembranous proline residue with a function in ion transport [95, 96].

A subgroup of the of P-type ATPases, the CPx-type ATPases (also named heavy-metal ATPases or P1B-type ATPases [97, 98]), catalyzes the transport of transitionmetal or heavy-metal ions across the membrane [99]. The range of transported substrates is wide, including monovalent (Cu⁺, Ag⁺) as well as divalent (Co²⁺, Zn²⁺, Cd²⁺, Hg²⁺, Pb²⁺) cations [37, 100]. CPx-type ATPases differ from non-heavy-metal ATPases in several ways: (1) they feature only eight transmembrane helices, compared with non-heavy-metal ATPases, which feature ten [98, 101], (2) they contain one to six metal binding domains (one or two in bacteria) with a CxxC motif or a histidine-rich region at their N-terminus, (3) they possess a conserved HP



Fig. 9 P-type and CPx-type ATPases. The proteins are organized into three domains: *A* actuator domain, *P* phosphorylation domain, and *N* nucleotide binding domain. Membranes are in *yellow*, and membrane helices common to both types of ATPases are shown in *blue*, additional membrane helices in *red*. The following sequence features are also indicated: MBD, heavy-metal binding domain with either a CxxC motif or a histidine-rich region, TGE, "kinase" motif; P, intramembranous proline in non-heavy-metal ATPases; CPx, intramembranous CPC, or CPH motif in heavy-metal ATPases; TKTGT, phosphorylation motif; GDG, ATP binding region; HP, conserved motif of unknown function in heavy-metal ATPases

sequence 34–43 residues C-terminal to the CPx motif, and (4) they possess a highly conserved CPx (x is C or H) motif in the sixth transmembrane helix (Fig. 9) [98]. The CPx motif is located in the most conserved core structure of the ATPases and includes the proline characteristic to all P-type ATPases.

So far, no complete structure of a CPx-type ATPase is available, but two models were proposed, based on either cryoelectron microscopy or intramolecular cross-linking [102, 103]. Both models integrate partial structures available for some of the soluble domains and alignment with the structure of Serca1 [101]. Figure 10 shows the model for CopA by Lübben et al. [103]. The key differences from the model of Wu et al. [102] are the arrangement of the transmembrane helices and the N-terminal metal binding domain. The metal binding domain of E. hirae CopA is arranged such that the CxxC metal binding motif is facing away from the bulk of the ATPase and is accessible to chaperones. The respective interacting surfaces exhibited a complementary electrostatic fit. Other orientations of the metal binding domain could be ruled out because they would violate the cross-linking geometry, resulting in false lengths. This contrasts with the model of Wu et al. [102], in which the metal binding domain has the opposite orientation, with the Cu⁺-binding CxxC domain facing the ATPase. The E. hirae CopA model shown in Fig. 10 also results in a more favorable arrangement of the conserved residues of the membrane ion channel (Fig. 11). There are two sites in the membrane domain of the copper ATPase which can be titrated with Cu⁺. According to Gonzales-Guerrero et al. [104], site I is formed by two cysteines in



Fig. 10 Structure of the *E. hirae* CopA ATPase, modeled on the basis of intramolecular cross-linking data and known partial structures [103]. The metal binding domain is colored in *red*, the A-domain in *grayish blue*, the N-domain in *dark blue*, the P-domain in *green*, and the transmembranous domain in *ochre*, with helices 1 and 2 colored in a lighter shade owing to uncertainty in the position. Characteristic residues discussed in the text are shown in *brown* space-filling representation and are labeled



Fig. 11 Enlarged view of Cu^+ binding sites I and II located in transmembrane helices 6, 7, and 8. Ligands are placed as in the model of *E. hirae* CopA shown in **a** or the model of *Archaeoglobus fulgidus* CopA by Wu et al. [102]. **b**. Cu^+ site I (*yellow residues*), C381 and C383 in transmembrane helix 6 and N686 in transmembrane helix 7; Cu^+ site II (*red residues*), Y685 in transmembrane helix 7 and M707 and S711 in transmembrane helix 8 (cartoon courtesy of Gerd Kock and Mathias Lübben, Ruhr University)

transmembrane helix 6 and a tyrosine in transmembrane helix 7 and site II is formed by asparagine in transmembrane helix 7 and methionine and serine in transmembrane helix 8. In the *E. hirae* CopA model, the copper site I is formed by C381 and C383 in transmembrane helix 6, and N686 in transmembrane helix 7, and the copper site II is formed by Y685 in transmembrane helix 7 and M707 and S711 in transmembrane helix 8. This arrangement appears sterically much more favorable. Clearly, final information on the structure of the ion channel will have to await a high-resolution X-ray structure of a copper ATPase.

CopZ of E. hirae has been shown by surface plasmon resonance to interact with CopA [91]. It is assumed that Cu⁺ imported by CopA is transferred to the CopZ copper chaperone, which subsequently delivers copper to the CopY repressor for induction of the *cop* operon or to other sites requiring copper. An interaction of CopZ of E. hirae with the copper-exporting ATPase CopB has also been shown (unpublished observation). In yeast, it has been shown that the CopZ-like chaperone, Atx1, delivers copper to the Ccc2 copper ATPase [105], which transfers copper across the membrane into the trans-Golgi network. Interaction of CopZ with the copper-exporting ATPase was also demonstrated in *B. subtilis* [106]. Although copper transfer from chaperones to the N-terminal metal binding domains of CPx-type ATPases is now well documented, it has never been shown that this copper can actually be transported across the membrane. Rather, it has been suggested that the N-terminus regulates the activity of the ATPase by domain interactions. Copper transport may thus require a separate copper-donation event to the membrane region of the ATPases [107].

There has been discussion of how it is mechanistically possible for copper ATPases of very similar primary structure to pump copper out of the cell in some cases (most copper ATPases), but into the cell in others (CtaA of Synechocystis, CopA of E. hirae). It is frequently ignored, even in textbooks, that the calcium ATPases of the eukaryotic plasma membrane and the sarcoplasmatic reticulum both catalyze calcium-proton antiport [108]. The ubiquitous eukaryotic NaK-ATPase catalyzes the exchange of three Na⁺ for two K⁺, and the gastric KH-ATPase exchanges K^+ for H^+ . There is still debate about the stoichiometry of these exchange mechanisms because proton movements are difficult to measure in biochemical experiments, but on the basis of structural and mechanistic considerations, it appears likely that cation antiport is an obligatory feature of P-type ATPases [108]. Copper ATPases would thus exchange Cu⁺ for H⁺. The direction of transport of an ion by a P-type ATPase is not per se a property of the E1-E2 reaction cycle. From which side of the membrane an ion has access to the high-affinity or low-affinity binding site of the enzyme determines the direction of transport. A change in the transport direction probably requires relatively minor structural alterations to reverse the affinities for the incoming and the leaving ion at the respective side of the ion gate. The slow turnover of copper ATPases makes it difficult to study their transport properties in vitro and many open questions about copper transport will remain challenges for the future.

Acknowledgments Some of the work described in this review was supported by grant 3100A0_122551 from the Swiss National Foundation and a grant from the International Copper Association.

References

- 1. Stiles ME (1996) Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 70:331-345
- Reeve WG, Tiwari RP, Kale NB, Dilworth MJ, Glenn AR (2002) Mol Microbiol 43:981–991
- Galvez A, Abriouel H, Lopez RL, Ben ON (2007) Int J Food Microbiol 120:51–70
- Barré O, Mourlane F, Solioz M (2007) J Bacteriol 189:5947– 5954
- 5. Fraústo da Silva JJR, Williams RJP (1993) The biological chemistry of the elements. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- 6. Karlin KD (1993) Science 261:701-708
- 7. Cavet JS, Borrelly GP, Robinson NJ (2003) FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:165–181
- Rapisarda VA, Chehin RN, De Las RJ, Rodriguez-Montelongo L, Farias RN, Massa EM (2002) Arch Biochem Biophys 405:87–94
- Rodriguez-Montelongo L, Volentini SI, Farias RN, Massa EM, Rapisarda VA (2006) Arch Biochem Biophys 451:1–7
- Arciero DM, Pierce BS, Hendrich MP, Hooper AB (2002) Biochemistry 41:1703–1709
- Ellis MJ, Grossmann JG, Eady RR, Hasnain SS (2007) J Biol Inorg Chem 12:1119–1127
- 12. Lopez-Serrano D, Solano F, Sanchez-Amat A (2004) Gene 342:179–187
- 13. Tsai TY, Lee YH (1998) J Biol Chem 273:19243-19250
- Brazeau BJ, Johnson BJ, Wilmot CM (2004) Arch Biochem Biophys 428:22–31
- Chan SI, Chen KH, Yu SS, Chen CL, Kuo SS (2004) Biochemistry 43:4421–4430
- Hullo MF, Moszer I, Danchin A, Martin-Verstraete I (2001) J Bacteriol 183:5426–5430
- 17. Kasting JF, Siefert JL (2002) Science 296:1066-1068
- 18. Crichton RR, Pierre J-L (2001) Biometals 14:99-112
- 19. Kaim W, Rall J (1996) Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 35:43-60
- 20. Ridge PG, Zhang Y, Gladyshev VN (2008) PLoS ONE 3:e1378 21. Kuper J, Llamas A, Hecht HJ, Mendel RR, Schwarz G (2004)
- Nature 430:803–806 22. Schwarz G, Mendel RR (2006) Annu Rev Plant Biol 57:623–647
- 23. Zhang Y, Gladyshev VN (2008) J Mol Biol 379:881-899
- Furnes H, Banerjee NR, Muehlenbachs K, Staudigel H, de Wit M (2004) Science 304:578–581
- 25. Rasmussen B (2000) Nature 405:676–679
- Fouquet Y, Von Stackelberg U, Charlou JL, Donval JP, Erzinger J, Foucher JP, Herzig P, Mühe R, Soakai S, Wiedicke M, Whitechurch H (1991) Nature 349:778–781
- 27. Turski ML, Thiele DJ (2009) J Biol Chem 284:717-721
- Tottey S, Harvie DR, Robinson NJ (2005) Acc Chem Res 38:775–783
- 29. Kim BE, Nevitt T, Thiele DJ (2008) Nat Chem Biol 4:176-185
- Magnani D, Solioz M (2007) In: Nies DH, Silver S (eds) Molecular microbiology of heavy metals. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 259–285
- Changela A, Chen K, Xue Y, Holschen J, Outten CE, O'Halloran TV, Mondragon A (2003) Science 301:1383–1387
- Rochat T, Gratadoux JJ, Gruss A, Corthier G, Maguin E, Langella P, van de Guchte M (2006) Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5143–5149
- Marty-Teysset C, de la Torre F, Garel J (2000) Appl Environ Microbiol 66:262–267

- 34. Bolotin A, Wincker P, Mauger S, Jaillon O, Malarme K, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Sorokin A (2001) Genome Res 11:731–753
- 35. Macomber L, Rensing C, Imlay JA (2007) J Bacteriol 189:1616–1626
- Macomber L, Imlay JA (2009) Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:8344–8349
- Solioz M, Stoyanov JV (2003) FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:183– 195
- Odermatt A, Suter H, Krapf R, Solioz M (1992) Ann N Y Acad Sci 671:484–486
- 39. Solioz M, Odermatt A (1995) J Biol Chem 270:9217-9221
- Odermatt A, Krapf R, Solioz M (1994) Biochem Biophys Res Commun 202:44–48
- 41. Francis MS, Thomas CJ (1997) Mol Gen Genet 253:484-491
- Wunderli-Ye H, Solioz M (2001) Biochem Biophys Res Commun 280:713–719
- Chillappagari S, Miethke M, Trip H, Kuipers OP, Marahiel MA (2009) J Bacteriol 191:2362–2370
- 44. Kim HJ, Graham DW, DiSpirito AA, Alterman MA, Galeva N, Larive CK, Asunskis D, Sherwood PM (2004) Science 305:1612–1615
- Balasubramanian R, Rosenzweig AC (2008) Curr Opin Chem Biol 12:245–249
- 46. Mellano MA, Cooksey DA (1988) J Bacteriol 170:2879-2883
- Singleton C, Banci L, Ciofi-Baffoni S, Tenori L, Kihlken MA, Boetzel R, Le Brun NE (2008) Biochem J 411:571–579
- 48. Singleton C, Le Brun NE (2009) Dalton Trans 28:688-696
- 49. Odermatt A, Suter H, Krapf R, Solioz M (1993) J Biol Chem 268:12775–12779
- Magnani D, Barré O, Gerber SD, Solioz M (2008) J Bacteriol 190:536–545
- Cobine PA, George GN, Jones CE, Wickramasinghe WA, Solioz M, Dameron CT (2002) Biochemistry 41:5822–5829
- 52. Arnesano F, Banci L, Bertini I, Ciofi-Baffoni S, Molteni E, Huffman DL, O'Halloran TV (2002) Genome Res 12:255–271
- Liu T, Ramesh A, Ma Z, Ward SK, Zhang L, George GN, Talaat AM, Sacchettini JC, Giedroc DP (2007) Nat Chem Biol 3:60–68
- 54. Strausak D, Solioz M (1997) J Biol Chem 272:8932-8936
- Hasman H, Kempf I, Chidaine B, Cariolet R, Ersboll AK, Houe H, Bruun Hansen HC, Aarestrup FM (2006) Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5784–5789
- 56. Vats N, Lee SF (2001) Microbiology 147:653-662
- 57. Portmann R, Poulsen KR, Wimmer R, Solioz M (2006) Biometals 19:61–70
- Mitrakul K, Loo CY, Hughes CV, Ganeshkumar N (2004) Oral Microbiol Immunol 19:395–402
- Outten FW, Outten CE, Hale J, O'Halloran TV (2000) J Biol Chem 275:31024–31029
- Gaballa A, Cao M, Helmann JD (2003) Microbiology 149:3413–3421
- 61. Smaldone GT, Helmann JD (2007) Microbiology 153:4123-4128
- Lin SJ, Culotta VC (1995) Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:3784– 3788
- O'Halloran TV, Culotta VC (2000) J Biol Chem 275:25057– 25060
- 64. Odermatt A, Solioz M (1995) J Biol Chem 270:4349-4354
- Leary SC, Kaufman BA, Pellecchia G, Guercin GH, Mattman A, Jaksch M, Shoubridge EA (2004) Hum Mol Genet 13:1839– 1848
- 66. Schulze M, Rodel G (1988) Mol Gen Genet 211:492–498
- 67. Hamza I, Gitlin JD (2002) J Bioenerg Biomembr 34:381–388
- Balatri E, Banci L, Bertini I, Cantini F, Ciofi-Baffoni S (2003) Structure 11:1431–1443

- Mattatall NR, Jazairi J, Hill BC (2000) J Biol Chem 275:28802– 28809
- Abriata LA, Banci L, Bertini I, Ciofi-Baffoni S, Gkazonis P, Spyroulias GA, Vila AJ, Wang S (2008) Nat Chem Biol 4:599– 601
- Banci L, Bertini I, Ciofi-Baffoni S, Gerothanassis IP, Leontari I, Martinelli M, Wang S (2007) Structure 15:1132–1140
- 72. Davis AV, O'Halloran TV (2008) Nat Chem Biol 4:148-151
- 73. Rosenzweig AC (2001) Acc Chem Res 34:119-128
- 74. Wimmer R, Herrmann T, Solioz M, Wüthrich K (1999) J Biol Chem 274:22597–22603
- 75. Kihlken MA, Leech AP, Le Brun NE (2002) Biochem J 368:729–739
- Kihlken MA, Singleton C, Le Brun NE (2008) J Biol Inorg Chem 13:1011–1023
- Pufahl RA, Singer CP, Peariso KL, Lin S, Schmidt PJ, Fahrni CJ, Culotta VC, Penner-Hahn JE, O'Halloran TV (1997) Science 278:853–856
- 78. Lu ZH, Solioz M (2001) J Biol Chem 276:47822-47827
- Van Melckebeke H, Vreuls C, Gans P, Filee P, Llabres G, Joris B, Simorre JP (2003) J Mol Biol 333:711–720
- Garcia-Castellanos R, Mallorqui-Fernandez G, Marrero A, Potempa J, Coll M, Gomis-Ruth FX (2004) J Biol Chem 279:17888–17896
- 81. Wittman V, Wong HC (1988) J Bacteriol 170:3206-3212
- Himeno T, Imanaka T, Aiba S (1986) J Bacteriol 168:1128– 1132
- 83. Cantini F, Banci L, Solioz M (2009) Biochem J 417:493–499
- Lewis RA, Curnock SP, Dyke KG (1999) FEMS Microbiol Lett 178:271–275
- 85. Bird AJ (2008) Adv Microb Physiol 53:231-267
- Portmann R, Magnani D, Stoyanov JV, Schmechel A, Multhaup G, Solioz M (2004) J Biol Inorg Chem 9:396–402
- Sharma VK, Hackbarth CJ, Dickinson TM, Archer GL (1998) J Bacteriol 180:2160–2166
- Cobine P, Jones CE, Wickramasinghe WA, Solioz M, Dameron CT (2002) In: Massaro EJ (ed) Handbook of copper pharmacology and toxicology. Humana Press, Totowa, pp 177–186

- Cobine P, Wickramasinghe WA, Harrison MD, Weber T, Solioz M, Dameron CT (1999) FEBS Lett 445:27–30
- 90. Cobine PA, Jones CE, Dameron CT (2002) J Inorg Biochem 88:192–196
- Multhaup G, Strausak D, Bissig K-D, Solioz M (2001) Biochem Biophys Res Commun 288:172–177
- 92. Ma Z, Cowart D, Scott R, Giedroc DP (2009) Biochemistry 48:3325–3334
- 93. Tottey S, Rich PR, Rondet SA, Robinson NJ (2001) J Biol Chem 276:19999–20004
- 94. Pedersen PL, Carafoli E (1987) Trends Biochem Sci 12:146– 150
- 95. Toyoshima C, Mizutani T (2004) Nature 430:529-535
- 96. Toyoshima C, Nomura H, Sugita Y (2003) Ann N Y Acad Sci 986:1–8
- 97. Lutsenko S, Kaplan JH (1995) Biochemistry 34:15607-15613
- 98. Solioz M, Vulpe C (1996) Trends Biochem Sci 21:237-241
- 99. Axelsen KB, Palmgren MG (1998) J Mol Evol 46:84-101
- 100. Rensing C, Ghosh M, Rosen BP (1999) J Bacteriol 181:5891– 5897
- Toyoshima C, Nakasako M, Nomura H, Ogawa H (2000) Nature 405:647–655
- 102. Wu CC, Rice WJ, Stokes DL (2008) Structure 16:976-985
- Lübben M, Portmann R, Kock G, Stoll R, Young MM, Solioz M (2009) Biometals 22:363–375
- 104. Gonzalez-Guerrero M, Eren E, Rawat S, Stemmler TL, Arguello JM (2008) J Biol Chem 283:29753–29759
- 105. Huffman DL, O'Halloran TV (2001) Annu Rev Biochem 70:677–701
- 106. Radford DS, Kihlken MA, Borrelly GP, Harwood CR, Le Brun NE, Cavet JS (2003) FEMS Microbiol Lett 220:105–112
- 107. Arguello JM, Gonzalez-Guerrero M (2008) Structure 16:833-834
- 108. Niggli V, Sigel E (2008) Trends Biochem Sci 33:156-160

4) The lactic acid bacteria response to metal stress

Marc Solioz¹, Mélanie Mermod¹, Helge K. Abicht¹, and Stefano Mancini¹

¹Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, University of Berne, 3010 Berne, Switzerland

Book chapter, in "Stress response of lactic acid bacteria" Tsakalidou, Effie; Papadimitriou, Konstantinos (Eds.), 1st Edition, 2010, Springer, Heidelberg in press

Abstract

Lactic acid bacteria are of great importance in the manufacture of food and dairy products, but also for an increasing number of biotechnological applications. When applied to industrial processes, these bacteria face various stress conditions, such as low pH, high temperature, osmotic shock, and metal stress. Of the latter, exposure to copper has received wide attention and detailed mechanistic insight is available. We thus have a comprehensive understanding of copper extrusion by ATPases, gene regulation by copper and intracellular copper chaperoning. Structural work on copper homeostatic proteins has given insight into copper coordination and bonding and has started to give molecular insight into copper handling in biological systems in general. Also, recent biochemical work has shed new light on the mechanism of copper toxicity. The response of lactic acid bacteria to metals other than copper has received only little attention and will be discussed for other organisms to the extent that it could be relevant for lactic acid bacteria.

Chapter 8

The lactic acid bacteria responses to heavy metal stress

Marc Solioz, Mélanie Mermod, Helge K. Abicht and Stefano Mancini

Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research, University of Berne, Murtenstrasse 35, 3010 Berne, Switzerland

*Corresponding author:	Dr. Marc Solioz
	Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research
	University of Berne
	Murtenstrasse 35
	3010 Berne
	Switzerland
	Phone: +41 31 632 3268
	Fax: +41 31 632 3268
	E-mail: marc.solioz@ikp.unibe.ch

Abstract

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are of great importance in the manufacture of food and dairy products, but also for an increasing number of biotechnological applications. When applied to industrial processes, these bacteria face various stress conditions, such as low pH, high temperature, osmotic shock, and metal stress. Of the latter, exposure to copper has received wide attention and detailed mechanistic insight is available. We thus have a comprehensive understanding of copper extrusion by ATPases, gene regulation by copper and intracellular copper chaperoning. Structural work on copper homeostatic proteins has given insight into copper coordination and bonding and has started to give molecular insight into copper handling in biological systems in general. Also, recent biochemical work has shed new light on the mechanism of copper toxicity. The response of lactic acid bacteria to metals other than copper has received only little attention and will be discussed for other organisms to the extent that it could be relevant for LAB.

8.1 Introduction

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) belong to the order *Lactobacillales* and produce lactic acid as a result of carbohydrate fermentation. They are widely used in the production of fermented food, such as yogurt (*Streptococci* and *Lactobacilli*), cheeses (*Lactococci*), sauerkraut (*Leuconostoc*), wine (*Oenococci*), or cured sausages like Salami (*Pediococci*, *Lactococci*). They are heterotrophic and generally have complex nutritional requirements because they lack many biosynthetic capabilities. Because of this, LAB are generally abundant only in environments where these requirements can be provided, such as animal oral cavities and intestines (e.g. *Enterococci*), plant leaves (*Lactobacillus, Leuconostoc*), decaying plant or animal matter, feces, compost, etc.

LAB are used in the food industry for several reasons. Their growth lowers both the carbohydrate content of the foods that they ferment, and the pH due to lactic acid production. This is often accompanied by the secretion of bacteriocins, such as nisin. Bacteriocins are proteinaceous toxins which inhibit the growth of similar or closely related bacterial strains. The combined action of low pH and bacteriocins is very important in food preservation to efficiently inhibit the growth of competing bacteria, including the most common human pathogens (Galvez et al., 2007). This bestows prolonged shelf lives on these foods. The acidity also changes the texture of the foods due to precipitation of some proteins. In addition, the biochemical conversions involved in growth greatly enrich the flavor of fermented food. The acidic ambient generated by the secreted lactic acid can lead to the solubilization of complexed metal ions. For example in traditional cheese making, the cells are challenged by copper released from the copper kettles (Kiermeier and Kyrein, 1971). While this process is important for flavor development (Steffen et al., 2009), it also puts stress on the bacteria. A distinction should be made between metal ions which are required by LAB for certain enzyme functions and are thus vital, and metals that are only toxic without a benefit for life. Of the trace metals known to function in biochemical processes, iron, zinc, and magnesium are probably used by all bacteria, while nickel, cobalt, selenium, or molybdenum are only used by some. No function for copper or selenium has been identified in any member of the Lactoba*cillales*, while only a few organisms of this order have an apparent requirement for nickel or cobalt (Table 8.1).

Some trace metals, like iron, selenium, molybdenum, manganese, and copper are often scarce in the environment and it can be assumed that cells requiring these metals possess corresponding uptake systems. However, few of these have been characterized to date. For essential metals which can occur in widely different bioavailable concentrations in the environments, like copper, nickel, cobalt, and zinc, bacteria must have homeostatic control mechanisms which can deal with excess as well as with deficiency. For purely toxic metals without a known function in biology, like lead, silver, or cadmium, specialized defense mechanisms have evolved in many bacterial species (a biological function for cadmium has been described in a marine diatom, but this may represent an exceptional case (Lane and Morel, 2000)). Unfortunately, the knowledge of metal homeostasis and defense against metal stress by LAB is still very limited. Of all the biologically relevant metals, copper has by far received the widest attention. Copper homeostasis and the response to copper stress have been studied in detail in Lactococcus lactis and Enterococcus hirae and will be a major focus of this chapter. Stress responses to other metals, which have received little interest in LAB, will also be discussed for related bacteria such as Bacillus subtilis, to the extent that such work could be relevant to LAB on the basis of the known gene complements. Vanadium, molybdenum, and tungsten, which serve as cofactors in a variety of bacterial enzymes, will not be discussed as they are generally rare in the ambient and have not received any attention in LAB.

8.2 Metal toxicity mechanisms

Several reactive oxygen species (ROS) and one thiyl radical (RS⁻) can be formed in cells and can exert toxicity by modifying biomolecules (see (Miyoshi et al., 2003) for review). Metal ions can catalyze some of the reactions which lead to their formation, which is one of the underlying mechanisms of metal-induced stress. Superoxide radicals (O_2^{-}) are formed when oxygen takes up one electron. It is a product of "leaks" in the mitochondrial electron transport chain, but it can also be produced by macrophages in the 'oxidative burst', which is an important bactericidal action by these cells. O_2^- can be directly toxic, e.g. by oxidizing and displacing iron from Fe-S clusters (Fig. 8.1), whereby the released iron can catalyze additional toxic reactions (see below). Alternatively, superoxide can be converted by catalase to less toxic hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). However, the combination of iron, H_2O_2 , and superoxide leads to the generation of hydroxyl radicals (OH⁻) by a combination of the Fenton reaction (2) and the Haber-Weiss reaction (3).

- (1)
- $Fe^{3+} + O_2^- \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + O_2$ $Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^- + OH^ O_2^- + H_2O_2 \rightarrow OH^- + OH^- + O_2$ (2)
- (3)

OH⁻ are very reactive and damage biomolecules by hydroxylation. In the overall ROSscheme, iron, copper, and other redox-active metal ions exert their effects by stimulating the Fenton reaction.

 H_2O_2 is mainly produced by enzymatic reactions, such as the dehydrogenation of NAD(P)H. Since most *Lactococci* do not possess catalase, H₂O₂ can reach levels of 1-2% (Rochat et al., 2006) and may thus be considered not very toxic per se. It can leave the cells by diffusion through the membrane. H_2O_2 is also produced by dismutation of O_2^- by superoxide dismutase. The combination of superoxide dismutase and catalase provides an efficient antioxidant mechanism.

Nitric oxide is naturally formed in activated macrophages and endothelial cells and is considered as an active agent in several pathologies based on inflammation and organ reperfusion and may also play an important role in atherosclerosis. It has a poor oxidizing power and is even antioxidant under physiological concentrations (up to 100 nM). It does, however, react rapidly with oxygen to yield nitrogen dioxide (NO2⁻) which in turn may react with NO⁻ to yield nitrogen trioxide, N₂O₃. The rapid reaction of O₂⁻ with NO[•] gives the extremely reactive peroxynitrite, ONOO⁻, which mediates oxidation, nitrosation, and nitration reactions. Aliphatic thiols, RSH, are contained in living organisms in high concentrations. Typical levels of intracellular glutathione are 5 to 10 mM and a similar level of RSH is provided by cysteines in proteins. RSH can be oxidized in the presence of redox-active metal ions like iron or copper ions according to reactions (4) and (5).

(4)
$$\operatorname{RSH} + \operatorname{Cu}^{2+} \to \operatorname{RS}^{-} + \operatorname{Cu}^{+} + \operatorname{H}^{+}$$

(5)
$$2 \operatorname{Cu}^{+} + 2 \operatorname{H}^{+} + \operatorname{O}_{2} \rightarrow 2 \operatorname{Cu}^{2+} + \operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O}_{2}$$

The thiyl radicals have strong reactivity towards oxygen (5).

(5)
$$RS' + O_2 \rightarrow RSO_2$$

Furthermore, thiyl radicals are able to oxidize NADH to NAD, ascorbic acid, and to generate various free radicals such as OH^{-} and O_2^{-} . There can also be thiol-depletion by reaction (6), in cyclic combination with reaction (5).

(6)
$$2 \operatorname{Cu}^{2+} + 2 \operatorname{RSH} \rightarrow 2 \operatorname{Cu}^{+} + \operatorname{RSSR} + 2\operatorname{H}^{+}$$

While lipid and protein damage by the above mechanism have been demonstrated in vitro in many studies, recent findings suggest that alternative mechanisms of metal toxicity may be responsible for the primary toxic effects of copper, iron, and related metals in vivo. First, the

discovery that free copper or iron in the cell is extremely low or even non-existent makes Fenton chemistry and sulfhydryl depletion very unlikely mechanisms (Changela et al., 2003). Second, most *Lactobacillales* are rather tolerant to H_2O_2 . For example L. lactis IL1403, described in some detail below, generates H₂O₂ by NADH dehydrogenation, but does not possess catalase for H₂O₂ removal (Bolotin et al., 2001; Marty-Teysset et al., 2000; Rochat et al., 2006). Third, Macomber et al. recently showed that copper-loaded Escherichia coli was less sensitive to killing by H₂O₂ than cells grown without copper. Also, copper decreased the rate of H₂O₂-induced DNA damage. High intracellular copper levels even impaired iron-mediated oxidative killing by H₂O₂ (Macomber et al., 2007). Based on these observations the authors suggested that copper exerts its toxicity by mechanisms other than oxidative stress. A novel mechanism of copper toxicity was indeed recently demonstrated. It could be shown in vivo as well as in vitro that copper specifically damaged the iron-sulfur clusters of isopropylmalate dehydratase of E. coli (Macomber and Imlay, 2009). This enzyme of the branchedchain amino acid biosynthesis pathway contains an iron-sulphur cluster from which the iron can be displaced by copper in the absence of oxygen. Copper efflux systems, chelation by glutathione, and cluster repair by assembly systems all enhance resistance of cells to this type of copper toxicity. To establish whether this mechanism is a general route of copper toxicity in bacteria, including LAB, will require further investigation.

8.3 Response to copper and silver

8.3.1 Copper as a bioelement

In the primordial, anaerobic world, copper was in the Cu(I) state in the form of waterinsoluble sulphides under neutral pH conditions and was only bioavailable in the acidic waters near hydrothermal vents. The emergence of an oxygen-containing atmosphere by the action of oxygen-evolving microorganisms, probably cyanobacteria, less than 3×10^9 years ago was a dramatic event for most living organisms (Kasting and Siefert, 2002). Most of them adapted to the new conditions by acquiring an oxidative metabolism. The "old" enzymes involved in anaerobic metabolism were designed to operate in the lower portion of the redox spectrum. The arrival of dioxygen created the need for a new redox active metal that could attain higher redox potentials. The oxidation of insoluble Cu(I) led to soluble and thus widely bioavailable Cu(II), which was ideally suited to exploit the oxidizing power of dioxygen (Crichton and Pierre, 2001). Copper therefore is a modern bioelement (Kaim and Rall, 1996). Concomitant with the arrival of oxygen, multi-cellular organisms developed.

Because of copper's ability to cycle between Cu^{2+} and Cu^{+} at biologically relevant redox potentials, it has become a cofactor for over 30 known enzymes in higher organisms (Karlin, 1993). Prominent examples are lysyl oxidase involved in the crosslinking of collagen, tyrosinase required for melanin synthesis, dopamine β -hydroxylase of the catecholamine pathway, cytochrome *c* oxidase as a terminal electron acceptor of the respiratory chain, and superoxide dismutase required for defense against oxidative damage. Another class of copper proteins, such as plastocyanins or azurins acts as electron carriers. Depending on the type of coordination of the copper to the protein, the redox potential can vary over the range of + 200 to + 800 mV. Concomitant with the lower complexity of bacteria, only ten cuproenzymes have so far been characterized in microbes (Table 8.2).

Strikingly, none of the sequenced *Lactobacillales* appear to be copper users based on bioinformatics analysis of known copper enzymes. The definition of 'users' is obviously based on the currently know bacterial cuproenzymes summarized in Table 8.2. However, not all functions of copper in LAB are known. It was, for example, observed that *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* 3022 produced more biomass when grown aerobically with hemin and copper (Kaneko et al., 1990). The activity of diacetyl synthase was greatly stimulated by the addition of hemin or copper, and the activity of NAD-dependent diacetyl reductase was very high. Pyruvate formed *via* glycolysis was converted to diacetyl, which in turn was converted to acetoin by the NAD-dependent diacetyl reductase to reoxidize NADH. This suggest that hemin or copper stimulates acetyl coenzyme A formation from pyruvate, but the nature of this mechanism remains unknown. At any rate, some bacteria make extensive use of copper as a bioelement, while others, like the *Lactobacillales*, use it for only a few functions, if at all. It might be speculated that there is a connection between the small average genome size of *Lactobacillales* of only 2.3 Mb and those of copper-using Gram-positive organisms, with an average genome size of 3 Mb (Ridge et al., 2008).

Recently, an unexpected link between copper and molybdenum cofactor (MOCO) synthesis was discovered. Plant Cnx1G, a domain of the Cnx1GE protein, catalyzes the adenylation of molybdopterin. Cnx1G-bound molybdopterin was found to have copper bound to the molyb-dopterin dithiolate sulfurs (Kuper et al., 2004). The function of this bound copper is presently unknown, but copper might play a role in protecting the molybdopterin dithiolate from oxidation, and/or in presenting a suitable leaving group for molybdenum insertion (Schwarz and Mendel, 2006). It remains currently unclear if the binding of copper to molybdopterin is an essential step in MOCO synthesis, but if so, this pathway generates a copper requirement in addition to those considered in Table 8.1 (Zhang and Gladyshev, 2008). If one looks across the bacterial phyla, a co-occurrence of copper use and MOCO synthesis strongly prevails. In the *Lactobacillales*, only three of 22 sequenced organisms appear to be capable of MOCO synthesis. Conceivably, this could create a need for copper for these apparent copper non-users. In fact, the make-up of the copper homeostasis machinery of *E. hirae* strongly argues for a copper requirement in this organism (see below).

8.3.2 Copper homeostasis in Enterococcus hirae

In LAB, copper homeostasis has most extensively been studied in *E. hirae* and this system has served as a model for metal homeostasis in general (Solioz and Stoyanov, 2003). The core element is an operon which consists of the four genes, *copY*, *copZ*, *copA*, and *copB*. *CopZ* encodes a copper chaperone, *copY* a copper-responsive repressor, and *copA* and *copB* encode copper transporting ATPases (Fig. 8.2). The *cop* operon enables *E. hirae* to grow in up to 8 mM copper and under copper limiting conditions. The function of the four Cop-proteins will be described below.

8.3.2.1 The CopZ copper chaperone

The identification of copper chaperones marked the emergence of a new concept in the handling of metal ions by cells, namely the escorting of the metal by a protein to prevent nonspecific, damaging interactions. There is a range of different copper chaperones in eukaryotes to deliver copper to cytochrome *c* oxidase, superoxide dismutase, or copper ATPases (Kim et al., 2008), but only two types of copper chaperones have so far been described in bacteria. Scolike chaperones deliver copper to cytochrome oxidase; they appear to be absent in LAB. CopZ-like chaperones, on the other hand, transport copper to ATPases and transcriptional regulators and are ubiquitous in LAB (Huffman and O'Halloran, 2001). Interestingly, no CopZ-like copper chaperones have been described in Actinobacteria or in *E. coli* and related organisms and it remains unknown how copper is escorted in the cytoplasm of those organisms.

CopZ of *E. hirae* is an 8 kDa protein and the structure of CopZ and other CopZ-like proteins have been solved (see (Davis and O'Halloran, 2008) for review). They all share the same $\beta\alpha\beta\beta\alpha\beta$ ferredoxin-like structure, with two exposed cysteines of a CxxC motif located in a loop between $\beta1$ and $\alpha1$. There is still uncertainty as to how Cu⁺ is complexed by the chaperone *in vivo*. Cu⁺ can in principle bind to the CxxC motif in a near-linear S-Cu-S bonding. However, X-ray structures of Hah1, the human CopZ-like copper chaperone, have revealed structures where a single Hg²⁺ or a Cu⁺ ion is complexed by the four cysteines of two chaperones in a dimeric arrangement (Rosenzweig, 2001). Cu⁺-CopZ of *E. hirae* on the other hand appeared to be dimeric in solution with triagonally bound copper to be the most likely structure (Fig. 8.3) (Wimmer et al., 1999). The prevalence of homodimeric Cu⁺-CopZ was also demonstrated by biochemical and light-spectroscopic techniques (Kihlken et al., 2002; Kihlken et al., 2008). A three coordinate metal center is also supported by EXAFS measurements of Cu⁺-thiol bonds (Pufahl et al., 1997; Wimmer et al., 1999). Glutathione was shown to inhibit dimer formation *in vitro* and could, in principal, be a ligand to monomeric Cu⁺-CopZ inside the cell, where glutathione concentrations are high. It is also conceivable that there is an equilibrium between monomeric, dimeric, and even trimeric CopZ in the cell, but this will be difficult to assess.

CopZ of *E. hirae* was shown by surface plasmon resonance to interact with the CopA copper ATPase and the CopY repressor (Multhaup et al., 2001; Portmann et al., 2004). It is assumed that Cu^+ imported by CopA is transferred to the CopZ copper chaperone, which subsequently delivers copper to the CopY repressor for induction of the *cop* operon (discussed below) or to other sites requiring copper. An interaction of CopZ with the CopB copper exporting ATPase has also been shown (unpublished observation), suggesting that CopZ, in addition, has a role in copper export from the cell. CopZ-interaction with the copper exporting ATPase was also demonstrated in *B. subtilis* (Radford et al., 2003). In eukaryotes, the primary function of CopZ-like copper chaperones (Hah1, Atx1, Atox1) is in fact the delivery of copper to copper ATPases (Huffman and O'Halloran, 2001).

8.3.2.2 Copper ATPases

The two *E. hirae* copper ATPases mark the discovery of ATP-driven copper transport across cell membranes in 1992 (Odermatt et al., 1992). Before that time, there was no concept and no serious discussion of how copper could cross cell membranes. According to the current model, CopA serves in the uptake of copper when copper is limiting, while CopB serves in copper extrusion under conditions of copper excess (Odermatt et al., 1994; Solioz and Odermatt, 1995) (the nomenclature is confusing: copper export is accomplished by CopB in *E. hirae*, but by enzymes called 'CopA' in most other bacteria).

Copper ATPases belong to the superfamily of P-type ATPases, classically represented by eukaryotic Ca- and NaK-ATPases. The most prominent feature of this family of pumps is the formation of an acylphosphate intermediate (hence the name P-type ATPases) whereby the γphosphate of ATP phosphorylates the aspartic acid residue in the conserved motif DKTGT during the reaction cycle (Pedersen and Carafoli, 1987). Detailed structures of the calcium ATPase of the sarcoplasmatic reticulum have given considerable insight into the working of such ATP-driven ion pumps (Toyoshima et al., 2003; Toyoshima and Mizutani, 2004). Copper-transporting ATPases are a subgroup of the of P-type ATPases. They have been termed heavy metal ATPases, CPx-type ATPases due to a conserved intramembranous CPC or CPH motif (Lutsenko and Kaplan, 1995; Solioz and Vulpe, 1996), or P1B-type ATPases, based on more systematic phylogeny (Lutsenko and Kaplan, 1995). CPx-type ATPases are widespread in nature and have been found to catalyze the transport of a range of transition and heavy metal ions, including Cu⁺, Ag⁺, Co²⁺, Zn²⁺, Cd²⁺, Hg²⁺, and Pb²⁺ (Axelsen and Palmgren, 1998).

Another typical feature of CPx-type ATPases is the presence of N-terminal metal binding domains. These domains can be of two kinds. In most CPx-type ATPases, including CopA of *E. hirae*, these domains consist of a CopZ-like module with a conserved CxxC motif for copper binding and the same $\beta\alpha\beta\beta\alpha\beta$ fold exhibited by CopZ-like chaperones. Some prokaryotic ATPases possess two such CopZ-like domains and eukaryotic copper ATPases have two (yeast) or six (humans) such domains (Hanson et al., 2001; Solioz et al., 1994). The second type of N-terminal metal binding domain is found in CopB of *E. hirae* and a few poorly characterized bacterial CPx-type ATPases. It consists of a histidine- and methionine-rich region. Similar repeat structures were also found in two *Pseudomonas syringae* proteins which were

demonstrated to be periplasmic copper binding proteins (Cha and Cooksey, 1991). The function of the N-terminal metal binding domains of heavy-metal ATPases remains unclear. Copper-transfer from chaperones to the N-terminal metal binding domains of CPx-type ATPases is now well documented, but it has never been shown that this copper can actually be transported across the membrane. Rather, it has been suggested that the N-terminus regulates the activity of the ATPase by domain-domain interaction (Arguello and Gonzalez-Guerrero, 2008). Copper transport may thus require a separate copper-donation event by the chaperone to the membrane region of the ATPases (Gonzalez-Guerrero and Arguello, 2008). In *B. subtilis*, the copper export pump CopA features two N-terminal CopZ-like copper binding domains. It was shown that these motifs play a role in dimerization of CopA, which could constitute a regulatory mechanism of the ATPase (Singleton et al., 2008; Singleton and Le Brun, 2009).

ATP-driven copper transport from the cytoplasm to the extra-cytoplasmic space, catalyzed by copper ATPases, has been extensively studied and appears to take place in all bacterial species. Cu⁺ and Ag⁺ export by CopB of *E. hirae* have been directly demonstrated with radioisotopes in membrane vesicle and in whole cells loaded with silver (Odermatt et al., 1994; Solioz and Odermatt, 1995). Copper importing ATPases, on the other hand, have only been described in *E. hirae* (CopA), *Synechocystis* sp. (CtaA), and *B. subtilis* (YcnJ) (Chillappagari et al., 2009; Odermatt et al., 1994; Tottey et al., 2001). While the role of *E. hirae* CopA in cell physiology is still unclear, CtaA of *Synechocystis* sp. imports copper for plastocyanin, a copper-containing thylakoid protein which functions in the photosynthetic electron transport chain.

Cyanobacteria (e.g. *Synechocystis* sp.) are the one bacterial group that has a known demand for cytoplasmic copper for the synthesis of copper-containing, thylakoid-localized plastocyanin and cytochrome oxidase (Tottey et al., 2005). In other organisms, the cuproenzymes are localized at the cytoplasmic membrane or in the periplasm and copper loading of these proteins could take place in the periplasmic space. In many bacteria, including LAB, no intracellular copper requirements are known at all. The copper homeostatic machinery of these organisms may thus have the sole purpose of keeping copper out. Nevertheless, specific copper importers that are expressed under copper-limiting conditions have been described in *E. hirae* and *B. subtilis* (Chillappagari et al., 2009; Wunderli-Ye and Solioz, 2001). Energy-dependent copper uptake has, however, not been directly demonstrated, either by copper ATPases or alternative mechanisms such as with chalkophores (copper 'siderophores') (Balasubramanian and Rosenzweig, 2008; Kim et al., 2004) or as copper-substrate complexes through substrate transporters. In this light, copper import into the cytoplasm of LAB still needs rigorous experimental confirmation.

8.3.2.3 Regulation of copper homeostatic genes

CopY of *E. hirae* is a copper-responsive transcriptional regulator. It responds to excessive copper in the cytoplasm by derepressing the *cop* operon. In LAB, two types of copper responsive transcriptional regulators have been identified by bioinformatics analysis of sequenced genomes, namely CopY-type and CsoR-type regulators (Table 8.3). CopY-like repressors are the principal copper-responsive regulators of LAB and have experimentally been associated with gene regulation in *E. hirae* (Strausak and Solioz, 1997), *Enterococcus faecium* (Hasman et al., 2006), *L. lactis* IL1403 (Magnani et al., 2008), *Streptococcus mutans* (Portmann et al., 2006; Vats and Lee, 2001) and *Streptococcus gordonii* (Mitrakul et al., 2004). CsoR-type regulators have only recently been described (Liu et al., 2007), although their occurrence is more widespread in the prokaryotic world than that of CopY-type repressors. In LAB, CsoR-related proteins occur only in a minority of the sequenced species and no biochemical studies are as yet available. Finally, CueR-type regulators which regulate copper homeostatic genes in *E. coli* (Outten et al., 2000), only occur in a few species of the *Ba*-
cillales, but not in LAB. CueR-type regulators are thus the primary copper-responsive regulators of Gram-negative bacteria.

CopY has a bi-partite structure: the N-terminus interacts with DNA, while the C-terminus interacts with zinc or copper. The N-terminus shows extensive sequence similarity to BlaI, MecI, and PenI, repressors which are involved in the regulation of β -lactamase in Grampositive bacteria (Fig. 8.4A) (Garcia-Castellanos et al., 2004; Himeno et al., 1986; Van Melckebeke et al., 2003; Wittman and Wong, 1988). The structure of the N-terminus of CopR of *L. lactis*, a CopY-homolog, has been solved by solution NMR (Cantini et al., 2009) and is in fact nearly superimposable on the structure of BlaI of *Bacillus licheniformis* (Fig. 8.4B). The C-terminus of CopY exhibits sequence similarity to the yeast copper-inducible repressors AMT1, ACE1, and Mac, and to the β -domain of metallothioneins (Bird, 2008). All these proteins feature the consensus motif CxCx₄₋₅CxC. In newly synthesized CopY, this site is occupied by a single Zn²⁺, which is coordinated by four sulfur atoms in a tetrahedral fashion (Cobine et al., 2002b).

At low ambient copper concentrations, CopY is present as a Zn(II)-containing homodimer and is bound to the operator-promoter region of the operon (Strausak and Solioz, 1997). The CopY-dimer binding sites feature the so called '*cop*-box' of consensus TACAnnTGTA, a motif which is widely conserved in the *Lactobacillales*. The DNA – CopY interaction has been assessed in quantitative terms by surface plasmon resonance analysis (Portmann et al., 2006). It was found that the CopY-type repressors of *L. lactis, E. hirae*, or *S. mutans* had very similar affinities for *cop*-boxes (Portmann et al., 2004). Interestingly, the β -lactamase regulators BlaI, MecI, and PenI, which feature an N-terminal DNA binding domain essentially identical to that of CopY-like repressors, also recognize a 'cop-box' (Sharma et al., 1998); the possible consequences of this have not been investigated.

Under low copper conditions, a CopY dimer is bound to the *cop*-box and prevents transcription. When media copper is raised, two Cu⁺-CopZ donate the copper ion to one CopY monomer. This displaces the bound Zn(II) and CopY is released from the DNA as Cu^+_2CopY , allowing transcription to proceed (Fig. 8.2). Protein-protein interaction between CopZ and CopY could be demonstrated by surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy (Multhaup et al., 2001) and the overall induction mechanism of CopY by copper and CopZ is experimentally well supported (Cobine et al., 1999; Cobine et al., 2002a; Cobine et al., 2002b; Cobine et al., 2002c). At high intracellular copper levels, CopZ is degraded through a proteolytic pathway, conceivably because high levels of Cu^+ -CopZ may be toxic to the cell (Lu and Solioz, 2001). Following release from the DNA, Cu^+_2 -CopY is probably also proteolytically degraded (unpublished observation).

CsoR-type repressors have so far only been studied in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *B. subtilis*. However, it can be assumed that CsoR-type repressors work similarly in LAB and will thus be briefly discussed. CsoR from *M. tuberculosis* represents the founding member of this new class of prokaryotic Cu(I) regulators and its structure has recently been solved (Liu et al., 2007). CsoR is tetrameric, with two monomers each forming a stable homodimer that adopts an antiparallel four-helix bundle architecture. This represents a novel DNA-binding fold because it lacks the obvious candidate DNA binding domains present in winged-helix type metalloregulators like CopY and CueR. Each CsoR homodimer binds two Cu⁺ such that they bridge the two subunits. By X-ray absorption spectroscopy, it was shown that Cu⁺ adopts a planar trigonal coordination involving two cysteines and a histidine residue (Liu et al., 2007).

CsoR has been shown to regulate the *copZA* operon of *B. subtilis* by copper-dependent derepression (Ma et al., 2009). The operon encodes a CopZ-type copper chaperone and a copper efflux ATPase. Two tetramers of apo-CsoR were shown to bind to a 30 bp DNA region overlapping the promoter of the *copAZ* operon. Cu⁺ weakened the CsoR-DNA interaction, thereby inducing the operon (Liu et al., 2007). CopY-type and CsoR-type repressors feature very dif-

ferent structures and activation mechanism to fulfill essential the same role. Why such diverse mechanisms for gene regulation by copper evolved remains an interesting open question. In the study of acid-adaptation of Lactobacillus bulgaricus, it was found that, among a range of three dozens of other genes, three CPx-type ATPases were induced by low pH stress (Penaud et al., 2006). One of these ATPases resembles CopB of E. hirae and it appears likely that it serves in copper extrusion. Acidic conditions can lead to an increase in ambient copper concentrations through the release of bound copper and induction of copper export ATPases by acid stress makes physiological sense. No *cop* boxes were present in any of the promoters of the L. bulgaricus CPx-type ATPases and the induction mechanism by low pH remains unknown. Acid-sensitive mutants in the unrelated microorganisms Rhizobium leguminosarum by. viciae and Sinorhizobim meliloti were similarly found to have disrupted actP genes which encode CPx-type ATPases (Reeve et al., 2002). These mutant strains were also more sensitive to ambient copper. Copper induced expression of the wild-type actP genes and low pH enhanced induction two to three-fold. Downstream of the ATPase genes of both organisms are genes encoding MerR-type transcriptional regulators, termed HmrR, which apparently regulate the expression of the ActP ATPases. In E. coli, a MerR-type transcriptional regulator, CueR, is responsible for copper-induced transcription of the CopA copper export ATPase and the periplasmic CueO copper oxidase (Outten et al., 2000; Outten et al., 2001). Acidinduction of copper ATPases may be a more general phenomenon. Unfortunately, acid induction of the copper homeostatic genes of neither E. coli, nor E. hirae or L. lactis has so far been addressed.

8.3.3 Copper homeostasis in Lactococcus lactis

In *L. lactis* IL1403, the copper-inducible *copRZA* operon encodes the CopR repressor, a CopY-type repressor, the CopZ copper chaperone, and the CopA copper ATPase (Fig. 8.5). The latter exhibits 45 % sequence identity to CopA of *E. hirae*. In contrast to *E. hirae* CopA, *L. lactis* CopA has been shown to be a copper export ATPase (Magnani et al., 2008). The CopR repressor of *L. lactis* regulates the CopR regulon in a fashion analogous to CopY of *E. hirae*. The CopZ-like copper chaperone, finally, can be assumed to function in intracellular copper routing (Arnesano et al., 2002; Cobine et al., 2002b).

A second putative copper ATPase in *L. lactis* is encoded by the unlinked, monocistronic *copB* gene, which is also under the control of CopR. CopB features a histidine-rich N-terminus and shares 55 % sequence identity with *E. hirae* CopB. However, no function could so far be assigned to this enzyme. It is notable that *E. hirae* CopB is encoded by the *copYZAB* operon, while CopB of *L. lactis* is encoded by a monocistronic gene. Whether these different gene organizations in *L. lactis* and *E. hirae* are a consequence of functional differences remains an open question.

8.3.3.1 Global responses to copper stress by Lactococcus lactis

The CopR repressors of *L. lactis* also recognizes the TACAnnTGTA consensus motif, the *cop*-box (Portmann et al., 2006). By performing a genome wide search for *cop* boxes in *L. lactis* IL1403, Barré and co-workers found 28 genes whose operator regions harbor the *cop*-box. Seven of these *cop*-boxes were shown to interact with CopR in a copper-responsive manner *in vitro*. The genes and operons associated with these *cop*-boxes were collectively termed 'CopR regulon'. It encompasses a total of 14 genes, organized into four operons and two monocistronic genes (Fig. 8.6) (Magnani et al., 2008). What is the function of these additional copper-regulated genes in copper homeostasis? Only for *lctO*, a NAD-independent, flavin-containing lactate oxidase, a function has been proposed (Barré et al., 2007). Since LctO requires oxygen to convert lactate to pyruvate, it could serve in the elimination of molecular oxygen under copper stress, thereby attenuating formation of reactive oxygen radicals (Barré et al., 2007). Similarly, an oxygen-consuming NADH oxidase has been proposed to be in-

volved in the defense against oxidative stress in *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* by removing oxygen and thereby preventing the generation of H_2O_2 and its reaction products (Marty-Teysset et al., 2000).

8.3.4 Response to silver

Silver has no known biological role and is highly toxic to microorganisms. In fact, silverimpregnated materials are starting to be employed to create aseptic surfaces or oderless clothing (Sondi and Salopek-Sondi, 2004). Silver is not redox active like other toxic metals, but remains in the Ag⁺ form. Silver has a very high affinity to thiolates and binds avidly to sites normally occupied by Cu(I). Intracellular copper is always in the form of Cu(I), due to the reducing ambient of the cytoplasm, and any site normally occupied by copper can be taken over by silver. In this way, silver can activate the copper-responsive repressors like CopY of E. hirae or CopR of L. lactis, which has experimentally been verified (Odermatt and Solioz, 1995). It has also been shown that silver can be a substrate for copper transporting ATPases of bacteria, fish, and mammals (Bury et al., 1999; Hanson et al., 2001; Kanamaru et al., 1994; Stoyanov et al., 2003). The copper efflux ATPase of *E. hirae*, CopB, was shown to pump Ag⁺ with the same affinity and velocity as Cu⁺ (Solioz and Odermatt, 1995). Ag⁺ also binds to copper chaperones in a fashion analogous to that of copper (Kihlken et al., 2008; Narindrasorasak et al., 2004). Silver is thus a Cu(I) mimetic and it can be assumed that all copper resistance systems can also handle silver. However, due to the higher toxicity of silver, organisms can generally tolerate much less silver than copper.

A plasmid-born silver resistance system has been isolated from silver-resistant *Salmonella* sp. (Gupta et al., 1999). The resistance determinant encodes a periplasmic silver-specific binding protein plus two apparently parallel efflux pumps: a CPx-type ATPase, SilP, and a membrane potential-dependent cation/proton antiporter. The *sil* determinants are regulated by a two-component sensor kinase-response regulator system. Due to the similarity of Ag^+ and Cu^+ , it would be expected that the Sil-system can also handle copper, but this was apparently not tested.

8.4 Response to other heavy metals

Relatively few studies have been conducted on the response of LAB to heavy metals other than copper. We will therefore also discuss some of the key findings made in other bacterial species to the extent that they could be relevant to LAB. Mercury resistance, which has received considerable attention in many bacterial species, has not been addressed to any significant extent in LAB. The interested reader is referred to the excellent review on bacterial mercury resistance by Barkay et al. (Barkay et al., 2003).

4.1 Response to iron

In air, Fe^{2+} is rapidly oxidized to Fe^{3+} , which forms hydroxides which are barely soluble at neutral pH. For this reason, bacteria generally have to deal with iron limitation rather than with iron excess. Hence, bacteria have elaborated a range of strategies to acquire iron from the environment. For one, they produce high affinity chelators (siderophores) which can solubilize Fe^{3+} . In turn, corresponding ferrisiderophores uptake systems take up the iron-siderophore complexes to cover the cellular demand for iron (Neilands, 1995). It has been proposed that *Lactobacilli* do not require iron for growth, based on the growth in iron-deficient media and other observations (Imbert and Blondeau, 1998; Weinberg, 1997). However, the genomes of LAB do contain genes which are predicted to have roles in iron acquisition. Also, recent work in this laboratory has identified HemN as an iron-requiring protein involved in heme biosynthesis. Conceivably, the iron requires a supply of exogenous heme (Brooijmans et al., 2007). LAB grown in the presence of oxygen produce damaging ROS, such as H_2O_2 , OH⁻, or O_2^- . The hydroxyl and superoxide radicals, rather than H_2O_2 , represent the ROS causing toxicity for LAB. H_2O_2 is membrane permeable and can be accumulated in significant amounts by LAB. Many species, including *L. lactis* IL1403, do not possess catalase for the removal of H_2O_2 (Marty-Teysset et al., 2000; Rochat et al., 2006). However, in the presence of iron, H_2O_2 can be converted to highly reactive OH⁻ by a Fenton-type reaction. Therefore, intracellular iron levels may contribute significantly to the impact of high H_2O_2 levels on cell survival.

Since the importance of iron for the growth of LAB has been discounted, little work has been performed on iron homeostasis. Here, findings from related Gram-positive bacteria, e.g. *B. subtilis or Lactobacillus plantarum*, will also be discussed since they may be extrapolated to LAB and may serve as starting point for further investigations. In *B. subtilis*, iron homeostasis has been investigated in some detail. In these cells, the ferric uptake regulator (Fur) represses genes involved in iron uptake. Fur is a dimeric DNA binding protein with one structural Zn^{2+} -ion per monomer and possesses a regulatory Fe²⁺ binding site (Bsat and Helmann, 1999; Kehres et al., 2000). Iron starvation induced by treatment of cultures with the iron-chelator 2,2'-dipyridyl induces the Fur regulon, encompassing 20 operons with 39 genes. The same set of genes is also induced in *fur* deletion mutants, supporting the nature of the Fur regulon (Baichoo et al., 2002). *L. lactis* IL1403 possesses a Fur-like protein of similar size to *B. sub-tilis* Fur (128 *versus* 132 amino acids) and with 28 % sequence identity, but experimental evidence for a function of this protein in iron homeostasis is not available.

The analysis of Fur-regulated genes in B. subtilis has led to the identification of various iron uptake pathways which may also be present in L. lactis, e.g. FeuB (Accession: ABX75613, 328 amino acids, 38 % sequence identity to B. subtilis FeuB, 334 amino acids). In B. subtilis, there is a range of iron uptake systems: FeuBC is believed to take up the siderophores enterobactin and corynebactin, the latter being the siderophore produced by B. subtilis. Except for the YebLMN elemental iron uptake system (related to the yeast FTS3 system), the iron transporters identified in *B. subtilis* belong to the ABC transporter family (Andrews et al., 2003; Moore and Helmann, 2005). Four ABC transporters for the uptake of ferric citrate, corynebactin and hydroxamate-type siderophores appear to be present in *B. subtilis* (FeuBC, YfiZ/YfhA, FhuBG and YfmDE). Of all these iron acquisition proteins, L. lactis appears to only possess FeuB. This suggests on one hand that there is a need for iron uptake by this LAB, but on the other hand, indicates a very low, maybe even non-essential demand for iron. An ABC transporter, MtsABC, involved in iron and zinc uptake has also been described for Streptococcus pyogenes (Janulczyk et al., 1999). The isolated protein exhibited high-affinity binding of Zn(II), Fe(III), and Cu(II) in vitro. An mtsABC mutant showed lower iron and zinc uptake, but was not affected in its growth. In the light of these observations and of what is known about copper homeostasis, it appears unlikely that MtsABC acts as a copper importer in S. pyogenes. Convincing evidence of an ABC-type copper importer in any prokaryote has yet to be produced. All sequenced LAB genomes encode two or more ABC-type transporters, but the function of most of these have not yet been experimentally addressed. Recently, an iron homeostatic gene, mntH, was identified in Lactococcus lactis MG1363, based on resistance of tellurite (TeO_3^{2-}) and oxidative stress (Turner et al., 2007). Tellurite exerts oxidative stress by superoxide formation which accompanies its reduction in the cytoplasm (Perez et al., 2007). The tellurite-resistant strain with a non-functional *mntH* gene exhibited greatly increased survival after 24 h of aerated growth, compared to the wild-type. MntH is a member of the family of natural resistance-associated macrophage proteins (Nramp) (Richer et al., 2003). Members of this family have been shown to serve in Mn^{2+} and Fe^{2+} uptake (Kehres et al., 2000; Makui et al., 2000). The *mntH* mutant strain exhibited reduced iron uptake, suggesting that MntH serves in Fe²⁺ uptake. This observation does, however, not rule out that MntH also has a role in manganese acquisition (Turner et al., 2007). A

strain deleted in MntH was still respiration competent when supplied with heme or protoporphyrin IX, indicating that iron is still taken up. However, excess iron may be taken up by the wild-type *via* MntH and this iron could participate in oxygen dependent toxicity in *L. lactis*.

8.4.2 Response to zinc

Zinc is an essential metal ion, but can be toxic if in excess. It plays a vital role as cofactor for more than 300 enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, alcohol dehydrogenase and DNA binding proteins. It also functions as structural scaffold for RNA polymerase, tRNA synthases and approximately 40 additional proteins (Coleman, 1998; Dunn et al., 2003; Outten and O'Halloran, 2001; Sun and Plapp, 1992; Vallee and Falchuk, 1993). Additionally, zinc can also function as an antioxidant by protecting sulfhydryl groups of proteins from the attack of reactive free radical species and by antagonizing free radical formation by competing with redoxactive transition metals like copper and iron (Powell, 2000). In line with this, a mutant of L. *lactis* deficient in the low and high-affinity zinc uptake system was found to be more sensitive to H₂O₂ (Scott et al., 2000). In B. subtilis, H₂O₂ induces the Fur-like PerR repressor, which controls the expression of a dedicated zinc uptake system, ZosA, in addition to catalase and some other genes (Gaballa and Helmann, 2002). A zosA mutant exhibited significantly lower resistance to the diamine, a thiol-specific oxidizing agent. A similar regulatory system involved in zinc uptake and resistance to H_2O_2 was described in L. lactis. The two FNR-like (fumarate/nitrate reduction regulator) proteins, FlpA and FlpB, control the expression of a zinc uptake system which increases cellular zinc and enhance resistance to H₂O₂ (Gostick et al., 1999).

On the other hand, excess zinc can inhibit protein function by blocking pivotal thiols or by competing with other metal ions for binding to the active sites of proteins. Zinc at high concentrations can also bind to negatively charged domains of proteins which are crucial for function. It was for example shown that zinc inhibits cytochrome c oxidase, presumably by binding to the negatively charged proton entry site of the enzyme (Aagaard and Brzezinski, 2001). Clearly, zinc levels in the cell must be tightly regulated.

The first zinc resistance protein was identified in the extremely metal resistant bacterium *Ral-stonia metallidurans*, followed by the CnrA protein from the same bacterium (see (Nies, 2003) for review). They are members of the RND protein family, which was first described as a related group of bacterial transport proteins involved in heavy metal resistance (*R. metal-lidurans*), nodulation (*Mesorhizobium loti*) and cell division (*E. coli*) (Saier, Jr. et al., 1994). This family has grown into a huge superfamily that includes seven protein families that can be found in all major kingdoms of life. In *R. metallidurans*, three genes are organized into the *czcCBA* operon. CzcCBA mediates resistance to Co^{2+} , Zn^{2+} and Cd^{2+} , driven by the proton motive force. Similar systems are also involved in nickel and manganese efflux (Claverys, 2001). These metal transporters belong to the cluster 9 family of ABC transporters, or ATP-binding cassette permeases. ABC transporters typically consist of a cytosolic metal binding protein, a membrane permease, and an ATPase, and can serve in the uptake as well as in the secretion of metal ions. ABC-transporters can be found in the genomes of all bacterial species, but the function has only been characterized in a few cases.

Zinc homeostasis has so far received little attention in LAB, but transport systems for zinc uptake as well as zinc efflux have been described for other Gram-positive bacteria (Hantke, 2005). In *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, it has been proposed that the *adcCBA* operon encodes an ATP-binding cassette transporter for zinc uptake, and *psa* one for manganese uptake (Dintilhac et al., 1997). A similar ABC-type manganese uptake system which is important for virulence has been described in *S. gordonii* (Dintilhac et al., 1997; Hantke, 2005; Hazlett et al., 2003; Jakubovics et al., 2000; Janulczyk et al., 1999) and an ABC transporter of *Streptococcus pyogenes* has been shown to bind copper, iron, and zinc, but no transport studies were performed (Janulczyk et al., 1999). In *L. lactis* IL1403, ZitSQP is an ABC transporter puta-

tively involved in high affinity Zn^{2+} uptake (Bolotin et al., 2001). The ABC transporterencoding genes, *zitSQP*, are organized into the putative *zitRSQP* operon, also encoding the *zitR* repressor. Sequence similarities of the putative *zitR* metalloregulator suggest that *zit* expression could be regulated by zinc present in the environment, as already shown for other zinc transport operons in Gram-positive bacteria (Dintilhac et al., 1997; Gaballa and Helmann, 1998; Hantke, 2005). Several zinc uptake systems in bacteria have been shown to be under the control of a similar zinc–sensing Fur homolog, the zinc uptake repressor Zur (Dalet et al., 1999; Gaballa and Helmann, 2002; Lindsay and Foster, 2001; Patzer and Hantke, 2000).

An expression system $P_{Zn}zitR$, based on the regulatory signals (P_{Zn} promoter and *zitR* putative zinc repressor gene) of *L. lactis* IL1403 *zit* operon has been developed and shown to be highly inducible upon divalent cation starvation and strongly repressed in the presence of excess Zn^{2+} , thereby reinforcing the hypothesis of the involvement of the *zit* operon in Zn^{2+} high-affinity uptake and regulation in *L. lactis* IL1403 (Llull and Poquet, 2004).

Zinc efflux in Gram-positive bacteria has received even less attention than zinc uptake. In *Streptococcus thermophilus* 4134, the chromosomal *cadC* and *cadA* genes were shown to constitute a cadmium/zinc resistance system (Schirawski et al., 2002). They are organized in an operon, and their transcription is cadmium dependent *in vivo*. The predicted gene product of *cadA* is a CPx-type cadmium efflux ATPase and that of *cadC* an ArsR-type regulatory protein. The two *cad*-genes could also confer cadmium and zinc resistance to *L. lactis*. Clearly, the understanding of zinc homeostasis in LAB is still in its infancy and considerable more work is required to understand uptake, regulation, and secretion of zinc in these bacteria.

8.4.3. Response to manganese

Cytoplasmic manganese can help to protect bacteria against oxidative stress and the induction of manganese uptake by H_2O_2 has been observed in many bacteria (Horsburgh et al., 2002b). *L. plantarum* can accumulate manganese to over 30 mM (Archibald and Duong, 1984); uptake is accomplished by *mntA*, encoding a Mn^{2+} and Cd^{2+} -transporting P-type ATPase (Hao et al., 1999). In *S. gordonii*, the scaCBA operon encodes an ABC-type manganese permease which is induced by low ambient manganese *via* the ScaR repressor (Jakubovics et al., 2000). ABC-type manganese permeases as described in *S. gordonii* are also widespread in LAB (Claverys, 2001). In addition to the ABC-type manganese permease MntABC, *Staphylococcus aureus* also possesses a Nramp-type manganese uptake system, MntH (Horsburgh et al., 2002a). These systems are regulated by the manganese-dependent MntR repressor and the PerR oxidative stress regulator in a concerted fashion. Similar transporters and regulators have also been described in other bacteria (see (Horsburgh et al., 2002b) for review), but studies in LAB have remained scarce.

Manganese homeostasis plays a key role in many organisms, chiefly to defy oxidative stress and/or during infection of a human host (Jakubovics et al., 2000). In many Gram-positive bacteria, the major superoxide dismutase which protects against oxidative stress is a manganesecontaining enzyme (Gibson and Caparon, 1996; Poyart et al., 1998). Aside of its role as a cofactor of superoxide dismutase, manganese is able to directly protect against oxidative stress. *In vitro*, it has been shown that complexes of Mn(II) with bicarbonate can rapidly dismutate H_2O_2 (Stadtman et al., 1990). The most recently proposed scheme for this reaction involves cycling between reactions (7) and (8).

(7)
$$\operatorname{Mn}^{2+} + \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O}_2 \to \operatorname{Mn}^{3+} + 2 \operatorname{OH}^-$$

(8)
$$Mn^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Mn^{2+}O_2 + 2 H^+$$

The active species of manganese is a $Mn^{2+}(HCO_3^-)_2$ complex in which HCO_3^- acts as an acceptor for protons (Tikhonov et al., 2006). HCO_3^- also lowers the redox potential of the

Mn(II)-Mn(III) couple, which makes the reaction with H_2O_2 more favorable. Nevertheless, the rate constants of these reactions are still far lower than those of enzymic manganese-dependent SODs and Mn-catalases and it was recently shown that imported Mn does not significantly scavenge H_2O_2 in *E. coli* (Anjem et al., 2009). Rather, the beneficial effects of manganese appears to lies in its ability to metallate mononuclear enzymes in lieu of iron. When the iron is not deeply buried in iron-loaded enzymes, it can engage in the Fenton reaction and cause oxidative stress. The substitution of such iron by manganese under oxidative stress conditions could thus prevent protein damage. In line with this concept, *E. coli* mutants that could not import manganese were found to suffer high rates of protein oxidation (Anjem et al., 2009). Clearly, the protection of bacteria against oxidative stress by manganese remains an interesting area of investigation for the future.

8.4.4 Response to nickel

Nickel is an essential trace nutrient for some bacteria, required at nanomolar concentrations. To date, nine nickel-containing enzymes are known: urease, NiFe-hydrogenase, carbon monoxide dehydrogenase, acetyl-CoA decarboxylase/synthase, methyl coenzyme M reductase, certain superoxide dismutases, some glyoxylases, aci-reductone dioxygenase, and methylenediurease (Mulrooney and Hausinger, 2003; Ragsdale, 2009). None of these enzymes appears to play a role in LAB. Consequently, nickel is probably not an essential trace nutrient of these bacteria. Nickel in excess can induce oxidative stress in cells by cycling through the three redox states Ni⁺, Ni²⁺, and Ni³⁺ (Costa et al., 2002). In organisms requiring nickel, it is taken up by dedicated nickel uptake transporters, such as the NikABCDE import pump in E. coli (De Pina et al., 1999), or by high-affinity nickel/cobalt permeases (Eitinger et al., 2005). Members of these HoxN type permeases have been identified in Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria (Eitinger and Mandrand-Berthelot, 2000). Different Ni(II)-responsive metalloregulators that maintain nickel homeostasis in Gram-positive bacteria have been characterized. In *M. tuberculosis* the transcription factor NmtR of the Ars/SmtB family inhibits the expression of the gene for NmtA, an ATP-dependent transporter responsible for the efflux of nickel and cobalt. NmtR tightly binds to the promoter region of the *nmtR* and *nmtA* genes and releases the DNA when nickel, or to certain extent cobalt, is abundant (Cavet et al., 2002). A second nickel and cobalt sensor in *M. tuberculosis*, KmtA, represses the expression of a putative cation diffusion facilitator (CDF) metal exporter. NmtR and KmtA differ in their nickel/cobalt sensing affinity. It appears that first KmtR detects basal levels of cytosolic nickel or cobalt, which are then exported following expression of the CDF transporter. Only when a higher threshold of these metals accumulates does NmtR sense them and allows expression of the P-type ATPase (Campbell et al., 2007). In Streptomyces coelicolor the nickelresponsive regulator Nur, belonging to the Fur family, was characterized. This regulator represses the transcription of Fe-superoxide dismutase and simultaneously induces the transcription of Ni-superoxide dismutase under nickel stress (Ahn et al., 2006). It is not known how LAB respond to nickel stress. Natural environments are generally low in nickel and there may not have been a need for these organisms to evolve nickel detoxification systems. Indeed, genome analysis of sequenced LAB does not reveal any genes which are obviously connected to nickel.

8.4.5 Response to cobalt

Cobalt is a transition metal with the two naturally occurring oxidation states Co^{2+} and Co^{3+} and is primarily found in the corrin ring of coenzyme B12. To date, several also noncorrincobalt-containing enzymes have been isolated and characterized (Kobayashi and Shimizu, 1999). Cobalt undergoes redox chemistry and can thus participate in Fenton-type reactions, a fact making it potentially toxic at higher concentrations (Valko et al., 2005). Cobalt homeostasis is closely related to the homeostasis of nickel and other divalent ions. Both, cobalt and nickel, are taken up by the cell via secondary metal transporters with different ion preferences, ranging from strict selectivity for nickel through unbiased transport of both ions to a strong preference for cobalt (Eitinger et al., 2005; Komeda et al., 1997). In *S. aureus*, the zinc/cobalt-responsive transcriptional repressor CzrA, which belongs to the ArsR/SmtB family, regulates the expression of the *czr* operon encoding a cobalt/zinc pump (Pennella et al., 2003). Transcriptional repressors with high sequence identities to CzrA can be found in the genomes of many LAB, but no characterization of their function has been performed to date.

8.4.6 Response to chromium

The widespread industrial use of the heavy metal chromium has caused it to be considered a serious environmental pollutant. It is mostly found in its trivalent or hexavalent forms in nature. Cr^{6+} is highly toxic to all forms of life, whereas Cr^{3+} is an essential micronutrient for many higher organisms (De Flora et al., 1990; Megharaj et al., 2003). However, for microorganisms and plants, chromium is non-essential. Chromate (CrO_4^{2-}) crosses biological membranes by means of the sulfate uptake pathway (Ramirez-Diaz et al., 2008). Inside the cell, Cr^{6+} is reduced to Cr^{3+} , a process in which free radicals may be formed (Liu and Shi, 2001). Bacterial chromium resistance systems related to plasmid genes usually encode membrane transporters which catalyze the efflux of chromate ions from the cytoplasm. The best-studied example is the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ChrA protein, which functions as a chemiosmotic pump that extrudes chromate from the cytoplasm using the proton motive force (Alvarez et al., 1999). A broad phylogenic analysis for *chrA* transporter genes revealed homologous genes in bacteria, archaea and fungi (Diaz-Perez et al., 2007). Several *Bacilli* possess homologous genes equences, but none of the known chromium-defense genes are present in the sequenced LAB genomes.

8.4.7 Response to cadmium

Cadmium is a heavy metal with an oxidation state of +2. It is chemically similar to zinc and occurs naturally with zinc and lead in sulfide ores. Cadmium is not generally believed to have a biological function, however, one enzyme (cadmium-carbonic anhydrase) incorporating cadmium under low zinc conditions has been found in the marine diatom Thalassiosira weissflogii (Lane and Morel, 2000). In spite of not being a Fenton metal, cadmium is capable of inducing oxidative stress in cell culture models and in experimental animals (Joseph et al., 2001; Nigam et al., 1999) and may exhibit its toxicity in microorganisms in a similar way. Cadmium is accumulated by cells via uptake systems responsible for essential cations. In Gram-positive bacteria, such as *B. subtilis*, *S. aureus*, or *L. plantarum*, Cd²⁺ competes for transport with Mn²⁺ (Archibald and Duong, 1984; Burke and Pfister, 1986; Tynecka et al., 1981). To prevent toxic effects by cadmium, active efflux mechanisms have evolved in prokaryotes. The best characterized cadmium efflux system is that in the Gram-positive bacterium S. aureus, which consists of two plasmid-encoded genes, cadA and cadC. CadA, a CPxtype ATPase, catalyzes the efflux of Cd^{2+} (and probably also Zn^{2+}) and CadC is a transcriptional repressor (Nucifora et al., 1989). CadC binds specifically to the cad operator DNA and is released by the addition of Cd^{2+} , Pb^{2+} , and Bi^{3+} (Endo and Silver, 1995). Genetic analyses in L. lactis and Oenococcus oeni have shown the occurrence of similar plasmid-encoded cadmium resistance systems in LAB (Bon et al., 2009; Liu et al., 1997). Additionally, cadmium may be pumped out of the cell by multidrug transporters. The ATP-binding cassette (ABC) type multidrug transporters LmrA (L. lactis) and OmrA (O. oeni) could confer cadmium resistance to an E. coli mutant strain, which was hypersensitive to this heavy metal (Achard-Joris et al., 2005; Bourdineaud et al., 2004; Van Veen et al., 1996).

8.5 The phosphate-metal connection

Most bacteria store phosphate in phosphate polymers of up to hundreds of residues called

polyphosphates. It has been shown in a number of cases that polyphosphates are degraded under metal stress, such as by growth in the presence of lead or cadmium (Keasling, 1997). Presumably, phosphate derived from the degradation of polyphosphate is exported as complexes with toxic metal ions, thereby detoxifying the cytoplasm. For example, an E. coli mutant defective in both, polyphosphate kinase and polyphosphatase exhibited greatly increased cadmium sensitivity (Keasling and Hupf, 1996). The extrusion of neutral metal phosphate complexes of the form MeHPO₄ has in fact been directly demonstrated in Acinetobacter johnsonii and been shown to generate electron-motif force (Van Veen et al., 1994b). Species of Sulfolobus have also been shown to accomplish high copper-tolerance by induction of polyphosphatase and secretion of copper-phosphate (Remonsellez et al., 2006). The extrusion of metalphosphate complexes takes place via the same Pit systems which also work in phosphate uptake (see below). Pit-systems have been shown to catalyze the translocation of phosphate complexed to Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, Co²⁺, Cu²⁺, or Mn²⁺ (Van Veen et al., 1994a). Conceivably, complexes of phosphate with other divalent metal ions may also be translocated. LAB are generally not considered to produce polyphosphate, but there are findings which suggest that at least some of them do (Benthin et al., 1994).

The phosphate transport systems which can participate in MeHPO₄ extrusion can also serve in phosphate uptake under phosphate-limiting conditions. In *E. coli*, the low-affinity PitA and PitB phosphate transport systems were shown to catalyze the uptake of neutral metal-phosphate complexes (interestingly, PitA is non-functional in *E. coli* K-12 lab strains due to a mutation; (Harris et al., 2001)). Mutation of *E. coli pitA* conferred increased zinc resistance (Beard et al., 2000), and growth in the presence of zinc reduced the intracellular magnesium concentration and increased intracellular zinc, presumably due to competition between the two ions (Jackson et al., 2008). High-affinity phosphate uptake by *L. lactis* and related organisms is accomplished by an ATP-driven ABC-type transporter encoded by the *pstFEDCBA* operon. Mutations in *pstFEDCBA* were found to increase resistance to copper and zinc by lowering the intracellular reactivity of these metals, which in turn also reduced the sensitivity of the cells to oxygen (Cesselin et al., 2009). This suggests that the *pst*-system can (or must) also transport metal-phosphate complexes.

The observation of Pit- and Pst-catalyzed metal-phosphate co-transport is a surprising aspect of these transporters, which was not taken into consideration in most studies of either phosphate or metal transport. This masquerade may have disguised the true function of many transporters. The magnesium transporter, CorA, which is ubiquitous in Gram-negative bacteria, may in fact be a metal-phosphate transporter, and the magnesium transporter, MgtE, which also occurs in Gram-positive bacteria, may similarly be a metal-phosphate transporter. Clearly, much more work is required for a detailed understanding of bacterial metal transport.

8.6 Acknowledgements

Some of the work described in this review has been supported by grant 3100A0_122551 from the Swiss National Foundation, a grant from the Swiss State Secretary for Education & Research, and a grant from the International Copper Association.

References

Aagaard A, Brzezinski P (2001) Zinc ions inhibit oxidation of cytochrome *c* oxidase by oxygen. FEBS Lett 494:157-160

Achard-Joris M, van den Berg van Saparoea HB, Driessen AJ, Bourdineaud JP (2005) Heterologously expressed bacterial and human multidrug resistance proteins confer cadmium resistance to *Escherichia coli*. Biochemistry 44:5916-5922

Ahn BE, Cha J, Lee EJ, Han AR, Thompson CJ, Roe JH (2006) Nur, a nickel-responsive regulator of the Fur family, regulates superoxide dismutases and nickel transport in Streptomyces coelicolor. Mol Microbiol 59:1848-1858

Alvarez AH, Moreno-Sanchez R, Cervantes C (1999) Chromate efflux by means of the ChrA chromate resistance protein from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 181:7398-7400

Andrews SC, Robinson AK, Rodriguez-Quinones F (2003) Bacterial iron homeostasis. FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:215-237

Anjem A, Varghese S, Imlay JA (2009) Manganese import is a key element of the OxyR response to hydrogen peroxide in *Escherichia coli*. Mol Microbiol 72:844-858

Archibald FS, Duong MN (1984) Manganese acquisition by *Lactobacillus plantarum*. J Bacteriol 158:1-8

Arciero DM, Pierce BS, Hendrich MP, Hooper AB (2002) Nitrosocyanin, a red cupredoxinlike protein from *Nitrosomonas europaea*. Biochemistry 41:1703-1709

Arguello JM, Gonzalez-Guerrero M (2008) Cu⁺ -ATPases brake system. Structure 16:833-834

Arnesano F, Banci L, Bertini I, Ciofi-Baffoni S, Molteni E, Huffman DL, O'Halloran TV (2002) Metallochaperones and metal-transporting ATPases: a comparative analysis of sequences and structures. Genome Res 12:255-271

Axelsen KB, Palmgren MG (1998) Evolution of substrate specificities in the P-type ATPase superfamily. J Mol Evol 46:84-101

Baichoo N, Wang T, Ye R, Helmann JD (2002) Global analysis of the *Bacillus subtilis* Fur regulon and the iron starvation stimulon. Mol Microbiol 45:1613-1629

Balasubramanian R, Rosenzweig AC (2008) Copper methanobactin: a molecule whose time has come. Curr Opin Chem Biol 12:245-249

Barkay T, Miller SM, Summers AO (2003) Bacterial mercury resistance from atoms to ecosystems. FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:355-384

Barré O, Mourlane F, Solioz M (2007) Copper induction of lactate oxidase of *Lactococcus lactis*: a novel metal stress response. J Bacteriol 189:5947-5954

Battistoni A (2003) Role of prokaryotic Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase in pathogenesis. Biochem Soc Trans 31:1326-1329

- Beard SJ, Hashim R, Wu G, Binet MR, Hughes MN, Poole RK (2000) Evidence for the transport of zinc(II) ions via the pit inorganic phosphate transport system in *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 184:231-235
- Benthin S, Nielsen J, Villadsen J (1994) Galactose expulsion during lactose metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* FD1 due to dephosphorylation of intracellular galactose 6-phosphate. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:1254-1259
- Bird AJ (2008) Metallosensors, the ups and downs of gene regulation. Adv Microb Physiol 53:231-267
- Bolotin A, Wincker P, Mauger S, Jaillon O, Malarme K, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Sorokin A (2001) The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. Genome Res 11:731-753
- Bon E, Delaherche A, Bilhere E, De Daruvar A, Lonvaud-Funel A, Le MC (2009) *Oenococcus oeni* genome plasticity is associated with fitness. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:2079-2090

- Bourdineaud JP, Nehme B, Tesse S, Lonvaud-Funel A (2004) A bacterial gene homologous to ABC transporters protect *Oenococcus oeni* from ethanol and other stress factors in wine. Int J Food Microbiol 92:1-14
- Brazeau BJ, Johnson BJ, Wilmot CM (2004) Copper-containing amine oxidases. Biogenesis and catalysis; a structural perspective. Arch Biochem Biophys 428:22-31
- Brooijmans RJW, Poolman B, Schuurman-Wolters GK, De Vos WM, Hugenholtz J (2007) Generation of a membrane potential by *Lactococcus lactis* through aerobic electron transport. J Bacteriol 189:5203-5209
- Bsat N, Helmann JD (1999) Interaction of *Bacillus subtilis* Fur (ferric uptake repressor) with the *dhb* operator *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Bacteriol 181:4299-4307
- Burke BE, Pfister RM (1986) Cadmium transport by a Cd²⁺-sensitive and a Cd²⁺-resistant strain of *Bacillus subtilis*. Can J Microbiol 32:539-542
- Bury NR, Grosell M, Grover AK, Wood CM (1999) ATP-dependent silver transport across the basolateral membrane of rainbow trout gills. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 159:1-8
- Campbell DR, Chapman KE, Waldron KJ, Tottey S, Kendall S, Cavallaro G, Andreini C, Hinds J, Stoker NG, Robinson NJ, Cavet JS (2007) Mycobacterial cells have dual nickelcobalt sensors: sequence relationships and metal sites of metal-responsive repressors are not congruent. J Biol Chem 282:32298-32310
- Cantini F, Banci L, Solioz M (2009) The copper-responsive repressor CopR of *Lactococcus lactis* is a 'winged helix' protein. Biochem J 417:493-499
- Cavet JS, Borrelly GP, Robinson NJ (2003) Zn, Cu and Co in cyanobacteria: selective control of metal availability. FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:165-181
- Cavet JS, Meng W, Pennella MA, Appelhoff RJ, Giedroc DP, Robinson NJ (2002) A nickelcobalt-sensing ArsR-SmtB family repressor. Contributions of cytosol and effector binding sites to metal selectivity. J Biol Chem 277:38441-38448
- Cesselin B, Ali D, Gratadoux JJ, Gaudu P, Duwat P, Gruss A, El KM (2009) Inactivation of the *Lactococcus lactis* high affinity phosphate transporter confers oxygen and thiol resistance and alters metal homeostasis. Microbiology 155:2274-2281
- Cha JS, Cooksey DA (1991) Copper resistance in *Pseudomonas syringae* mediated by periplasmic and outer membrane proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:8915-8919
- Chan SI, Chen KH, Yu SS, Chen CL, Kuo SS (2004) Toward delineating the structure and function of the particulate methane monooxygenase from methanotrophic bacteria. Biochemistry 43:4421-4430
- Changela A, Chen K, Xue Y, Holschen J, Outten CE, O'Halloran TV, Mondragon A (2003) Molecular basis of metal-ion selectivity and zeptomolar sensitivity by CueR. Science 301:1383-1387
- Chillappagari S, Miethke M, Trip H, Kuipers OP, Marahiel MA (2009) Copper acquisition is mediated by YcnJ and regulated by YcnK and CsoR in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 191:2362-2370
- Claverys JP (2001) A new family of high-affinity ABC manganese and zinc permeases. Res Microbiol 152:231-243
- Cobine P, Jones CE, Wickramasinghe WA, Solioz M, Dameron CT (2002a) Interaction of copper binding proteins from *Enterococcus hirae*. In: Massaro EJ Handbook of copper pharmacology and toxicology, Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp 177-186
- Cobine P, Wickramasinghe WA, Harrison MD, Weber T, Solioz M, Dameron CT (1999) The *Enterococcus hirae* copper chaperone CopZ delivers copper(I) to the CopY repressor. FEBS Lett 445:27-30
- Cobine PA, George GN, Jones CE, Wickramasinghe WA, Solioz M, Dameron CT (2002b) Copper transfer from the Cu(I) chaperone, CopZ, to the repressor, Zn(II)CopY: Metal coordination environments and protein interactions. Biochemistry 41:5822-5829

- Cobine PA, Jones CE, Dameron CT (2002c) Role for zinc(II) in the copper(I) regulated protein CopY. J Inorg Biochem 88:192-196
- Coleman JE (1998) Zinc enzymes. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2:222-234
- Costa M, Salnikow K, Sutherland JE, Broday L, Peng W, Zhang Q, Kluz T (2002) The role of oxidative stress in nickel and chromate genotoxicity. Mol Cell Biochem 234-235:265-275
- Crichton RR, Pierre J-L (2001) Old iron, young copper: from Mars to Venus. Biometals 14:99-112
- Dalet K, Gouin E, Cenatiempo Y, Cossart P, Hechard Y (1999) Characterisation of a new operon encoding a Zur-like protein and an associated ABC zinc permease in *Listeria monocytogenes*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 174:111-116
- Davis AV, O'Halloran TV (2008) A place for thioether chemistry in cellular copper ion recognition and trafficking. Nat Chem Biol 4:148-151
- De Flora S, Bagnasco M, Serra D, Zanacchi P (1990) Genotoxicity of chromium compounds. A review. Mutat Res 238:99-172
- De Pina K, Desjardin V, Mandrand-Berthelot MA, Giordano G, Wu LF (1999) Isolation and characterization of the nikR gene encoding a nickel-responsive regulator in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 181:670-674
- Diaz-Perez C, Cervantes C, Campos-Garcia J, Julian-Sanchez A, Riveros-Rosas H (2007) Phylogenetic analysis of the chromate ion transporter (CHR) superfamily. FEBS J 274:6215-6227
- Dintilhac A, Alloing G, Granadel C, Claverys JP (1997) Competence and virulence of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: Adc and PsaA mutants exhibit a requirement for Zn and Mn resulting from inactivation of putative ABC metal permeases. Mol Microbiol 25:727-739
- Dunn KL, Farrant JL, Langford PR, Kroll JS (2003) Bacterial [Cu,Zn]-cofactored superoxide dismutase protects opsonized, encapsulated *Neisseria meningitidis* from phagocytosis by human monocytes/macrophages. Infect Immun 71:1604-1607
- Eitinger T, Mandrand-Berthelot MA (2000) Nickel transport systems in microorganisms. Arch Microbiol 173:1-9
- Eitinger T, Suhr J, Moore L, Smith JA (2005) Secondary transporters for nickel and cobalt ions: theme and variations. Biometals 18:399-405
- Ellis MJ, Grossmann JG, Eady RR, Hasnain SS (2007) Genomic analysis reveals widespread occurrence of new classes of copper nitrite reductases. J Biol Inorg Chem 12:1119-1127
- Endo G, Silver S (1995) CadC, the transcriptional regulatory protein of the cadmium resistance system of *Staphylococcus aureus* plasmid pI258. J Bacteriol 177:4437-4441
- Gaballa A, Helmann JD (1998) Identification of a zinc-specific metalloregulatory protein, Zur, controlling zinc transport operons in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 180:5815-5821
- Gaballa A, Helmann JD (2002) A peroxide-induced zinc uptake system plays an important role in protection against oxidative stress in *Bacillus subtilis*. Mol Microbiol 45:997-1005
- Galvez A, Abriouel H, Lopez RL, Ben ON (2007) Bacteriocin-based strategies for food biopreservation. Int J Food Microbiol 120:51-70
- Garcia-Castellanos R, Mallorqui-Fernandez G, Marrero A, Potempa J, Coll M, Gomis-Ruth FX (2004) On the transcriptional regulation of methicillin resistance: MecI repressor in complex with its operator. J Biol Chem 279:17888-17896
- Gonzalez-Guerrero M, Arguello JM (2008) Mechanism of Cu⁺-transporting ATPases: soluble Cu⁺ chaperones directly transfer Cu⁺ to transmembrane transport sites. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:5992-5997
- Gostick DO, Griffin HG, Shearman CA, Scott C, Green J, Gasson MJ, Guest JR (1999) Two operons that encode FNR-like proteins in *Lactococcus lactis*. Mol Microbiol 31:1523-1535
- Gupta A, Matsui K, Lo JF, Silver S (1999) Molecular basis for resistance to silver cations in *Salmonella*. Nat Med 5:183-188

- Hanson SR, Donley SA, Linder MC (2001) Transport of silver in virgin and lactating rats and relation to copper. J Trace Elem Med Biol 15:243-253
- Hantke K (2005) Bacterial zinc uptake and regulators. Curr Opin Microbiol 8:196-202
- Hao Z, Reiske HR, Wilson DB (1999) Characterization of cadmium uptake in *Lactobacillus plantarum* and isolation of cadmium and manganese uptake mutants. Appl Environ Microbiol 65:4741-4745
- Harris RM, Webb DC, Howitt SM, Cox GB (2001) Characterization of PitA and PitB from *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 183:5008-5014
- Hasman H, Kempf I, Chidaine B, Cariolet R, Ersboll AK, Houe H, Bruun Hansen HC, Aarestrup FM (2006) Copper resistance in *Enterococcus faecium*, mediated by the *tcrB* gene, is selected by supplementation of pig feed with copper sulfate. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5784-5789
- Hazlett KR, Rusnak F, Kehres DG, Bearden SW, La Vake CJ, La Vake ME, Maguire ME, Perry RD, Radolf JD (2003) The *Treponema pallidum tro* operon encodes a multiple metal transporter, a zinc-dependent transcriptional repressor, and a semi-autonomously expressed phosphoglycerate mutase. J Biol Chem 278:20687-20694
- Himeno T, Imanaka T, Aiba S (1986) Nucleotide sequence of the penicillinase repressor gene penI of *Bacillus licheniformis* and regulation of *penP* and *penI* by the repressor. J Bacteriol 168:1128-1132
- Horsburgh MJ, Wharton SJ, Cox AG, Ingham E, Peacock S, Foster SJ (2002a) MntR modulates expression of the PerR regulon and superoxide resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* through control of manganese uptake. Mol Microbiol 44:1269-1286
- Horsburgh MJ, Wharton SJ, Karavolos M, Foster SJ (2002b) Manganese: elemental defence for a life with oxygen. Trends Microbiol 10:496-501
- Huffman DL, O'Halloran TV (2001) Function, structure, and mechanism of intracellular copper trafficking proteins. Annu Rev Biochem 70:677-701
- Hullo MF, Moszer I, Danchin A, Martin-Verstraete I (2001) CotA of *Bacillus subtilis* is a copper-dependent laccase. J Bacteriol 183:5426-5430
- Imbert M, Blondeau R (1998) On the iron requirement of lactobacilli grown in chemically defined medium. Curr Microbiol 37:64-66
- Jackson RJ, Binet MR, Lee LJ, Ma R, Graham AI, McLeod CW, Poole RK (2008) Expression of the PitA phosphate/metal transporter of *Escherichia coli* is responsive to zinc and inorganic phosphate levels. FEMS Microbiol Lett 289:219-224
- Jakubovics NS, Smith AW, Jenkinson HF (2000) Expression of the virulence-related Sca (Mn²⁺) permease in *Streptococcus gordonii* is regulated by a diphtheria toxin metallorepressor-like protein ScaR. Mol Microbiol 38:140-153
- Janulczyk R, Pallon J, Bjorck L (1999) Identification and characterization of a *Streptococcus pyogenes* ABC transporter with multiple specificity for metal cations. Mol Microbiol 34:596-606
- Joseph P, Muchnok TK, Klishis ML, Roberts JR, Antonini JM, Whong WZ, Ong T (2001) Cadmium-induced cell transformation and tumorigenesis are associated with transcriptional activation of c-fos, c-jun, and c-myc proto-oncogenes: role of cellular calcium and reactive oxygen species. Toxicol Sci 61:295-303
- Kaim W, Rall J (1996) Copper-a "modern" bioelement. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 35:43-60
- Kanamaru K, Kashiwagi S, Mizuno T (1994) A copper-transporting P-type ATPase found in the thylakoid membrane of the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* species PCC7942. Mol Microbiol 13:369-377
- Kaneko T, Takahashi M, Suzuki H (1990) Acetoin fermentation by citrate-positive *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* 3022 grown aerobically in the presence of hemin or Cu. Appl Environ Microbiol 56:2644-2649

- Karlin KD (1993) Metalloenzymes, structural motifs, and inorganic models. Science 261:701-708
- Kasting JF, Siefert JL (2002) Life and the evolution of Earth's atmosphere. Science 296:1066-1068
- Keasling JD (1997) Regulation of intracellular toxic metals and other cations by hydrolysis of polyphosphate. Ann N Y Acad Sci 829:242-249
- Keasling JD, Hupf GA (1996) Genetic manipulation of polyphosphate metabolism affects cadmium tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 62:743-746
- Kehres DG, Zaharik ML, Finlay BB, Maguire ME (2000) The NRAMP proteins of *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Escherichia coli* are selective manganese transporters involved in the response to reactive oxygen. Mol Microbiol 36:1085-1100
- Kiermeier F, Kyrein HJ (1971) Einfluß des Kupfers auf den Acetoin-Diacetyl- und Pyruvatgehalt von Käse. Z Lebensmittelunters -Forschung A 147:128-133
- Kihlken MA, Leech AP, Le Brun NE (2002) Copper-mediated dimerization of CopZ, a predicted copper chaperone from *Bacillus subtilis*. Biochem J 368:729-739
- Kihlken MA, Singleton C, Le Brun NE (2008) Distinct characteristics of Ag⁺ and Cd²⁺ binding to CopZ from *Bacillus subtilis*. J Biol Inorg Chem 13:1011-1023
- Kim BE, Nevitt T, Thiele DJ (2008) Mechanisms for copper acquisition, distribution and regulation. Nat Chem Biol 4:176-185
- Kim HJ, Graham DW, DiSpirito AA, Alterman MA, Galeva N, Larive CK, Asunskis D, Sherwood PM (2004) Methanobactin, a copper-acquisition compound from methane-oxidizing bacteria. Science 305:1612-1615
- Kobayashi M, Shimizu S (1999) Cobalt proteins. Eur J Biochem 261:1-9
- Komeda H, Kobayashi M, Shimizu S (1997) A novel transporter involved in cobalt uptake. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:36-41
- Kuper J, Llamas A, Hecht HJ, Mendel RR, Schwarz G (2004) Structure of the molybdopterinbound Cnx1G domain links molybdenum and copper metabolism. Nature 430:803-806
- Lane TW, Morel FM (2000) A biological function for cadmium in marine diatoms. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:4627-4631
- Lindsay JA, Foster SJ (2001) *zur*: a Zn²⁺-responsive regulatory element of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Microbiology 147:1259-1266
- Liu CQ, Khunajakr N, Chia LG, Deng YM, Charoenchai P, Dunn NW (1997) Genetic analysis of regions involved in replication and cadmium resistance of the plasmid pND302 from Lactococcus lactis. Plasmid 38:79-90
- Liu KJ, Shi X (2001) In vivo reduction of chromium (VI) and its related free radical generation. Mol Cell Biochem 222:41-47
- Liu T, Ramesh A, Ma Z, Ward SK, Zhang L, George GN, Talaat AM, Sacchettini JC, Giedroc DP (2007) CsoR is a novel *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* copper-sensing transcriptional regulator. Nat Chem Biol 3:60-68
- Llull D, Poquet I (2004) New expression system tightly controlled by zinc availability in *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:5398-5406
- Lopez-Serrano D, Solano F, Sanchez-Amat A (2004) Identification of an operon involved in tyrosinase activity and melanin synthesis in *Marinomonas mediterranea*. Gene 342:179-187
- Lu ZH, Solioz M (2001) Copper-induced proteolysis of the CopZ copper chaperone of *Enterococcus hirae*. J Biol Chem 276:47822-47827
- Lutsenko S, Kaplan JH (1995) Organization of P-type ATPases: significance of structural diversity. Biochemistry 34:15607-15613
- Ma Z, Cowart D, Scott R, Giedroc DP (2009) Molecular insights into the metal selectivity of the Cu(I)-sensing repressor CsoR from *Bacillus subtilis*. Biochemistry 48:3325-3334

Macomber L, Imlay JA (2009) The iron-sulfur clusters of dehydratases are primary intracellular targets of copper toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:8344-8349

- Macomber L, Rensing C, Imlay JA (2007) Intracellular copper does not catalyze the formation of oxidative DNA damage in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 189:1616-1626
- Magnani D, Barré O, Gerber SD, Solioz M (2008) Characterization of the CopR regulon of *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. J Bacteriol 190:536-545
- Makui H, Roig E, Cole ST, Helmann JD, Gros P, Cellier MF (2000) Identification of the *Escherichia coli* K-12 Nramp orthologue (MntH) as a selective divalent metal ion transporter. Mol Microbiol 35:1065-1078
- Marty-Teysset C, de la Torre F, Garel J (2000) Increased production of hydrogen peroxide by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* upon aeration: involvement of an NADH oxidase in oxidative stress. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:262-267
- Megharaj M, Avudainayagam S, Naidu R (2003) Toxicity of hexavalent chromium and its reduction by bacteria isolated from soil contaminated with tannery waste. Curr Microbiol 47:51-54
- Mitrakul K, Loo CY, Hughes CV, Ganeshkumar N (2004) Role of a *Streptococcus gordonii* copper-transport operon, *copYAZ*, in biofilm detachment. Oral Microbiol Immunol 19:395-402
- Miyoshi A, Rochat T, Gratadoux JJ, Le Loir Y, Oliveira SC, Langella P, Azevedo V (2003) Oxidative stress in *Lactococcus lactis*. Genet Mol Res 2:348-359
- Moore CM, Helmann JD (2005) Metal ion homeostasis in *Bacillus subtilis*. Curr Opin Microbiol 8:188-195
- Mulrooney SB, Hausinger RP (2003) Nickel uptake and utilization by microorganisms. FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:239-261
- Multhaup G, Strausak D, Bissig K-D, Solioz M (2001) Interaction of the CopZ copper chaperone with the CopA copper ATPase of *Enterococcus hirae* assessed by surface plasmon resonance. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 288:172-177
- Narindrasorasak S, Zhang X, Roberts EA, Sarkar B (2004) Comparative analysis of metal binding characteristics of copper chaperone proteins, Atx1 and ATOX1. Bioinorg Chem Appl 2:105-123
- Neilands JB (1995) Siderophores: structure and function of microbial iron transport compounds. J Biol Chem 270:26723-26726
- Nies DH (2003) Efflux-mediated heavy metal resistance in prokaryotes. FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:313-339
- Nigam D, Shukla GS, Agarwal AK (1999) Glutathione depletion and oxidative damage in mitochondria following exposure to cadmium in rat liver and kidney. Toxicol Lett 106:151-157
- Nucifora G, Chu L, Misra TK, Silver S (1989) Cadmium resistance from *Staphylococcus aureus* plasmid pI258 *cadA* gene results from a cadmium-efflux ATPase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86:3544-3548
- Odermatt A, Krapf R, Solioz M (1994) Induction of the putative copper ATPases, CopA and CopB, of *Enterococcus hirae* by Ag⁺ and Cu²⁺, and Ag⁺ extrusion by CopB. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 202:44-48
- Odermatt A, Solioz M (1995) Two *trans*-acting metalloregulatory proteins controlling expression of the copper-ATPases of *Enterococcus hirae*. J Biol Chem 270:4349-4354
- Odermatt A, Suter H, Krapf R, Solioz M (1992) An ATPase operon involved in copper resistance by *Enterococcus hirae*. Ann N Y Acad Sci 671:484-486
- Outten CE, O'Halloran TV (2001) Femtomolar sensitivity of metalloregulatory proteins controlling zinc homeostasis. Science 292:2488-2492

- Outten FW, Huffman DL, Hale JA, O'Halloran TV (2001) The independent *cue* and *cus* systems confer copper tolerance during aerobic and anaerobic growth in *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 276:30670-30677
- Outten FW, Outten CE, Hale J, O'Halloran TV (2000) Transcriptional activation of an *Escherichia coli* copper efflux regulon by the chromosomal MerR homologue, CueR. J Biol Chem 275:31024-31029
- Patzer SI, Hantke K (2000) The zinc-responsive regulator Zur and its control of the znu gene cluster encoding the ZnuABC zinc uptake system in *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 275:24321-24332
- Pedersen PL, Carafoli E (1987) Ion motive ATPases. I. Ubiquity, properties, and significance to cell function. Trends Biochem Sci 12:146-150
- Penaud S, Fernandez A, Boudebbouze S, Ehrlich SD, Maguin E, van de Guchte M. (2006) Induction of heavy-metal-transporting CPX-type ATPases during acid adaptation in *Lactobacillus bulgaricus*. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:7445-7454
- Pennella MA, Shokes JE, Cosper NJ, Scott RA, Giedroc DP (2003) Structural elements of metal selectivity in metal sensor proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:3713-3718
- Perez JM, Calderon IL, Arenas FA, Fuentes DE, Pradenas GA, Fuentes EL, Sandoval JM, Castro ME, Elias AO, Vasquez CC (2007) Bacterial toxicity of potassium tellurite: unveiling an ancient enigma. PLoS ONE 2:e211
- Portmann R, Magnani D, Stoyanov JV, Schmechel A, Multhaup G, Solioz M (2004) Interaction kinetics of the copper-responsive CopY repressor with the *cop* promoter of *Enterococcus hirae*. J Biol Inorg Chem 9:396-402
- Portmann R, Poulsen KR, Wimmer R, Solioz M (2006) CopY-like copper inducible repressors are putative 'winged helix' proteins. Biometals 19:61-70
- Powell SR (2000) The antioxidant properties of zinc. J Nutr 130:1447S-1454S
- Pufahl RA, Singer CP, Peariso KL, Lin S, Schmidt PJ, Fahrni CJ, Culotta VC, Penner-Hahn JE, O'Halloran TV (1997) Metal ion chaperone function of the soluble Cu(I) receptor Atx1. Science 278:853-856
- Radford DS, Kihlken MA, Borrelly GP, Harwood CR, Le Brun NE, Cavet JS (2003) CopZ from *Bacillus subtilis* interacts in vivo with a copper exporting CPx-type ATPase CopA. FEMS Microbiol Lett 220:105-112
- Ragsdale SW (2009) Nickel-based enzyme systems. J Biol Chem 284:18571-18575
- Ramirez-Diaz MI, Diaz-Perez C, Vargas E, Riveros-Rosas H, Campos-Garcia J, Cervantes C (2008) Mechanisms of bacterial resistance to chromium compounds. Biometals 21:321-332
- Rapisarda VA, Chehin RN, De Las Rivas J, Rodriguez-Montelongo L, Farias RN, Massa EM (2002) Evidence for Cu(I)-thiolate ligation and prediction of a putative copper-binding site in the *Escherichia coli* NADH dehydrogenase-2. Arch Biochem Biophys 405:87-94
- Reeve WG, Tiwari RP, Kale NB, Dilworth MJ, Glenn AR (2002) ActP controls copper homeostasis in *Rhizobium leguminosarum* bv. *viciae* and *Sinorhizobium meliloti* preventing low pH-induced copper toxicity. Mol Microbiol 43:981-991
- Remonsellez F, Orell A, Jerez CA (2006) Copper tolerance of the thermoacidophilic archaeon *Sulfolobus metallicus*: possible role of polyphosphate metabolism. Microbiology 152:59-66
- Richer E, Courville P, Bergevin I, Cellier MF (2003) Horizontal gene transfer of "prototype" Nramp in bacteria. J Mol Evol 57:363-376
- Ridge PG, Zhang Y, Gladyshev VN (2008) Comparative genomic analyses of copper transporters and cuproproteomes reveal evolutionary dynamics of copper utilization and its link to oxygen. PLoS ONE 3:e1378

- Rochat T, Gratadoux JJ, Gruss A, Corthier G, Maguin E, Langella P, van de Guchte M (2006) Production of a heterologous nonheme catalase by Lactobacillus casei: an efficient tool for removal of H₂O₂ and protection of *Lactobacillus bulgaricus* from oxidative stress in milk. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5143-5149
- Rodriguez-Montelongo L, Volentini SI, Farias RN, Massa EM, Rapisarda VA (2006) The Cu(II)-reductase NADH dehydrogenase-2 of *Escherichia coli* improves the bacterial growth in extreme copper concentrations and increases the resistance to the damage caused by copper and hydroperoxide. Arch Biochem Biophys 451:1-7
- Rosenzweig AC (2001) Copper delivery by metallochaperone proteins. Acc Chem Res 34:119-128
- Saier MH, Jr., Tam R, Reizer A, Reizer J (1994) Two novel families of bacterial membrane proteins concerned with nodulation, cell division and transport. Mol Microbiol 11:841-847
- Schirawski J, Hagens W, Fitzgerald GF, Van Sinderen D (2002) Molecular characterization of cadmium resistance in *Streptococcus thermophilus* strain 4134: an example of lateral gene transfer. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:5508-5516
- Schwarz G, Mendel RR (2006) Molybdenum cofactor biosynthesis and molybdenum enzymes. Annu Rev Plant Biol 57:623-647
- Scott C, Rawsthorne H, Upadhyay M, Shearman CA, Gasson MJ, Guest JR, Green J (2000) Zinc uptake, oxidative stress and the FNR-like proteins of *Lactococcus lactis*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 192:85-89
- Sharma VK, Hackbarth CJ, Dickinson TM, Archer GL (1998) Interaction of native and mutant MecI repressors with sequences that regulate *mecA*, the gene encoding penicillin binding protein 2a in methicillin-resistant *Staphylococci*. J Bacteriol 180:2160-2166
- Singleton C, Banci L, Ciofi-Baffoni S, Tenori L, Kihlken MA, Boetzel R, Le Brun NE (2008) Structure and Cu(I)-binding properties of the N-terminal soluble domains of *Bacillus subtilis* CopA. Biochem J 411:571-579
- Singleton C, Le Brun NE (2009) The N-terminal soluble domains of *Bacillus subtilis* CopA exhibit a high affinity and capacity for Cu(I) ions. Dalton Trans 28:688-696
- Solioz M, Odermatt A (1995) Copper and silver transport by CopB-ATPase in membrane vesicles of *Enterococcus hirae*. J Biol Chem 270:9217-9221
- Solioz M, Odermatt A, Krapf R (1994) Copper pumping ATPases: common concepts in bacteria and man. FEBS Lett 346:44-47
- Solioz M, Stoyanov JV (2003) Copper homeostasis in *Enterococcus hirae*. FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:183-195
- Solioz M, Vulpe C (1996) CPx-type ATPases: a class of P-type ATPases that pump heavy metals. Trends Biochem Sci 21:237-241
- Sondi I, Salopek-Sondi B (2004) Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on *E. coli* as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. J Colloid Interface Sci 275:177-182
- Stadtman ER, Berlett BS, Chock PB (1990) Manganese-dependent disproportionation of hydrogen peroxide in bicarbonate buffer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:384-388
- Steffen C, Eberhad P, Bosset JM, Rüegg M (2009) Swiss-type varieties. In: Fox PF Cheese: chemistry, physics and microbiology, Aspen Publishers, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD, pp 83-110
- Stoyanov JV, Magnani D, Solioz M (2003) Measurement of cytoplasmic copper, silver, and gold with a *lux* biosensor shows copper and silver, but not gold, efflux by the CopA ATPase of *Escherichia coli*. FEBS Lett 546:391-394
- Strausak D, Solioz M (1997) CopY is a copper-inducible repressor of the *Enterococcus hirae* copper ATPases. J Biol Chem 272:8932-8936
- Sun HW, Plapp BV (1992) Progressive sequence alignment and molecular evolution of the Zn-containing alcohol dehydrogenase family. J Mol Evol 34:522-535

Tikhonov KG, Zastrizhnaya OM, Kozlov YN, Klimov VV (2006) Composition and catalaselike activity of Mn(II)-bicarbonate complexes. Biochemistry (Mosc) 71:1270-1277

- Tottey S, Harvie DR, Robinson NJ (2005) Understanding how cells allocate metals using metal sensors and metallochaperones. Acc Chem Res 38:775-783
- Tottey S, Rich PR, Rondet SA, Robinson NJ (2001) Two Menkes-type atpases supply copper for photosynthesis in Synechocystis PCC 6803. J Biol Chem 276:19999-20004
- Toyoshima C, Mizutani T (2004) Crystal structure of the calcium pump with a bound ATP analogue. Nature 430:529-535
- Toyoshima C, Nomura H, Sugita Y (2003) Crystal structures of Ca²⁺-ATPase in various physiological states. Ann N Y Acad Sci 986:1-8
- Tsai TY, Lee YH (1998) Roles of copper ligands in the activation and secretion of *Streptomyces* tyrosinase. J Biol Chem 273:19243-19250
- Turner MS, Tan YP, Giffard PM (2007) Inactivation of an iron transporter in *Lactococcus lactis* results in resistance to tellurite and oxidative stress. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:6144-6149
- Tynecka Z, Gos Z, Zajac J (1981) Reduced cadmium transport determined by a resistance plasmid in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Bacteriol 147:305-312
- Valko M, Morris H, Cronin MT (2005) Metals, toxicity and oxidative stress. Curr Med Chem 12:1161-1208
- Vallee BL, Falchuk KH (1993) The biochemical basis of zinc physiology. Physiol Rev 73:79-118
- Van Melckebeke H, Vreuls C, Gans P, Filee P, Llabres G, Joris B, Simorre JP (2003) Solution structural study of BlaI: implications for the repression of genes involved in β-lactam antibiotic resistance. J Mol Biol 333:711-720
- Van Veen HW, Abee T, Kortstee GJ, Konings WN, Zehnder AJ (1994a) Translocation of metal phosphate via the phosphate inorganic transport system of *Escherichia coli*. Biochemistry 33:1766-1770
- Van Veen HW, Abee T, Kortstee GJ, Pereira H, Konings WN, Zehnder AJ (1994b) Generation of a proton motive force by the excretion of metal-phosphate in the polyphosphate-accumulating *Acinetobacter johnsonii* strain 210A. J Biol Chem 269:29509-29514
- Van Veen HW, Venema K, Bolhuis H, Oussenko I, Kok J, Poolman B, Driessen AJ, Konings WN (1996) Multidrug resistance mediated by a bacterial homolog of the human multidrug transporter MDR1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:10668-10672
- Vats N, Lee SF (2001) Characterization of a copper-transport operon, *copYAZ*, from *Streptococcus mutans*. Microbiology 147:653-662
- Weinberg ED (1997) The Lactobacillus anomaly: total iron abstinence. Perspect Biol Med 40:578-583
- Wimmer R, Herrmann T, Solioz M, Wüthrich K (1999) NMR structure and metal interactions of the CopZ copper chaperone. J Biol Chem 274:22597-22603
- Wittman V, Wong HC (1988) Regulation of the penicillinase genes of *Bacillus licheniformis*: interaction of the *pen* repressor with its operators. J Bacteriol 170:3206-3212
- Wunderli-Ye H, Solioz M (2001) Purification and functional analysis of the copper ATPase CopA of *Enterococcus hirae*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 280:713-719
- Zhang Y, Gladyshev VN (2008) Molybdoproteomes and evolution of molybdenum utilization. J Mol Biol 379:881-899
- Zhang Y, Rodionov DA, Gelfand MS, Gladyshev VN (2009) Comparative genomic analyses of nickel, cobalt and vitamin B12 utilization. BMC Genomics 10:78-103
- Zhang Y, Turanov AA, Hatfield DL, Gladyshev VN (2008) In silico identification of genes involved in selenium metabolism: evidence for a third selenium utilization trait. BMC Genomics 9:251

FIGURE CAPTIONS

Figure 8.1

Major oxidative damage mechanisms and their coupling to redox-active metals. Superoxide (O_2^{--}) produced by physiological reactions can attack iron-sulfur centers of enzymes and cause loss of the iron from the reactive center. For detoxification superoxide is converted by superoxide dismutase (SOD) to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) . Hydrogen peroxide can be dismutated to water and oxygen either in a non-enzymatic reaction with Mn^{2+} or by catalase, but can also undergo Fenton chemistry catalyzed by Fe²⁺ or Cu⁺, resulting in highly toxic hydroxyl radicals (OH⁻). These can lead to thiol oxidation and hydroxylation of cellular constituents. Superoxide also can react with nitrous oxide radicals (NO⁻) to form reactive peroxynitrite (ONOOH⁻) which can nitrate or hydroxylate cellular components.

Figure 8.2

Cartoon of copper homeostasis in *E. hirae*. Copper enters the cell via *CopA* or by non-specific leakage. Excess cytoplasmic copper binds to CopZ, which can then donate Cu^+ to CopB for export and to the CopY repressor to induce the *cop* operon. In low copper conditions, CopY-dimers in the zinc form are bound to the *cop*-boxes in front of the *cop* operon. When CopZ donates Cu^+ to CopY, one Zn²⁺ per CopY monomer is replaced by two Cu⁺ with concomitant release of CopY from the promoter and induction of transcription of the downstream genes.

Figure 8.3

Model of Cu⁺-CopZ dimer formation. Each Cu⁺ ion is coordinated by three sulfur atoms of the cysteine ligands of two CopZ molecules.

Figure 8.4

A. Alignment of the protein sequence of CopY of *E. hirae* with those of β -lactamase regulators in the N-terminal region and fungal transcriptional regulators and metallothionein in the C-terminal region. B. Overlay of the N-terminal DNA binding domain of *L. lactis* CopR (blue) and the BlaI β -lactamase regulator of *B. licheniformis* (gold).

Figure 8.5

Cartoon of copper homeostasis in *L. lactis*. How copper enters the cell is unknown. Excess cytoplasmic copper binds to CopZ, which can then donate Cu^+ to either the copper ATPases for export or the CopR repressor to induce transcription. In low copper conditions, a CopR-dimer in the zinc form is bound to the *cop*-box in front of the *copRZA* operon and the *copB* gene. When CopZ donates Cu^+ to CopR, one Zn^{2+} per CopR monomer is replaced by two Cu^+ with concomitant release of CopR from the promoters and induction of transcription of the downstream genes. CopA then accomplishes copper export from the cytoplasm. The function of CopB is unknown.

Figure 8.6

CopR regulon of *L. lactis* IL1403. The genes in full color are regulated by CopR. *Vertical lines* indicate the location of *cop*-boxes and the *lariats* those of p-independent transcriptional terminators. The predicted functions of the genes are indicated on the right. Genes are drawn to the scale indicated in basepairs (bp) on the top of the Figure.

TABLE CAPTIONS Table 8.1

Use of selected metals by lactic acid bacteria

Table 8.2

Known bacterial copper-containing enzymes

Table 8.3

Copper-responsive regulators of Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria

Table 8.1	
Species	Genome

Species	Genomes	Cu users ¹	Ni users ²	Co users ²	Mo users'	Se users ⁴
Enterococci	2	0	0	1	1	0
Lactobacilli	10	0	0	7	2	0
Lactococci	1	0	0	0	0	0
Leuconostoc	1	0	0	0	0	0
Oenococcus	1	0	0	0	0	0
Pediococcus	1	0	0	0	0	0
Streptococcus	6	0	1	2	0	0

¹ (Ridge et al., 2008) ² (Zhang et al., 2009) ³ (Zhang and Gladyshev, 2008) ⁴ (Zhang et al., 2008)

Table 8.2

Enzyme	Function	References
Cytochrome c oxidase	Terminal oxidase	(Cavet et al., 2003)
NADH dehydrogenase-2	Electron transport, Cu reduction	(Rapisarda et al., 2002; Rodriguez- Montelongo et al., 2006)
Nitrosocyanin, cuproredoxin- like	Electron transfer, other?	(Arciero et al., 2002)
Plastocyanins	Electron transfer	(Cavet et al., 2003)
Cu-containing nitrite reductases	Nitrous oxide reduction	(Ellis et al., 2007)
Tyrosinase	Phenol oxidation, melanin synthesis	(Lopez-Serrano et al., 2004; Tsai and Lee, 1998)
Cu amine oxidases	Oxidation of primary amines	(Brazeau et al., 2004)
Particulate methane monooxygenase	Methane oxidation	(Chan et al., 2004)
Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase (cuprein)	Defense during infection?	(Battistoni, 2003)
Cu-containing laccase	Polyphenol oxidase	(Hullo et al., 2001)

Table 8.3

Organisms	CopY-type	CsoR-type	CueR-type
Actinobacteria	0	43	0
Firmicutes			
Bacillales	3	30	7
Clostridia	0	25	0
Lactobacillales	39	3	0
Proteobacteria	0	54	215



Fig. 2



Fig. 3



Fig. 4



Fig. 5



Chapter III: Discussion and Outlook

Copper plays a pivotal role in cell physiology and has been regarded as important for life since pre Christian times. 1500 years before Christ, Iphyclus, prince of Thessalia was cured of his sexual impotence by Melampus, a seer. He scraped the rust off of an old knife into wine and administered the beverage to Iphyclus (6). Decades have past in which mankind has taken benefits from this metal without knowing anything about copper proteins or the molecular mechanisms of copper homeostasis. In 1962, John H. Menkes, an Austrian physician, first described an X-linked chromosomal disorder in the male offspring of an Irish family. All five boys, normal at birth, developed neurological symptoms and eventually died between the age of seven month to three years (88). It was the characteristic kinky hair of these boys that ten years later prompted the Australian pediatrician David M. Danks to draw the right conclusion (89). It caught his eye that this special hair resembled the brittle and fragile wool of sheep that had been grazing on copper poor soils and was thus connected to copper deficiency. When in 1992 the first copper pump was identified in E. hirae (55) it became clear that the defective Menkes gene also encoded a similar pump and that Menkes patients died of the inability to pump copper from the intestine into the body. There has been major progress in understanding copper homeostasis since then, and the high degree of conservation of the different components of copper homeostasis between bacteria and eukaryotes has allowed expanding knowledge from one cellular system to others. Nevertheless, even in bacteria, some major questions in copper homeostasis still remain open.

One unanswered question is that of how copper enters bacterial cells. It is not yet known by which pathways copper crosses the outer and inner membranes. Porins such as OmpC or OmpF have been suggested as way of entry, but porin deficient mutants of E. coli did not show significant increase in metal tolerance (90). In higher cells, copper is actively taken up by high-affinity copper transporters of the Ctr family in the cytoplasmic membrane (91), but in bacteria no similar system has so far been characterized. In E. hirae, the ATPase CopA has been proposed to serve in copper uptake (64). Direct proof of this hypothesis is, however, still missing. More recent experiments conducted with the homologous ATPase in L. lactis, which clearly support a role for LICopA in copper export, cast doubt on the role of EhCopA as copper importer (56). The fact that members of the order Lactobacillales, to which E. hirae and L. lactis belong, appear to be copper "non-users" in general (12) raises the question if here specific copper importers are at all necessary. Copper import could occur via substratecopper complexes by substrate transporters such as sugar or amino acid transporters. Alternatively, transporters for other metal ions may be leak pathways for copper (3). Neverthless, bacteria that have a clear need for copper must have an effective mechanism to acquire copper from the environment. Methanogenic bacteria have been shown to synthesize mole-

88

cules (methanobactin) for extracellular copper binding, analogous to the widely used ironsiderophores (92, 93). Siderophores are first secreted to the environment where they chelate iron and are subsequently taken up again by specialized transport systems as siderophoreiron complexes.

E. coli, the prokaryotic system used in the present study, expresses several cuproenzymes, and a mechanism to actively acquire copper is somehow assumed. The identification of the repressor protein YcfQ and its interaction with ycfR might be a small step in the direction of unraveling the question of copper entry. YcfR is a small outer membrane protein and seems to lower the permeability of the membrane under copper stress. Several studies have reported an overexpression of YcfR under stress conditions, such as acid, heat, hydrogen peroxide, or heavy metals (cadmium) and to be involved in biofilm formation (94-99). It was proposed that the expression of YcfR might be a general response to environmental stress situations. It would be interesting to know if the repressor YcfQ, which was newly identified in this study, really binds copper and as a result allows transcription of ycfR. (Binding studies with the purified repressor protein are currently in progress in our laboratory.) An induction directly through the metal would point towards a specific defense mechanism against copper stress. Microarray studies by Zhang et al. showed that a deletion of the ycfR gene has farranging effects on the expression of genes encoding cell-surface proteins, including membrane-associated transporters such as the high affinity D-Ribose transport system or transport systems for carbohydrates, organic acids, and alcohols (99). A closer look at the genomic context of *ycfR* and *ycfQ* also reveals the presence of *ndh*, the gene coding for the NADH dehydrogenase 2, just two genes downstream of ycfQ. The membrane bound NADH dehydrogenase 2 of E. coli has been shown to exhibit cupric reductase activity and might contribute to Cu⁺ uptake into cells (100). A similar copper reduction process prior to uptake has already been reported in yeast (101). Further work on the YcfRQ system will have to show the connection between this copper-induced repressor, the controlled outer membrane protein, the cupric reductase and any further interaction partner and might not only resolve the question how copper enters bacterial cells, but also in which form (Cu^+ or Cu^{2+}).

Another open, but also far-reaching question was raised by the genome wide search for *cop* boxes by *Barré et al* (56). A *cop* box is the binding site of the copper-induced regulator CopR in *L. lactis*. The search revealed 14 candidates, arranged in four operons and two monocistronic genes, under the control of CopR (Fig. 4 on p. 10). Whereas the function for the *copRZA* operon and the *copB* gene were quickly assigned, the functions, physiological roles, and the connection to copper homeostasis of all the other copper-induced genes remained less obvious. The lactate oxidase LctO was proposed to serve in the elimination of hydrogen peroxide by nonenzymatic reaction with pyruvate (102). The role of CinD, a predicted nitroreductase, was more difficult to assign. Despite the clear gene induction by cop-

per, a gene knockout did not show any copper related phenotype. It was found instead that CinD could protect cells against the oxidative agent 4-nitroguinoline-N-oxide (NQO), which in turn showed only marginal induction of the gene. NQO is a known mutagenic agent and exerts its toxicity by forming DNA-adducts (103). It is possible that CinD serves in the detoxication of some specific mutagenic compounds in L. lactis, an action which may not only be beneficial for the bacterium itself, but also for its host (104). Different Bacillus strains have been shown to be able to reduce NQO and to inhibit further genotoxic effects on other organisms (105). However, the induction of the gene by copper still remains a bit puzzling and cannot be explained at this point. Copper stress might also trigger the formation of an in vivo substrate with similar structure, but to elucidate this, extensive metabolomic studies will be necessary. CinD was also found to exhibit catalase activity and to contribute to the general oxidative stress defense system together with LctO and the putative Manganese transporter encoded by ytjB (downstream of cinD). The functions of the other genes encompassing the CopR regulon have not yet been resolved, but many of them are likely to contribute to the same defense system. The global response system of *L. lactis* via the CopR regulon thus appears to serve in the control of oxidative stress in addition to the direct control of cytoplasmic copper levels.

The identification of CinD, YcfQ and YcfR as new components of bacterial copper homeostasis adds a new level of complexity to the process of cellular stress response to copper. Although the primary mechanisms involved in avoiding too high intracellular copper concentrations have been investigated quite in detail in several organisms, the genome wide effects and secondary interactions caused by the unusual stress situation are still mostly unknown. Insight gained into the mechanisms of bacterial copper homeostasis proved to be widely applicable, and a better understanding of these processes is fundamental to understand the role of copper in health and disease. The aim of this work was to contribute a small piece to the puzzle of copper homeostasis in bacteria, and only further investigations will show if one day, we will really be able to marvel at the whole picture.

References

- 1. Wikipedia. 2010. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Copper.
- 2. Riedel, E. 1999. Anorganische Chemie. Walter de Gruyter * Berlin * New York.
- Magnani, D. and M. Solioz. 2007. How bacteria handle copper, p. 259-285. In D. H. Nies and S. Silver (eds.), Molecular Microbiology of Heavy Metals. Springer, Heidelberg.
- 4. CSA Discovery Guides. 2010. A Brief History of Copper. www.csa.com .
- 5. International Copper Association copperinfo. 2010. http://www.copperinfo.com .
- Crichton, R. R. and J.-L. Pierre. 2001. Old iron, young copper: from Mars to Venus. Biometals 14:99-112.
- Molteni, C., H. K. Abicht, and M. Solioz. 2010. Killing of bacteria by copper surfaces involves dissolved copper. Appl.Environ.Microbiol. 76:4099-4101.
- 8. Pena, M. M., J. Lee, and D. J. Thiele. 1999. A delicate balance: homeostatic control of copper uptake and distribution. J.Nutr. **129**:1251-1260.
- Stern, B. R., M. Solioz, D. Krewski, P. Aggett, T. C. Aw, S. Baker, K. Crump, M. Dourson, L. Haber, R. Hertzberg, C. Keen, B. Meek, L. Rudenko, R. Schoeny, W. Slob, and T. Starr. 2007. Copper and human health: Biochemistry, genetics, and strategies for modeling dose-response relationships. J.Toxicol.Environ.Health B Crit Rev. 10:157-222.
- Cass, A. E. and H. A. Hill. 1980. Copper proteins and copper enzymes. Ciba Found.Symp. 79:71-91.
- 11. Nakamura, K. and N. GO. 2005. Function and molecular evolution of multicopper blue proteins. Cell Mol.Life Sci. 62:2050-2066.
- 12. Solioz, M., H. K. Abicht, M. Mermod, and S. Mancini. 2010. Response of Grampositive bacteria to copper stress. J.Biol.Inorg.Chem. **15**:3-14.
- Banci, L., I. Bertini, S. Ciofi-Baffoni, T. Kozyreva, K. Zovo, and P. Palumaa. 2010.
 Affinity gradients drive copper to cellular destinations. Nature 465:645-648.

- Cavet, J. S., G. P. Borrelly, and N. J. Robinson. 2003. Zn, Cu and Co in cyanobacteria: selective control of metal availability. FEMS Microbiol.Rev. 27:165-181.
- Rapisarda, V. A., R. N. Chehin, R. J. De Las, L. Rodriguez-Montelongo, R. N. Farias, and E. M. Massa. 2002. Evidence for Cu(I)-thiolate ligation and prediction of a putative copper-binding site in the *Escherichia coli* OADH dehydrogenase-2. Arch.Biochem.Biophys. 405:87-94.
- Rodriguez-Montelongo, L., S. I. Volentini, R. N. Farias, E. M. Massa, and V. A. Rapisarda. 2006. The Cu(II)-reductase NADH dehydrogenase-2 of *Escherichia coli* improves the bacterial growth in extreme copper concentrations and increases the resistance to the damage caused by copper and hydroperoxide. Arch.Biochem.Biophys. 451:1-7.
- Arciero, D. M., B. S. Pierce, M. P. Hendrich, and A. B. Hooper. 2002. Nitrosocyanin, a red cupredoxin-like protein from *Nitrosomonas europaea*. Biochemistry 41:1703-1709.
- Ellis, M. J., J. G. Grossmann, R. R. Eady, and S. S. Hasnain. 2007. Genomic analysis reveals widespread occurrence of new classes of copper nitrite reductases. J.Biol.Inorg.Chem. 12:1119-1127.
- Coyle, C. L., W. G. Zumft, P. M. Kroneck, H. Korner, and W. Jakob. 1985. Nitrous oxide reductase from denitrifying *Pseudomonas perfectomarina*. Purification and properties of a novel multicopper enzyme. Eur.J.Biochem. **153**:459-467.
- Lopez-Serrano, D., F. Solano, and A. Sanchez-Amat. 2004. Identification of an operon involved in tyrosinase activity and melanin synthesis in *Marinomonas mediterranea*. Gene **342**:179-187.
- 21. **Tsai, T. Y. and Y. H. Lee**. 1998. Roles of copper ligands in the activation and secretion of *Streptomyces tyrosinase*. J.Biol.Chem. **273**:19243-19250.
- Brazeau, B. J., B. J. Johnson, and C. M. Wilmot. 2004. Copper-containing amine oxidases. Biogenesis and catalysis; a structural perspective. Arch.Biochem.Biophys. 428:22-31.
- Chan, S. I., K. H. Chen, S. S. Yu, C. L. Chen, and S. S. Kuo. 2004. Toward delineating the structure and function of the particulate methane monooxygenase from methanotrophic bacteria. Biochemistry 43:4421-4430.

- 24. **Battistoni, A.** 2003. Role of prokaryotic Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase in pathogenesis. Biochem.Soc.Trans. **31**:1326-1329.
- 25. Hullo, M. F., I. Moszer, A. Danchin, and I. Martin-Verstraete. 2001. CotA of *Bacillus subtilis* is a copper-dependent laccase. J.Bacteriol. **183**:5426-5430.
- 26. Kuper, J., A. Llamas, H. J. Hecht, R. R. Mendel, and G. Schwarz. 2004. Structure of the molybdopterin-bound Cnx1G domain links molybdenum and copper metabolism. Nature **430**:803-806.
- 27. Schwarz, G. and R. R. Mendel. 2006. Molybdenum cofactor biosynthesis and molybdenum enzymes. Annu.Rev.Plant Biol. **57**:623-647.
- Osaki, S., D. A. Johnson, and E. Frieden. 1966. The possible significance of the ferrous oxidase activity of ceruloplasmin in normal human serum. J.Biol.Chem. 241:2746-2751.
- Auclair, S., C. Feillet-Coudray, C. Coudray, S. Schneider, M. U. Muckenthaler, and A. Mazur. 2006. Mild copper deficiency alters gene expression of proteins involved in iron metabolism. Blood Cells Mol.Dis. 36:15-20.
- Macomber, L. and J. A. Imlay. 2009. The iron-sulfur clusters of dehydratases are primary intracellular targets of copper toxicity. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 106:8344-8349.
- Saleha, B. B., M. Ishaq, K. Danadevi, P. Padmavathi, and Y. R. Ahuja. 2004. DNA damage in leukocytes of mice treated with copper sulfate. Food Chem. Toxicol. 42:1931-1936.
- 32. Rau, M. A., J. Whitaker, J. H. Freedman, and R. T. Di Giulio. 2004. Differential susceptibility of fish and rat liver cells to oxidative stress and cytotoxicity upon exposure to prooxidants. Comp Biochem.Physiol C.Toxicol.Pharmacol. **137**:335-342.
- Arciello, M., G. Rotilio, and L. Rossi. 2005. Copper-dependent toxicity in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells involves mitochondrial damage. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 327:454-459.
- Mello Filho, A. C., M. E. Hoffmann, and R. Meneghini. 1984. Cell killing and DNA damage by hydrogen peroxide are mediated by intracellular iron. Biochem.J. 218:273-275.

- Changela, A., K. Chen, Y. Xue, J. Holschen, C. E. Outten, T. V. O'Halloran, and A. Mondragon. 2003. Molecular basis of metal-ion selectivity and zeptomolar sensitivity by CueR. Science 301:1383-1387.
- Macomber, L., C. Rensing, and J. A. Imlay. 2007. Intracellular copper does not catalyze the formation of oxidative DNA damage in *Escherichia coli*. J.Bacteriol. 189:1616-1626.
- Chillappagari, S., A. Seubert, H. Trip, O. P. Kuipers, M. A. Marahiel, and M. Miethke. 2010. Copper stress affects iron homeostasis by destabilizing iron-sulfur cluster formation in *Bacillus subtilis*. J.Bacteriol. **192**:2512-2524.
- Danzeisen, R., M. Araya, B. Harrison, C. Keen, M. Solioz, D. Thiele, and H. J. McArdle. 2007. How reliable and robust are current biomarkers for copper status? Br.J.Nutr. 98:676-683.
- Linder, M. C. and M. Hazegh Azam. 1996. Copper biochemistry and molecular biology. Am.J.Clin.Nutr. 63:797S-811S.
- 40. WHO. 2004. Copper in Drinking-water. WHO .
- Bearn, A. G. and H. G. Kunkel. 1955. Metabolic studies in Wilson's disease using Cu64. J.Lab Clin.Med. 54:623-631.
- 42. Camakaris, J., I. Voskoboinik, and J. F. Mercer. 1999. Molecular mechanisms of copper homeostasis. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. **261**:225-232.
- Linder, M. C., L. Wooten, P. Cerveza, S. Cotton, R. Shulze, and N. Lomeli. 1998.
 Copper transport. Am.J.Clin.Nutr. 67:965S-971S.
- Turnlund, J. R., W. R. Keyes, G. L. Peiffer, and K. C. Scott. 1998. Copper absorption, excretion, and retention by young men consuming low dietary copper determined by using the stable isotope 65Cu. Am.J.Clin.Nutr. 67:1219-1225.
- 45. Luza, S. C. and H. C. Speisky. 1996. Liver copper storage and transport during development: implications for cytotoxicity. Am.J.Clin.Nutr. **63**:812S-20S.
- Turnlund, J. R. 1998. Human whole-body copper metabolism. Am.J.Clin.Nutr.
 67:960S-964S.

- 47. Bull, P. C. and D. W. Cox. 1994. Wilson disease and Menkes disease: New handles on heavy-metal transport. Trends Genet. **10**:246-252.
- 48. **DiDonato, M. and B. Sarkar**. 1997. Copper transport and its alterations in Menkes and Wilson diseases. Biochim.Biophys.Acta **1360**:3-16.
- 49. **de Bie, P., P. Muller, C. Wijmenga, and L. W. Klomp**. 2007. Molecular pathogenesis of Wilson and Menkes disease: correlation of mutations with molecular defects and disease phenotypes. J.Med.Genet. **44**:673-688.
- 50. Gitlin, J. D. 2003. Wilson disease. Gastroenterology 125:1868-1877.
- Brewer, G. J., R. D. Dick, V. Johnson, Y. Wang, V. Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan, K. Kluin, J. K. Fink, and A. Aisen. 1994. Treatment of Wilson's disease with ammonium tetrathiomolybdate: I. Initial therapy in 17 neurologically affected patients. Arch.Neurol. 51:545-554.
- Brewer, G. J., V. Johnson, R. D. Dick, K. J. Kluin, J. K. Fink, and J. A. Brunberg. 1996. Treatment of Wilson disease with ammonium tetrathiomolybdate. II. Initial therapy in 33 neurologically affected patients and follow-up with zinc therapy. Arch.Neurol. 53:1017-1025.
- 53. **Kaler, S. G.** 1996. Menkes disease mutations and response to early copper histidine treatment. Nature Genet. **13**:21-22.
- 54. van den Berghe, P. V. and L. W. Klomp. 2009. New developments in the regulation of intestinal copper absorption. Nutr.Rev. **67**:658-672.
- 55. Solioz, M., A. Odermatt, and R. Krapf. 1994. Copper pumping ATPases: common concepts in bacteria and man. FEBS Lett. **346**:44-47.
- 56. Odermatt, A., H. Suter, R. Krapf, and M. Solioz. 1992. An ATPase operon involved in copper resistance by *Enterococcus hirae*. Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci. **671**:484-486.
- 57. **Magnani, D., O. Barré, S. D. Gerber, and M. Solioz**. 2008. Characterization of the CopR regulon of *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. J.Bacteriol. **190**:536-545.
- Bolotin, A., P. Wincker, S. Mauger, O. Jaillon, K. Malarme, J. Weissenbach, S. D. Ehrlich, and A. Sorokin. 2001. The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. Genome Res. 11:731-753.

- 59. Galvez, A., H. Abriouel, R. L. Lopez, and O. N. Ben. 2007. Bacteriocin-based strategies for food biopreservation. Int.J.Food Microbiol. **120**:51-70.
- Kyrein, H. J. and F. Kiermeier. 1971. Einfluß des Kupfers auf den Acetoin-Diacetylund Pyruvatgehalt von Käse. Zeitschrift für Lebensmitteluntersuchung und -Forschung A 147:128-133.
- Steffen, C., P. Eberhard, J. M. Bosset, and M. Rüegg. 2009. Swiss-type varieties.,
 p. 83-110. In: Fox PF Cheese: chemistry, physics and microbiology. Aspen Publishers, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD.
- Solioz, M. and J. V. Stoyanov. 2003. Copper homeostasis in *Enterococcus hirae*. FEMS Microbiol.Rev. 27:183-195.
- 63. **Solioz, M. and C. Vulpe**. 1996. CPx-type ATPases: a class of P-type ATPases that pump heavy metals. Trends Biochem.Sci. **21**:237-241.
- Portmann, R., D. Magnani, J. Stoyanov, A. Schmechel, G. Multhaup, and M. Solioz. 2004. Interaction kinetics of the copper-responsive CopY repressor with the cop promoter of *Enterococcus hirae*. Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry 9:396-402.
- Odermatt, A., H. Suter, R. Krapf, and M. Solioz. 1993. Primary structure of two Ptype ATPases involved in copper homeostasis in *Enterococcus hirae*. J.Biol.Chem. 268:12775-12779.
- Solioz, M. and A. Odermatt. 1995. Copper and silver transport by CopB-ATPase in membrane vesicles of *Enterococcus hirae*. J.Biol.Chem. 270:9217-9221.
- Odermatt, A., R. Krapf, and M. Solioz. 1994. Induction of the putative copper AT-Pases, CopA and CopB, of *Enterococcus hirae* by Ag⁺ and Cu²⁺, and Ag⁺ extrusion by CopB. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 202:44-48.
- Blattner, F. R., G. Plunkett, III, C. A. Bloch, N. T. Perna, V. Burland, M. Riley, J. Collado-Vides, J. D. Glasner, C. K. Rode, G. F. Mayhew, J. Gregor, N. W. Davis, H. A. Kirkpatrick, M. A. Goeden, D. J. Rose, B. Mau, and Y. Shao. 1997. The complete genome sequence of *Escherichia coli* K-12. Science 277:1453-1462.
- 69. Kayser, F. H., E. C. Böttger, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 2005. Medizinische Mikrobiologie. Thieme, Stuttgart; Auflage: 10.

- Rensing, C. and G. Grass. 2003. *Escherichia coli* mechanisms of copper homeostasis in a changing environment. FEMS Microbiol.Rev. 27:197-213.
- Stoyanov, J. V., J. L. Hobman, and N. L. Brown. 2001. CueR (YbbI) of *Escherichia coli* is a MerR family regulator controlling expression of the copper exporter CopA. Mol.Microbiol. **39**:502-512.
- Ansari, A. Z., M. L. Chael, and T. V. O'Halloran. 1992. Allosteric underwinding of DNA is a critical step in positive control of transcription by Hg-MerR. Nature 355:87-89.
- 73. Parkhill, J., A. Z. Ansari, J. G. Wright, N. L. Brown, and T. V. O'Halloran. 1993. Construction and characterization of a mercury-independent MerR activator (Mer-RAC): transcriptional activation in the absence of Hg(II) is accompanied by DNA distortion. EMBO J. 12:413-421.
- Outten, C. E., F. W. Outten, and T. V. O'Halloran. 1999. DNA distortion mechanism for transcriptional activation by ZntR, a Zn(II)-responsive MerR homologue in *Escherichia coli*. J.Biol.Chem. 274:37517-37524.
- 75. Outten, F. W., C. E. Outten, J. Hale, and T. V. O'Halloran. 2000. Transcriptional activation of an *Escherichia coli* copper efflux regulon by the chromosomal MerR homologue, CueR. J.Biol.Chem. **275**:31024-31029.
- Rensing, C., B. Fan, R. Sharma, B. Mitra, and B. P. Rosen. 2000. CopA: An *E-scherichia coli* Cu(I)-translocating P-type ATPase. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA 97:652-656.
- 77. **Grass, G. and C. Rensing**. 2001. CueO is a multi-copper oxidase that confers copper tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. **286**:902-908.
- Grass, G., K. Thakali, P. E. Klebba, D. Thieme, A. Muller, G. F. Wildner, and C. Rensing. 2004. Linkage between catecholate siderophores and the multicopper oxidase CueO in *Escherichia coli*. J.Bacteriol. 186:5826-5833.
- 79. Singh, S. K., G. Grass, C. Rensing, and W. R. Montfort. 2004. Cuprous oxidase activity of CueO from *Escherichia coli*. J.Bacteriol. **186**:7815-7817.
- Djoko, K. Y., L. X. Chong, A. G. Wedd, and Z. Xiao. 2010. Reaction mechanisms of the multicopper oxidase CueO from *Escherichia coli* support its functional role as a cuprous oxidase. J.Am.Chem.Soc. 132:2005-2015.

- Roberts, S. A., A. Weichsel, G. Grass, K. Thakali, J. T. Hazzard, G. Tollin, C. Rensing, and W. R. Montfort. 2002. Crystal structure and electron transfer kinetics of CueO, a multicopper oxidase required for copper homeostasis in *Escherichia coli*. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 99:2766-2771.
- Roberts, E. A. and M. L. Schilsky. 2003. A practice guideline on Wilson disease. Hepatology 37:1475-1492.
- Franke, S., G. Grass, and D. H. Nies. 2001. The product of the *ybdE* gene of the *Escherichia coli* chromosome is involved in detoxification of silver ions. Microbiology 147:965-972.
- Franke, S., G. Grass, C. Rensing, and D. H. Nies. 2003. Molecular analysis of the copper-transporting efflux system CusCFBA of *Escherichia coli*. J.Bacteriol. 185:3804-3812.
- 85. Outten, F. W., D. L. Huffman, J. A. Hale, and T. V. O'Halloran. 2001. The independent *cue* and *cus* systems confer copper tolerance during aerobic and anaerobic growth in *Escherichia coli*. J.Biol.Chem. **276**:30670-30677.
- Brown, N. L., S. R. Barrett, J. Camakaris, B. T. O. Lee, and D. A. Rouch. 1995.
 Molecular genetics and transport analysis of the copper- resistance determinant (*pco*) from *Escherichia coli* plasmid pRJ1004. Mol.Microbiol. **17**:1153-1166.
- Osman, D. and J. S. Cavet. 2008. Copper homeostasis in bacteria. Adv.Appl.Microbiol. 65:217-247.
- Stoyanov, J. V. and N. L. Brown. 2003. The *Escherichia coli* copper-responsive *copA* promoter is activated by gold. J.Biol.Chem. **278**:1407-1410.
- Menkes, J. H., A. Milton, G. K. Steigleder, D. R. Weakley, and J. H. Sung. 1962. A sex-linked recessive disorder with retardation of growth, peculiar hair, and focal cerebral and cerebellar degeneration. Pediatrics 29:764-779.
- Solioz, M. and K.-D. Bissig. 1998. How (deficient) copper causes illness. Schweiz.Med.Wochenschr. 128:1175-1180.
- Li, X. Z., H. Nikaido, and K. E. Williams. 1997. Silver-resistant mutants of *Escherichia coli* display active efflux of Ag⁺ and are deficient in porins. J.Bacteriol. 179:6127-6132.

- Puig, S. and D. J. Thiele. 2002. Molecular mechanisms of copper uptake and distribution. Curr.Opin.Chem.Biol. 6:171-180.
- 93. Choi, D. W., C. J. Zea, Y. S. Do, J. D. Semrau, W. E. Antholine, M. S. Hargrove, N. L. Pohl, E. S. Boyd, G. G. Geesey, S. C. Hartsel, P. H. Shafe, M. T. McEllistrem, C. J. Kisting, D. Campbell, V. Rao, A. M. de la Mora, and A. A. DiSpirito. 2006. Spectral, kinetic, and thermodynamic properties of Cu(I) and Cu(II) binding by methanobactin from *Methylosinus trichosporium* OB3b. Biochemistry 45:1442-1453.
- 94. Kim, H. J., D. W. Graham, A. A. DiSpirito, M. A. Alterman, N. Galeva, C. K. Larive,
 D. Asunskis, and P. M. Sherwood. 2004. Methanobactin, a copper-acquisition compound from methane-oxidizing bacteria. Science 305:1612-1615.
- Maurer, L. M., E. Yohannes, S. S. Bondurant, M. Radmacher, and J. L. Slonczewski. 2005. pH regulates genes for flagellar motility, catabolism, and oxidative stress in *Escherichia coli* K-12. J.Bacteriol. 187:304-319.
- Pomposiello, P. J., M. H. Bennik, and B. Demple. 2001. Genome-wide transcriptional profiling of the *Escherichia coli* responses to superoxide stress and sodium salicylate. J.Bacteriol. 183:3890-3902.
- 97. Richmond, C. S., J. D. Glasner, R. Mau, H. Jin, and F. R. Blattner. 1999. Genomewide expression profiling in *Escherichia coli* K-12. Nucleic Acids Res. **27**:3821-3835.
- Zheng, M., X. Wang, L. J. Templeton, D. R. Smulski, R. A. LaRossa, and G. Storz. 2001. DNA microarray-mediated transcriptional profiling of the *Escherichia coli* response to hydrogen peroxide. J.Bacteriol. **183**:4562-4570.
- Egler, M., C. Grosse, G. Grass, and D. H. Nies. 2005. Role of the extracytoplasmic function protein family sigma factor RpoE in metal resistance of *Escherichia coli*. J.Bacteriol. 187:2297-2307.
- Zhang, X. S., R. Garcia-Contreras, and T. K. Wood. 2007. YcfR (BhsA) influences *Escherichia coli* biofilm formation through stress response and surface hydrophobic-ity. J.Bacteriol. 189:3051-3062.
- Rapisarda, V. A., L. R. Montelongo, R. N. Farias, and E. M. Massa. 1999. Characterization of an NADH-linked cupric reductase activity from the *Escherichia coli* respiratory chain. Arch.Biochem.Biophys. **370**:143-150.
- 102. Georgatsou, E., L. A. Mavrogiannis, G. S. Fragiadakis, and D. Alexandraki. 1997. The yeast Fre1p/Fre2p cupric reductases facilitate copper uptake and are regulated by the copper-modulated Mac1p activator. J.Biol.Chem. 272:13786-13792.
- 103. Barré, O., F. Mourlane, and M. Solioz. 2007. Copper induction of lactate oxidase of *Lactococcus lactis*: a novel metal stress response. J.Bacteriol. **189**:5947-5954.
- 104. **Fronza, G., P. Campomenosi, R. lannone, and A. Abbondandolo**. 1992. The 4nitroquinoline 1-oxide mutational spectrum in single stranded DNA is characterized by guanine to pyrimidine transversions. Nucleic Acids Res. **20**:1283-1287.
- 105. Kumar, M., A. Kumar, R. Nagpal, D. Mohania, P. Behare, V. Verma, P. Kumar, D. Poddar, P. K. Aggarwal, C. J. Henry, S. Jain, and H. Yadav. 2010. Cancer-preventing attributes of probiotics: an update. Int.J.Food Sci.Nutr.
- 106. Caldini, G., F. Trotta, and G. Cenci. 2002. Inhibition of 4-nitroquinoline-1-oxide genotoxicity by *Bacillus strains*. Res.Microbiol. **153**:165-171.

Curriculum Vitae

Name	Mélanie Jeanne MERMOD
Address	Indermühleweg 15
	3018 Berne
	Switzerland
Email	mmermod@gmx.ch
Date of birth	October 14, 1978
Nationality	Swiss
Marital status	Single

Education

2007 - 2010	PhD in biochemistry, University of Bern
2000 - 2005	Diploma in microbiology, ETH Zurich
1998 - 2000	Studies in interdisciplinary sciences, ETH Zurich
1991 - 1998	Gymnasium (classical studies with Latin), Dübendorf and Bülach

Research Experience

2007 - 2010	PhD student, Institute of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral Research,
	University of Bern
	Supervisor: Prof. Marc Solioz
	Title of thesis: New components of copper homeostasis in Lactococcus
	lactis and Escherichia coli
2007	Research assistant, Institute of Clinical Pharmacology and Visceral
	Research, University of Bern
2004 - 2005	Research assistant, Institute of Food Science and Nutrition, ETH Zurich
2004	Diploma student, Institute of Food Science and Nutrition, ETH Zurich
	Supervisor: Prof. Martin Loessner
	Title of thesis: Isolation of phages for Clostridium tyrobutyricum - Develop-
	ment of a genomic library for the Clostridium perfringens bacteriophage phi
	s9

Employment History

2006	Internship, National Emergency Operations Centre, Federal Office for Civil
	Protection, Zurich, Switzerland
2005 - 2006	Internship, Admission Office for crop protection products, Federal Office for Agriculture, Berne, Switzerland

Invited Presentations

6th International Copper Meeting, Alghero, Italy, Oct. 10 - 16, 2008 (short talk and poster)

Publications

Mermod, M., Mourlane, F., Waltersperger, S., Oberholzer, A. E., Baumann, U., and Solioz, M. (2010) Structure and function of CinD (YtjD) of *Lactococcus lactis*, a copper-induced nitroreductase involved in defense against oxidative stress, J. Bacteriol. 192 (16), 4172-80

Solioz, M., Abicht, H. K., Mermod, M., and Mancini, S. (2010) Response of Gram-positive bacteria to copper stress. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 15, 3-14.

Solioz, M., Mermod, M., Abicht, H. K., and Mancini, S., (2010) The lactic acid bacteria response to metal stress. In "Stress response of lactic acid bacteria" (Papadimitriou, K., and Tsakalidou, E., eds.) Springer, Heidelberg, in press.

Manuscript in preparation

Stoyanov, J. V., Mermod, M., Magnani, D., and Solioz, M. The copper-inducible YcfQ repressor regulates YcfR expression and affects copper entry into *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem.

Grants received

1 year SNF grant for postdoctoral studies at Kyoto University, group of Professor Toshiharu Shikanai: "Mechanism of copper regulation in the plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*".

Acknowledgements

More than three years of exciting research have already passed, and time to say goodbye and to move on to new challenges has come. I look back on a sometimes exhausting, but also very instructive and interesting time in the Copper Lab and would like to express at this point my gratitude to all the persons who have contributed to make this time a successful and so memorable period of my life.

I am deeply grateful to Prof. Marc Solioz for his guidance and scientific support throughout my thesis. He gave me the academic freedom to pursue my own ideas and was always available for helpful suggestions, regardless if scientific or not.

I would like to thank Prof. Doris Rentsch, my co-referee, for valuable input and helpful discussions on my work and Prof. Hauke Hennecke, who kindly accepted to take Prof. Rentschs place as co-referee at my defense.

Further thanks go to Prof. Ulrich Baumann and Prof. Tosso Leeb from the Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences of the University of Berne for the scientific supervision and their services as mentors.

Last but not least, I would like to thank the members of Lab 1 for the great time we spent together. "The boys", Stefano Mancini and Helge Abicht, always provided me with advice and gave me a helping hand when I needed one. I wouldn't want to miss their discussions and fights about everything under the sun during our lunch breaks. Cristina Molteni listened to my sorrows and complaints and tried to get my mind off work, thank you very much for your mental support! Thomas Weber who was always available to help me with the technical facilities and showed me many a useful trick. A lot of thanks also to Frédéric Mourlane who helped me familiarize with the work at the institute in the first months of my thesis and who wrote so clearly structured and readable lab journals. The best protocols ever!

Finally, I would like to thank my friends, my parents, my sisters and my brother for their emotional support and constant advice during my education and life.

Gone too soon

You took chances Once too many times. As a child you thought -"Oh no, never me." Life is a gift, Given and taken at some Unknown time. Your time came too soon -Your life was over in a flash. The fun you shared, The fun you shared, The joy you brought, All just a memory -Behind us.

Joëlle, 1983 – 2009

Declaration of Originality

Last name, first name: Mermod, Mélanie Jeanne Matriculation number: 98-909-278

I hereby declare that this thesis represents my original work and that I have used no other sources except as noted by citations.

All data, tables, figures and text citations which have been reproduced from any other source, including the internet, have been explicitly acknowledged as such.

I am aware that in case of non-compliance, the Senate is entitled to divest me of the doctorate degree awarded to me on the basis of the present thesis, in accordance with the "Statut der Universität Bern (Universitätsstatut; UniSt)", Art. 20, of 17 December 1997.

Place, date

Signature

.....